

W&M ScholarWorks

Dissertations, Theses, and Masters Projects

Theses, Dissertations, & Master Projects

1996

# The characteristics and degrees of de facto consensus concerning the mission of K-12 public education in Virginia

Christopher Ryan Gareis College of William & Mary - School of Education

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.wm.edu/etd

Part of the Educational Administration and Supervision Commons, Elementary Education Commons, Secondary Education Commons, and the Social and Philosophical Foundations of Education Commons

### **Recommended Citation**

Gareis, Christopher Ryan, "The characteristics and degrees of de facto consensus concerning the mission of K-12 public education in Virginia" (1996). *Dissertations, Theses, and Masters Projects*. Paper 1539618740. https://dx.doi.org/doi:10.25774/w4-8aqw-d177

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses, Dissertations, & Master Projects at W&M ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations, Theses, and Masters Projects by an authorized administrator of W&M ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact scholarworks@wm.edu.

### **INFORMATION TO USERS**

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps. Each original is also photographed in one exposure and is included in reduced form at the back of the book.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. Higher quality  $6^{\circ} \times 9^{\circ}$  black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.



A Bell & Howell Information Company 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor MI 48106-1346 USA 313/761-4700 800/521-0600 • • . .

# THE CHARACTERISTICS AND DEGREES OF DE FACTO CONSENSUS CONCERNING THE MISSION OF K-12 PUBLIC EDUCATION IN VIRGINIA

A Dissertation

Presented to

The Faculty of the School of Education The College of William and Mary in Virginia

> In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Education

> > by Christopher Ryan Gareis May 1996

### **UMI Number: 9623243**

### Copyright 1996 by Gareis, Christopher Ryan

All rights reserved.

UMI Microform 9623243 Copyright 1996, by UMI Company. All rights reserved.

This microform edition is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.

UMI 300 North Zeeb Road Ann Arbor, MI 48103

# THE CHARACTERISTICS AND DEGREES OF DE FACTO CONSENSUS CONCERNING THE MISSION OF K-12 PUBLIC EDUCATION IN VIRGINIA

by

Christopher Ryan Gareis

Approved May 1996 by

Robert J Ph. D. Chair of Doctoral Committee

ames H. Stronge, Ph.

Robert S. Estabrook, Ed. D.

### Table of Contents

.

.

Acknowledgmentsv		
List of Tables vi		
Abstractvii		
Half-Title Pageviii		
Chapter 1: The Problem1		
Background of the Study2		
Purposes of the Study5		
Research Questions		
Significance of the Study		
Chapter 2: Review of Literature		
Strategic Planning in Education14		
Mission Statements in Education15		
Studies of Mission Statements in Education		
Significance of the Previous Studies		
Chapter 3: Methodology		
Operational Definitions		
Target Population		
Assumption		
Data Gathering		
Content Analysis Methodology		
Limitations of the Study		
Ethical Safeguards and Considerations		

.

.. . . .

Chapter 4: Results
Results of the Data Collection55
Categorical Analysis of Mission Statements
Analysis of Emergent Categories58
Analysis of Stakeholders62
Analysis of Student Outcomes65
Analysis of Division Actions68
Analysis of Specific Programs
The Question of Jefferson
Chapter 5: Conclusions
Conclusions
Interpretations and Trends104
Recommendations for Further Study111
References
Appendix A: Sample Letter of Request to School Divisions
Appendix B: Transcribed Mission Statements of Virginia School Divisions121
Appendix C: Categorical Analysis of Mission Statements
Appendix D: Analysis of Stakeholders
Appendix E: Analysis of Student Outcomes
Appendix F: Analysis of Division Actions
Appendix G: Analysis of Specific Programs
Appendix H: Analysis of Emergent Categories
Vita189

### Acknowledgments

This work represents the pulling together of several of the most significant forces in my professional and personal lives, and I am honored to recognize them on this page.

I first want to thank an unruly cohort of professors at The College of William and Mary for their humored, but always dedicated, instruction and guidance during the course of my many years of study. Thank you, Drs. Mark Gulesian, James Stronge, Robert Estabrook, and, especially, Dr. Robert Hanny.

I also want to thank two people who, at a crossroads in my professional life, conspired to inspire me to pursue this degree. One saw the potential in me, and the other brought it out of me. Thank you, Drs. Jack Nagle and Gayden Carruth.

My deepest gratitude is reserved for my first and greatest teachers and my best and most devoted friend. I dedicate this dissertation to my mother and father, Phyllis and Donald Gareis, as a symbol of all of their accomplishments, which shine brightly in their four children. And I dedicate this work to my wife and truest friend, Molly Hofler Gareis, for the unconditional faith in me that she has always shown.

c. r. g.

### List of Tables

Table 1.	Frequencies, Percentages, and <i>X</i> <sup>2</sup> Analysis of Division-level Mission Statements
Table 2.	Categorical Analysis of Division Mission Statements
Table 3.	Frequencies and Percentages of the Emergent Categories
Table 4.	Frequencies, Percentages, and X <sup>2</sup> Analysis of Stakeholder Categories63
Table 5.	Frequencies and Percentages of Student Outcomes
Table 6.	Frequencies and Percentages of Division Actions
Table 7.	Frequencies and Percentages of Specific Programs74
Table 8.	Categorical Analysis of State-level Mission Statement

### THE CHARACTERISTICS AND DEGREES OF DE FACTO CONSENSUS CONCERNING THE MISSION OF K-12 PUBLIC EDUCATION IN VIRGINIA

### Abstract

The history of public education in the United States is replete with attempts to define the purpose, aims, or mission of K-12 public education at the local, state, and national levels. However, given the historical precedent of the local control of schools and the legal precedent of state-level governance of public education, this study sought to address the more limited question of the purpose of K-12 public education in the state of Virginia. Specifically, within the context of the contemporary educational planning theory of strategic planning, this study sought to determine what content characteristics concerning the mission of public education were shared among the school divisions in the state of Virginia. Through content analysis of division-level mission statements, the study identified not only the content but also the degrees at which such content was shared among division-level mission statements. The study further addressed the similarities and differences between the mission statements of school divisions and that of the state itself, a statement written by Thomas Jefferson some two hundred years ago. The findings illuminate the relative presence and absence of de facto consensus concerning the mission of K-12 public education in Virginia.

### CHRISTOPHER RYAN GAREIS SCHOOL OF EDUCATION THE COLLEGE OF WILLIAM AND MARY IN VIRGINIA

vii

# THE CHARACTERISTICS AND DEGREES OF DE FACTO CONSENSUS CONCERNING THE MISSION OF K-12 PUBLIC EDUCATION IN VIRGINIA

#### Chapter 1: The Problem

In 1787, Thomas Jefferson, a native of the Commonwealth of Virginia, penned the words which for more than two centuries have served to introduce the constitution of the most powerful nation on Earth. Jefferson began the Preamble of the Constitution of the United States with three simple words: "We the People." These words subtly and powerfully captured the purpose of the nation's democratic government. And in those words and the words that follow them, Jefferson resolutely stated that the government of the United States would be a government of and for "the People."

More than two hundred years after its writing, the Preamble remains a vital and powerful statement of the <u>purpose</u> of the federal government of the United States. Jefferson's words are emotionally quoted by public officials, solemnly cited by Supreme Court justices, and dutifully memorized by school children. Indeed, Jefferson's words hold a near-sacred place in the American experience, for in a single sentence they define and limit the role of the United States government to six basic ends: to bind the individual states together, to establish justice in the land, to ensure peace in the nation, to defend the nation, to provide for the general welfare of all citizens, and to protect the liberty of all citizens for all time.

The Preamble of the Constitution clearly and concisely states the <u>mission</u> of the government of the United States of America, and that mission does <u>not</u>

We the People...

include a responsibility of the federal government to educate the populace. Instead, the education of the American public is a responsibility that has been taken up by the states, and, through historical practice, this responsibility has largely been financed, managed, and indeed shouldered by local communities (Tyack, 1974). Thus, although Jefferson's Preamble to the Constitution eloquently, clearly, and memorably states the purpose of the United States government, the purpose of the country's educational system has been disparately spread among the fifty states and approximately 16,000 local school divisions (McCarthy & Cambron, 1981). What <u>is</u> the mission of public education?

### Background of the Study

Free government rests, as does all progress, upon the broadest possible diffusion of knowledge, and...the Commonwealth should avail itself of those talents which nature has sown so liberally among its people by assuring the opportunity for their fullest development by an effective system of education throughout the Commonwealth.

> Thomas Jefferson, Article 1, § 15, of the Bill of Rights of the Constitution of Virginia (Virginia Department of Education, 1992, p. 7)

Not found among the six basic responsibilities defined in the Preamble of the United States Constitution is that of providing for the education of the nation's citizens. Indeed, despite Jefferson's own strong belief in the importance of universal and free education for the survival of a democratic nation (Pedan, 1982), education is conspicuous in both the Preamble and the Constitution of the United States federal government only in its absence. Seemingly, however, when one reviews the Constitution of Jefferson's home state of Virginia, the omission is rectified--at least at the level of state government.

In Article 1, § 15, of the Bill of Rights of the Constitution of Virginia, Jefferson resolved that the crucial role of education in the smooth running of a democratic nation required that a system of public education be established in the state (Virginia Department of Education, 1992). Moreover, Jefferson stated why-that is, for what <u>purpose</u>--an educational system should be established. In the simplest terms, a democracy utterly depends upon an educated citizenry. Therefore, in Jefferson's view, the mission, or overall purpose, of public education in the state of Virginia is to ensure the successful functioning of a democratic society (Virginia Department of Education, 1992).

As a testament to the durability of Jefferson's vision of public education in Virginia, the Commonwealth has retained his words as the mission of public education for more than two hundred years. In fact, Virginia's legislature reaffirmed its commitment to Jefferson's words and philosophy in its 1971 rewriting of the Constitution of Virginia by readopting Article I, § 15. The Virginia Department of Education prints Jefferson's Article I,§ 15, of the Bill of Rights of the Constitution of Virginia as the opening and cornerstone law of its official publication <u>Virginia School Laws</u> (1992).

Jefferson's immutable words state the broad purpose of public education in the state of Virginia. As such, in the contemporary jargon of educational planning, Article 1, § 15, of the Constitution of Virginia serves as a kind of <u>mission statement</u> of public education in the Commonwealth. In short and with some liberty taken regarding the ordering of Jefferson's words, the mission of public education in Virginia is to ensure "the broadest possible diffusion of knowledge" among the state's people so that they may enjoy "the opportunity for their fullest development" and so both the state and the nation will enjoy "free government" and "progress." Such is the mission of public education in Virginia as articulated at the state level (Virginia Department of Education, 1992, p. 7).

But what of the mission of public education as articulated at the local level? In Virginia, similar to all of the other states in the Union (except for Hawaii), the actual administration, management, and "supervision" of public education is vested in the school boards and superintendents of the local school divisions (McCarthy & Cambron, 1981; Ravitch, 1983; Swanson & King, 1991; Tyack, 1974; Virginia Department of Education, 1992, p. 16). Indeed, "although education is state controlled in this nation, it is mainly locally administered" (McCarthy & Cambron, 1981, p. 5). Virginia, in fact, presently has 132 local school divisions, and the Virginia Supreme Court has validated the fundamental control of local school divisions over public education. In 1978, the court concluded that the state legislature's "general supervision" of schools did not include the authority to supervise schools. This authority has been reserved for local school divisions (School Board of City of Richmond V. Parham, 1978). Although loosely bound together in a statewide system of public education, these 132 school divisions are largely autonomous organizations empowered by the state to "operate and maintain the public schools in the school division and determine the length of the school term, the studies to be pursued, the methods of teaching and the government to be employed in the schools" (Virginia Department of Education, 1992, p. 73). The purview and power of local school

divisions is indeed broad--even such that local school divisions are charged with setting their own "objectives," or direction, as a part of their regular organizational planning (Virginia Department of Education, 1992, p. 165). Presumably, it is this charge that has also empowered school divisions to articulate in their own manners the very mission of public education in their localities. (See Appendix B.)

Thus, in light of the stated Jeffersonian mission of public education in Virginia and the loosely coupled arrangement of 132 empowered localities which actually operate schools and teach children, several questions arise regarding the articulated mission(s) of public education in Virginia. Most fundamentally, one may ask, is there <u>de facto consensus</u> among the 132 local school divisions regarding the mission of K-12 public education in Virginia? In other words, is there evidence of consensus among Virginia's already-existing mission statements--consensus not necessarily achieved by design but evident nonetheless? If so, on what is there consensus and on what is there apparent disagreement? And, one may further inquire, is there consensus between the division-level statements of mission and the statement penned by Jefferson for the state some two hundred years ago? These fundamental questions drove this study of the characteristics and degrees of de facto consensus concerning the mission of K-12 public education in Virginia.

### Purposes of the Study

The purposes of this study were (1) to determine the characteristics and degrees of de facto consensus among school divisions in Virginia concerning the

purpose of K-12 public education in the state as articulated in division-level mission statements and (2) to determine the characteristics of consensus between division-level mission statements and the mission of K-12 public education as articulated in the Virginia Constitution.

### **Research Questions**

Although driven by the fundamental purposes stated above, the study was designed around the following four research questions:

- 1. Do the mission statements of Virginia school divisions share certain content characteristics?
- 2. To what degrees (i.e., at what frequencies) are such content characteristics shared?
- 3. What content is not shared widely among the mission statements of Virginia school divisions?
- 4. What shared content among division-level mission statements is also shared with Virginia's state-level statement of mission, as articulated in the Virginia Constitution?

### Significance of the Study

I assure you that nothing will be gained by tearing down public education and making the public school classroom the Bosnia of America's competing factions. When a community is divided, the children always suffer. Good common sense should tell us that now is the time for quiet voices to be heard in the search for common ground.

Richard W. Riley, U. S. Secretary of Education (1994)

In an address to the National Press Club in September 1994, U. S. Secretary of Education Richard Riley articulated a practical need for consensus among voices in American public education. In the midst of turbulent restructuring efforts that have gripped public education in America for more than a decade (National Commission on Excellence in Education, 1983), Riley entreated a "search for common ground." His contention was two-fold. First, the problems that confront public education are too big for any one person or single group to tackle; instead, a united effort among public education stakeholders is required. Second, to bring about a united effort, the myriad stakeholders in public education must begin to mend their differences by first identifying the principles upon which they agree. Thus, Riley appealed to the "quiet voices" to find and give voice to the common ground—that is, consensus.

This study of Virginia's public school division mission statements to determine the characteristics and degrees of de facto consensus among them represents a practical effort to find and give voice to the common ground of K-12 public education in the Commonwealth of Virginia. The study was exploratory and descriptive in nature, but its findings illuminate issues regarding the use of strategic planning in education and the changing roles of local, state, and federal agencies in educational governance. As such, the study is of interest and benefit to many stakeholders in public education in localities, in Virginia itself, in other states, and at the national level.

The results of the study may be of particular interest to local school divisions that wish to learn and perhaps work in partnership with other school divisions to provide inter-divisional programs for students and other stakeholders.

The Virginia Department of Education and the state legislature may employ results of the study to serve better the interests and needs of their constituents at the state level by understanding the shared mission of K-12 education across the state, especially with regard to the mission of K-12 public education as articulated at the state level in the Constitution of Virginia. Other states may use the results of the study to inform their own planning efforts, and the U.S. Department of Education may use the study to help serve the educational needs of Virginia and other states through existing or new federal programs. The study also may be of value to national educational organizations such as the National Council of Teachers of English, the National Science Foundation, and the National Education Association, which may use the results to further their efforts to establish national standards of curriculum and instruction (Gleick, 1995). The results of the study also enhance the quantity and quality of research concerning educational mission statements by investigating the practical role that mission statements have taken in educational planning and leadership (Conley, 1993). As such, the results may be of particular interest to theorists and practitioners of educational planning. Finally, the results are certainly of value to teachers, future teachers, and teacher trainers, the three of which directly bear the charge of teaching children. Moreover, since children are the central stakeholders in public education and, therefore, the supposed benefactors of the mission we adults have set for our schools, it is most important that <u>all</u> stakeholders in public education comprehend what the collective words of the state's division-level and Constitutional mission statements of public education say and where, if at all, there is common ground among them.

#### Chapter 2: Review of Literature

For the entire history of the United States, Americans have wrestled with the notion, practice, and purpose of public schooling, and the history of public education is replete with movements, trends, and innovations that have brought our schools and school systems to their present forms. One lens through which to view this history is that of the long series of documented articulations of the purpose of public education.

In the early colonial period of American history, perhaps the first articulation of the purpose of public education came in the form of the "Old Deluder Satan" Act of 1647. This act required townships of certain sizes in Massachusetts to establish schools to teach children reading and writing and, in some cases, Latin. The Puritan colonists were intent upon ensuring that an uneducated lower class similar to that of England did not develop in their colony. They also were intent upon ensuring their children's commitment to religion by enabling them to read the Bible (Ornstein & Hunkins, 1993).

One hundred years later, as the American colonies hesitantly neared nationhood, Benjamin Franklin articulated a proposal for the establishment of an academy in Pennsylvania to educate older youths beyond the primary level. Franklin broke from the historical precedent of education-for-religion and promoted instead a more practical and utilitarian purpose for education. He concluded his proposal with the following:

> The idea of what is true merit should also be often presented to youth, explained and impressed on their minds, as consisting in an inclination

joined with an ability to serve mankind, one's country, friends and family; which ability is (with the blessing of God) to be acquired or greatly increased by true learning; and should indeed be the great aim and end of all learning.

(in Willis, Schubert, Bullough, Kridel, & Holton, 1994, p. 23)

Nearly thirty years after Franklin's proposal, the American colonies became the United States, and nearly one hundred years of a period of nationalism defined the evolution of public education. According to Ornstein and Hunkins (1993), "A new mission for education which began to emerge during the Revolutionary period, continued through the national period. Many leaders began to link free public schooling with the ideas of popular government and political freedom" (p. 71). Notably, it was during this period that Thomas Jefferson articulated the purpose of public education in his home state of Virginia, and the trend in education away from religious purposes and towards promoting an educated citizenry for the good of the nation was widely articulated and pursued.

The spirit of nationalism continued well into the 1800s, and early public education proponents such as Henry Barnard and Horace Mann crusaded for the establishment of public education systems. Barnard, the first U. S. Commissioner of Education, wrestled with and articulated his conception of the modern common school in a series of annual reports in the 1830s and 40s. Horace Mann, a Massachusetts senator, rose to national prominence as a spokesman of the common school movement. Through writings and speeches, Mann articulated a position that public education should serve to provide for the intellectual, moral, and civic development of all citizens (Willis, et al., 1994). Many other figures played prominent roles in the discourse over the purpose of public education in the United States, but a long series of reports by national commissions serves to illustrate the various articulations of the evolving purpose of public education.

The late 1800s witnessed a concerted effort to articulate the aims of public education on a national level. Between 1893 and 1895, three committees were established by the National Education Association (NEA) to attempt to bring about some consensus of opinion in the veritable sea of emerging educational theories of the late 19th century. The work of the Committee of Fifteen, the Committee of Ten, and the Committee on College Entrance Requirements articulated a sequenced conceptualization of education from primary school through college. Many of the components of these proposals survive today (one hundred years later), including the compartmentalization of subject matter, the college prepatory curriculum, and the credit-bearing courses model for measuring academic preparation (Ornstein & Hunkins, 1993; Willis, et al., 1994).

The early 1900s brought a new perspective to the debate, however, when the Progressive movement advocated a more child-centered focus for the purpose of public education. In 1918, the NEA responded with another commission which articulated the <u>Cardinal Principles of Secondary Education</u>. This document indicated an expanding mission of public education, one which moved beyond academic subjects and good citizenship to a recognition of education's role in promoting the physical, mental, and emotional development of children (Willis, et al., 1994).

Later in the 1900s, following the Great Depression, the NEA issued yet another report which addressed the purpose of public education quite clearly. Titled <u>The Purpose of Education in an American Democracy</u>, it stressed the purpose of public education as promoting a range of intellectual, social, economic and civic aims. Included among these were such notably non-academic objectives as developing recreational interests, learning friendship, practicing courtesy, and many others (Ornstein & Hunkins, 1993). The mission of public education was expanding well-beyond the subject-centered focus of the 1800s.

World War II and the Cold War era brought about a backlash to the movements of the early 1900s. Following the launch of Sputnik in 1959, the NEA issued a report that echoed the nation's concerns about a loss of excellence in American public education. One result was a realigning of the purpose of public education with more conservative aims such as academic achievement and the protection of national interests (Conant, 1959; Ornstein & Hunkins, 1993).

In the three-and-a-half decades since the launch of Sputnik, public education has continued to be buffeted by storms of realignment, revision, revolution, and reform (Cuban, 1984; Nasaw, 1981; Ravitch, 1983; Tyack, 1974). Arguably, one of the most influential national articulations regarding the mission of public education was from the Commission on Excellence in Education which, in 1983, concluded that a widespread failure of public education had put the nation itself at risk (National Commission on Excellence, 1983). This report knelled a new era of introspection and reform among educators, law-makers, and citizens alike regarding the mission of public education in the United States. One significant response five years following the Commission's report was an

articulation of six national education goals by President Bush and the governors of the 50 states. Dubbed "Goals 2000," the national education goals constituted a concerted attempt to define the broad purposes of education for the nation and to pull America's public schools from what the Commission and a growing segment of the population viewed as the brink of utter failure (U. S. Department of Education, 1991).

The call of the Commission on Excellence in Education struck not only a cord at the national level, but it also has reverberated for more than a decade throughout the fifty states to the roughly 16,000 local school divisions that constitute the American system of public education. The result has been some thirteen years of contemporary school reforms. For example, Goals 2000 was the impetus for the development of national standards by various educational organizations, including the National Council of Teachers of English, the National Council of Teachers of Math, the National Science Foundation, and others. In response, however, others have argued against national standards and for locally devised standards of achievement (Eisner, 1993; O'Neil, 1995). As another example of the tumultuousness of school reform in recent years, the 1980s have been characterized as a decade of "state-led education reform" (O'Neil, 1993, p. 8) in which legislatures throughout the nation enacted piecemeal mandates in the name of "systemic reform." By way of contrast, Alexander (1993) characterized the 80s as "as decade of reform [in which the] emphasis has shifted from fixing schools to breaking the mold" (p. 9).

Such examples serve to illustrate that for more than a decade, educational planning has been consumed by attempts at comprehensive reform, with uncertain

results. Throughout, however, the question of the purpose of public education has remained central to the debate. Thus, motivated in part by the past decade-and-ahalf of conflicts and conflagrations that have shaped public education, school divisions have dusted off their old statements of educational philosophy and other articulations of their institution's purpose and have had to ask themselves the most fundamental of questions in educational planning--the same question that communities, committees, and individuals have tried to set forth answers to for over two hundred years: What is our purpose?

### Strategic Planning in Education

In response to the lenses of criticism and doubt through which public education has been viewed for the past decade, a plethora of educational reforms have been initiated among America's public schools. One area of interest that has grown amid the various restructuring initiatives is the adaptation of several promising theories of business management in the public school setting. Total Quality Management (TQM), site-based management, and various school choice plans are all examples of contemporary theories of business management that have been adopted by school administrators in hopes of making public schools more efficient and more effective (Gleick, 1995). Also included in this embrace of contemporary business management theory is strategic planning. According to Raze (1986), the widespread use of strategic planning in public education arose in the early 1980s in response to calls for school reform. Simultaneously, the hallmark of strategic planning--the <u>mission statement</u>--emerged as a prevalent vehicle for articulating the purpose of an educational organization.

As a theory, strategic planning posits that an organization--whether a private corporation or a public school division--can survive in today's rapidly changing world only if it has a clear vision of its purpose. With the public temperament increasingly unhappy with the nation's educational systems and the advent of threats to funding for public education coming from advocates of voucher systems, charter schools, and privatization, the literal survival of public education is a very real concern (Gleick, 1995). Often, the reason an organization fails is because it loses sight of what its true purpose--its true <u>mission</u>--is. Without a clear understanding of who its clients are and what products or services it is trying to deliver to them, an organization becomes misdirected, inefficient, ineffective, and, eventually, a failure. These are threats to public education. Thus, the strategic planning process--whether in a corporate or an educational organization--begins by requiring an organization to define its very reason for existing in a <u>mission statement</u> (Cook, 1990; McCune, 1986; National Association of Secondary School Principals [NASSP], 1987).

### Mission Statements in Education

From grocery store chains to major international corporations to local public schools, the presence of a mission statement is clear evidence of long-range, strategic planning. And in more than two decades of systems-based educational planning, the role and definition of mission statements have remained staunchly consistent. In 1972, for instance, Kaufman wrote, "A mission is an overall job--a product, a completed service, or a change in the condition of something or somebody--that must be accomplished" (p. 53). And neither

Kaufman nor other educational planners have strayed far from this definition, as the following chronological list of examples shows:

The mission statement describes the reason the school district exists (Lewis, 1983, p. 55).

An organization's mission projects an image of what the organization is going to do; it may include how and where it will be done. The mission should have a sense of direction, suggest activities or programs, and provide motivation (McCune, 1986, p. 58).

An organization's mission statement...establishes what the organization plans to do, and for whom, plus the major philosophical premises under which it will operate (Below, Morrisey, & Acomb, 1987).

A mission is the shared vision of people in an organization about what their ultimate purpose really is (NASSP, 1987, p. 9).

A mission statement is an overall job--an outcome, output, or product; a completed service; or a change in the condition of something or somebody--that must be accomplished (Kaufman, 1988, p. 92).

[A mission is] a statement that expresses the dominant values and feelings about what the school system should be about or what in a broad and general way it should be trying to accomplish and what it should stand for (Mauriel, 1989, pp. 4-5).

The mission statement should be a declaration of the special purposes of an institution and whom it intends to serve (Newsom & Hayes, 1990-91, p. 28).

A mission statement provides a simple direction without specific criteria for measuring our success (Kaufman & Zahn, 1993, p. 73).

A mission statement is a clearly articulated expression of an organization's purpose or reason for existing. As such, it is intended to serve not only the organization, but also its personnel and its clients. By defining an organization's basic purpose, a mission statement serves to characterize that organization in terms of what it is trying to accomplish.

This focus on an organization's expected accomplishments, or the outcomes of its work, helps that organization to avoid unnecessary duplications, frustrated employees, poorly utilized resources, and wasted time and money (Lewis, 1983). Moreover, a clearly stated purpose can also serve to clarify short-and long-term objectives (Herman, 1989), identify strengths and weaknesses in the organization (Lewis, 1983), and determine budget priorities (Kotler & Fox, 1985). Indeed, defining the mission is critically important because it affects everything else--direction, planning, implementation, and the very success of an organization (Kotler & Murphy, 1981; NASSP, 1987).

It should be noted, however, that although the concept of a "mission statement" is relatively new to educational planning, the practice of articulating an educational organization's purpose has been around virtually since public education was established. In fact, most school boards have in their archives several drafts of philosophy statements or charters that describe the purpose of their school divisions dating back several years, if not decades. (As described previously, a statement which posits the purpose of public education in Virginia dates back to Thomas Jefferson--two centuries ago!) Nevertheless, the adoption of strategic planning during the past few decades has caused many school divisions to dust off older documents and reconsider the changing role of public education as the new millennium approaches. One result is a profusion of newly created mission statements, which constitute streamlined statements of purpose for individual schools and school divisions.

These new mission statements have potentially taken many forms, ranging from a single phrase or slogan to one or more pages of explicitly stated doctrine (Below et al., 1987; Lewis, 1987; McQuade & Champagne, 1995; Palmer, 1992). Undoubtedly, though, most mission statements favor the former--being "usually short and easily remembered,...not long, detailed outlines of goals and objectives" (NASSP, 1987, p. 9). No matter what the form, however, a mission statement sets the broad, overall direction of an educational organization, and, as such, it is the highest level of articulated policy of an organization from which all other functions should derive (Cook, 1990; Kaufman, 1972; Kaufman & Zahn, 1993; McCune, 1986; McQuade & Champagne, 1995; NASSP, 1987; et al.).

### Studies of Mission Statements in Education

As described above, mission statements have a theoretically-established role in educational planning. But what is known of the practical use of mission statements in the field? A review of ERIC documents and educational journals indicates that mission statements--usually as a cornerstone of strategic planning-have inundated educational planning in the field (Conley, 1992). Published reviews, presentations, and reports of actual long-range and strategic plans from K-12 schools and school divisions and from institutions of higher education characteristically devote considerable narrative to the development and use of mission statements. Therefore, mission statements are present in educational institutions, and educational administrators are developing and using them for purposes of planning for and operating their institutions (Lundquist & Rice, 1991; Newsom & Hayes, 1990-91; Rusch, 1992; Sizer, 1992; Stott & Walker, 1992; et al.).

But are these mission statements developed and used as theory dictates, and--perhaps more important--what do these mission statements tell us about the purposes of our educational institutions? Far fewer studies address such questions. Indeed, studies devoted solely to--or even directly concerned with--the role or application of mission statements in educational planning are exceedingly rare. A review of research found only four such studies, and only two of the four were concerned with mission statements of K-12 educational institutions (Conley, 1993; Rusch, 1992). The other two focused on institutions of higher education (Lundquist & Rice, 1991; Newsom & Hayes, 1990-91).

The rarity of studies of mission statements in education suggests that although mission statements are a critical component of educational planning in theory, we have very little confirmed understanding of their use in practice. Therefore, the study of mission statements in educational planning has been exploratory in nature. According to Borg and Gall (1989), exploratory studies "tend not to be guided by hypotheses, because the researcher does not have sufficient understanding of the phenomena to form conjectures about relationships between constructs....Exploratory research tends to study many variables and their relationships in order to further understanding of the phenomena" (p. 32). Studies by Newsom and Hayes (1990-91), Lundquist and Rice (1991), Rusch (1992), and Conley (1993) qualify as exploratory studies according to Borg and Gall's definition, for these studies shed an initial light on the application of mission statements in the field of educational planning.

### A Study of the "Worthwhileness" of Mission Statements in Higher Education

In 1990-91, Newsom and Hayes looked at the "worthwhileness" of mission statements in colleges and universities. Their study grew out of a concern that mission statements in higher education institutions "seemed to represent a compromise designed to offend no one and at best to limit a few options" (p. 28). By way of addressing this concern, they designed a study to determine if mission statements in colleges and universities truly served any purpose or if, as Phelan (1991) described, "Rather than providing a pragmatic guide for the future, mission statements simply adorn college catalogs and presidential offices" (p. 3).

Using a systematic sampling technique, Newsom and Hayes surveyed the presidents of 142 colleges and universities in 11 southeastern states. Of the institutions sampled, 90 were public institutions, 21 private, and 31 sectarian. After an initial letter and a follow-up letter two months later, 114 institutions (80 percent) replied to the questionnaire and request for a copy of the institution's mission statement. Of the institutions that responded, only 93 (65 percent) returned a mission statement. It is unclear why 15 percent of responding institutions did not return a mission statement--whether for lack of a mission statement, inaccessibility of the mission statement to the individual responding on behalf of the institution, or any other reason. Further follow up would have helped to clarify this.

Despite that particular concern, Newsom and Hayes' study provides an example of an effective method by which to study mission statements in educational settings. They adapted a framework originally developed by Pearce and David (cited in Newsom & Hayes, 1990-91) as an instrument for measuring the "worthwhileness" of the mission statements of Fortune 500 companies. The instrument was comprised of seven dimensions as adapted by Newsom and Hayes for the study of colleges and universities:

- 1. <u>Target clienteles</u>—the constituencies that a college or university wants to have.
- 2. <u>Products</u>--the outputs beyond general teaching, research, and service that a college or university intends.
- 3. <u>Geography</u>-the specific location that a college or university serves.
- 4. <u>Commitment</u>--elements of the mission that will be emphasized to ensure the survival or growth of a college or university.
- 5. <u>Philosophy</u>-a college's or university's specific beliefs, values, and philosophical priorities.
- 6. <u>Self definition</u>--how a college or university views itself.
- 7. <u>Public image</u>--the reputation that a college or university has among the public.

(adapted from Newsom & Hayes, 1990-91)

From a survey of the sample, Newsom and Hayes found that 98 percent of the responding institutions of higher education have a mission statement (although only 65 percent actually submitted a copy of their mission statement to the researchers). Furthermore, using Pearce and David's seven dimensions of a worthwhile mission statement, Newsom and Hayes drew three conclusions about mission statements in higher education: (1) Compared to private and sectarian institutions, public institutions are stronger in identifying the geographic area that they serve. (2) Private and sectarian institutions tend to fare better than public institutions across all other dimensions, with particular strengths in presenting a certain public image and in identifying a specific philosophy. (3) Regardless of the relative strengths of public, private, and sectarian colleges and universities, mission statements in higher education are, in general, "a waste of time" (p. 30).

Newsom and Hayes drew this final, damning conclusion by using the framework of seven dimensions of a worthwhile mission statement and finding that most of the mission statements that they analyzed were too broad and too generic because they lacked any clear conformity to the seven dimensions of their framework. Indeed, they found that "although the [mission] statement itself is regarded [by institutions] as essential, its content seems utterly unimportant" (p. 29). According to Newsom and Hayes, therefore, mission statements in higher education are not, in their present form, "worthwhile" or useful to the institutions that they were created to serve because the statements do not conform to the seven dimensions of a mission statement identified for organizations by Pearce and David.

#### A Study of the Mission Statements of Women's Studies Programs

A second study of mission statements also comes from the field of research in higher education. In 1991, Lundquist and Rice looked at the mission statements of women's colleges and coeducational colleges with women's studies programs. Their purpose was to determine whether there were significant similarities or differences between single-sex and coeducational colleges in the content of their mission statements. Lundquist and Rice chose to study mission statements because, "The mission statement in a college catalog represents an embodiment of the institution's central goals and objectives" (pp. 10-11).

To conduct the study, Lundquist and Rice used the Women's College Coalition and the 1989 Women's Studies Program Directory to create a list of women's colleges and coeducational colleges offering baccalaureates or advanced degrees in women's studies. Since only 26 of the 76 women's colleges had women's studies programs, a comparison random sample of 26 coeducational institutions with women's studies programs and another comparison random sample of 26 women's colleges <u>without</u> women's studies programs were drawn. These samples were pared down to 23, 21, and 23, respectively, based on the presence of each institution's catalog in the University Microfiche Catalog Library.

Although the focus of the study was mission statements, Lundquist and Rice acknowledged that the term "mission statement" had to be interpreted broadly to mean any public statement of "mission, purpose, philosophy, goal, or objective" (p. 12). This was necessary because of a lack of consistency among institutions regarding the nomenclature of educational planning. Nevertheless, such statements which qualified, according to the researchers, as "mission statements" were obtained for 17 women's colleges and 13 coeducational colleges.

Similar to Newsom and Hayes (1990-91), Lundquist and Rice also employed content analysis as their method for studying mission statements. This was done in two ways. First, a simple frequency count of action verbs was taken; second, the educational outcomes professed by each institution to be offered to students were listed and counted. The statements were reviewed by the researchers blindly (i.e., without knowledge of the institutions from which they came).

Lundquist and Rice reported their results in frequency count tables which compared the three types of institutions in the study. For example, they found that "provide" and "commit" were two verbs used most often by all three types of colleges, but that "develop" (a word, according to Lundquist and Rice, that suggests more involvement with students by the institution) was used 25 percent less by coeducational colleges. Regarding the qualities or benefits offered to students by the institution's mission statement, "critical thinking" was most frequent among both coeducational (38,1 percent) and women's colleges with women's studies programs (43.5 percent). Among women's colleges without women's studies programs, "values clarification" was most frequently referred to in mission statements (52.2 percent). In addition to these findings, Lundquist and Rice included percentages for all of the descriptive action verbs and the qualities or benefits present in the mission statements that were analyzed.

From their content analysis of mission statements, Lundquist and Rice drew several conclusions. They concluded that the mission statements of women's colleges were more action-oriented than those of coeducational colleges. They concluded that women's colleges with women's studies programs and coeducational colleges were more focused on academic and cognitive development of students than women's colleges without women's studies programs. They also concluded that all three types of colleges ultimately

emphasized the holistic development of students (i.e., personal, social, and intellectual development). Finally, though, Lundquist and Rice concluded that "the mission statements of women's colleges are qualitatively different from those of coed institutions with women's studies programs" (p. 16). Notably, the use of content analysis enabled Lundquist and Rice to determine the qualitative characteristics of the mission statements and to determine degrees of similarities and differences among them.

# A Foucaultian Analysis of K-12 Division-level Mission Statements

A third study shed light on the use of mission statements in K-12 educational planning, although the analysis of mission statements was a subtopic of the larger study. In 1992, Rusch conducted a study in which she used the theories of French historian, philosopher, and literary critic Michel Foucault to deconstruct the language of strategic plans of American public school divisions. Her purpose was to look at "strategic planning as a discursive practice: a process of communication that restructures what we 'know' about schools and schooling" (p. 3).

According to Rusch, Foucault was concerned with how people dominate and subjugate each other and themselves, and his central thesis held that "people may know why they do what they do, but they don't always pay attention to what, what they do does" (p. 9). Rusch studied division-level strategic plans to attempt to illuminate the unknown intentions and effects of strategic plans--what she termed "visible inconsistencies" in strategic plans. These inconsistencies, Rusch argued, are contained in the language of strategic plans, which are "textual representations" that have the power to create "a new kind of reality for teachers and students" (p. 10). As such, strategic plans and the mission statements that guide them represent very real and very powerful means of wielding power in public education.

To collect the strategic plans of school divisions for her study, Rusch employed a network or "snowball" sampling method (Bogdan & Biklen, 1992). Plans were solicited using a mailing list of participating K-12 school divisions in an American Association of School Administrator's training session on strategic planning facilitated by Bill Cook. An initial mailing to 200 participants resulted in 57 responses. A second request was sent to state-level school administrators in all 50 states. This request for referrals to divisions using strategic planning and a subsequent request of the referred school divisions garnered 60 additional strategic plans. Of the 117 strategic plans collected, Rusch studied &8 divisionlevel plans from 32 states. She did not include in her study plans from individual schools, regional agencies, or professional groups. Her sample of 32 states represented all geographic areas of the United States. A survey and questionnaire were also collected from 87 of the 88 school divisions. Each strategic plan included belief statements, a mission statement, and some form of objectives and strategies.

Similar to Newsom and Hayes (1990-91) and Lundquist and Rice (1991), Rusch employed content analysis as her methodology for studying the mission statements of the 88 school divisions in her study. (Note that although Rusch studied the mission statements, belief statements, objectives, and strategies of the strategic plans, the present review of Rusch's study focuses solely on her analysis of mission statements.) Rusch used the first 57 mission statements to identify emergent categories, which she identified as <u>values</u>, <u>social traditions</u>, and <u>schooling</u>. (Emergent categories are groupings or core themes that are identified through an analysis of language data, but which are not identifiable prior to that analysis.) The category "values" included such concepts as individual rights, selfesteem, quality education, and lifelong learning; "social traditions" included excellence, democracy, citizenship, community, careers, and the global society; and "schooling" included concepts of curriculum, instruction, students, and teaching. These categories were then used to analyze all 88 mission statements. For purposes of comparison, simple frequency percentages were presented.

From her content analysis, Rusch concluded that there was an imbalance toward values and social traditions in the mission statements. She found 39.2 percent and 43.9 percent, respectively, of all mission statements included language related to values and social traditions; however, only 16.7 percent contained references to concepts represented by Rusch's schooling category. In light of Foucault's theory of the human use of discursive power, Rusch concluded that the typical division-level mission statement represents an attempt at "reconciling and harmonizing personal and political conflicts more than it is an activity for improving the schooling of children" (p. 17).

As described previously, Rusch also studied the content of the belief statements, objectives, and strategies of strategic plans using content analysis; however, her methods, data, and conclusions regarding mission statements are most relevant to the present study. Specifically, Rusch's study further validates (along with Newsom and Hayes [1990-91] and Lundquist and Rice[1992]) the use of content analysis as a method for studying mission statements. Her study also suggests that there is evidence of de facto consensus among school divisions regarding the purpose of public education. This idea is further supported by a second study of K-12 strategic plans, which also looked at the content of divisionlevel mission statements.

## An Exploratory Study of K-12 Division-level Mission Statements

In 1993, Conley presented an exploratory study whose purpose was to provide "insight into the application of strategic planning in American school districts" (p. 2). Such insight would "facilitate better understanding of [strategic planning's] use...and provide a platform upon which further research on strategic planning in education may be conducted" (p.2). Similar to Rusch, Conley studied not only the mission statements of strategic plans, but also the belief statements, parameters, objectives, and strategies. Again, however, this review of the study focuses only on Conley's analysis of the mission statements of public school divisions.

Conley, like Rusch, used a network sampling method to collect strategic plans for his study. He obtained a list of more than 400 individuals who had participated in strategic planning workshops conducted by the American Association of School Administrators and sent to them a request for a copy of their school division's strategic plan. He also contacted state departments of education in all 50 states for referrals to divisions that used strategic planning, and requests were also sent to those school divisions. Conley collected 120 strategic plans, of which 79 were selected for analysis based on their compatibility with paradigms of strategic planning established by Conley from a review of strategic planning theory.

The mission statements (as well as the other components of the plans) were studied using content analysis and quantitative analysis. According to Conley, "The intent was to discover basic patterns that existed within and between plan sections" (p. 9). Individual sections of the plans, such as the mission statements, were analyzed with the intent of determining specific, core themes. Quantitative analysis, in the form of simple frequency counts, was used to identify and compare trends among these core themes. Conley's research methodology was undertaken in the spirit of developing grounded theory, which is theory "developed from the data" (Borg & Gall, 1989, p. 389). His use of content analysis and the development of grounded theory are consistent with the exploratory nature of his study.

Similar to Rusch, Conley found a number of emergent themes in the mission statements of public school divisions; however, whereas Rusch identified three broad themes, Conley identified 20 distinct themes. The themes included the following, which are listed in order of frequency from most frequent to least frequent:

continued on next page

- 1. responsible citizen
- 2. changing world
- 3. partnership
- 4. equity
- 5. lifelong learner
- 6. cultural diversity
- 7. global society
- 8. develop potential fully
- 9. excellence
- 10. self-sufficient

- 11. caring environment
- 12. positive self-esteem
- 13. comprehensive
- 14. character development
- 15. learning styles
- 16. higher-order thinking
- 17. competence
- 18. higher education prep.
- 19. employment training
- 20. literacy.

From the analysis that identified the 20 themes shared among 79 divisionlevel mission statements, Conley posited three conclusions regarding mission statements. First, Conley asserted that there is a striking similarity of content among mission statements. Strong, recurring themes include responsible citizenship, the changing world, partnership, equity, and lifelong learning. Second, Conley found that the statements he studied "do not seem to be limiting or reducing the educational mission of the school district" (p. 25). In fact, the mission of public school divisions seems to be expanding. Third, Conley reasoned that although public education is in the midst of a trend toward decentralization, there seems to be little evidence of this at the level of division mission statements. Rather, Conley suggested the strong similarity in the content of mission statements among school divisions is evidence of a trend toward

#### Significance of the Previous Studies

The studies by Newsom and Hayes (1990-91), Lundquist and Rice (1992), Rusch (1992), and Conley (1993) provide several cornerstones to support the further research of mission statements in educational planning and administration. First and perhaps most important, each demonstrates that the study of mission statements is important because mission statements, as Rusch (1992) wrote, "carry explicit and implicit powers that can affect the actions of all school district participants" (p. 17). In other words, mission statements represent a valid and significant topic of educational research because mission statements can affect the stakeholders in educational organizations, as well as the purposes that educational organizations attempt to achieve for their stakeholders.

Second, the four studies also validate a methodology for conducting such research. Specifically, content analysis--which was used in each of the four studies--provides a means of studying, identifying, and categorizing core themes that emerge from a comparison of written mission statements. Although considered a qualitative methodology, content analysis is typically used in conjunction with quantitative analysis in the form frequency counts, thereby illuminating trends among the emergent categories and core themes that the qualitative analysis threshes out (Borg & Gall, 1989). Such was the methodology of these studies, and, given the relative novelty of the study of mission statements in education, the further use and development of content analysis methodology in this area of research is warranted.

Finally, as Conley (1993) suggested in his exploratory study, there is some evidence of de facto consensus among school divisions concerning the mission of

K-12 public education. As described previously in the introduction to the present study, school divisions in the United States represent (in theory, if not in practice) literally thousands of distinct centers of power in public education. However, despite the long history and the continuing prevalence of local control in public education, school divisions may in fact be more similar in their purposes among each other than one may initially expect. In other words, this belief in the autonomy of local school divisions may be more myth than fact. The search for further evidence of the existence of de facto consensus among school divisions is therefore the major objective of the present study.

#### Chapter 3: Methodology

In the present study of de facto consensus among the mission statements of Virginia's public school divisions, four research questions drove the study:

- 1. Do the mission statements of Virginia school divisions share certain content characteristics?
- 2. To what degrees (i.e., at what frequencies) are such content characteristics shared?
- 3. What content is not shared widely among the mission statements of Virginia school divisions?
- 4. What shared content among division-level mission statements is also shared with Virginia's state-level statement of mission, as articulated in the Virginia Constitution?

#### **Operational Definitions**

To facilitate the study of division-level mission statements, certain terms were operationally defined.

<u>Mission statement</u>: A clearly and concisely articulated expression of a school division's overall purpose, which may include references to stakeholders, desired outcomes, means of achieving desired ends, specific programs, degrees of quality, and other foci deemed essential to the school division's overall purpose. (Note: Lengthy statements of educational philosophy, lists of belief statements, or sets of organizational goals do not, by this definition, constitute mission statements. This was a change

from the original proposal for this study, and the rationale for this change is discussed later in this chapter.)

<u>Content analysis</u>: A research methodology for systematically analyzing and drawing inferences from the content of communication (in this study, mission statements).

<u>De facto consensus</u>: Unintentional, but nevertheless observable, agreement among the content of the mission statements of Virginia's public school divisions.

## **Target Population**

The population of this study was the entire membership of the Virginia public school system. As such, each of the school divisions in Virginia represented a distinct member of that population, and, together, these school divisions constituted the total target population of the study. Given that all of the members of the target population were both identifiable and accessible to the researcher, a sample population was not necessary. Instead, all school divisions in the population itself were studied.

## **Assumption**

In order to conduct this study, one major assumption was made. It was assumed that all school divisions in Virginia have a mission statement or some other short, written statement of the division's purpose. The assumption seemed reasonable since Virginia school divisions are legally required "to revise, extend, and adopt biennially a divisionwide six-year improvement plan" (VDOE, 1992, p. 165). Mission statements, or other statements of the purpose of an organization, are cornerstones of such long-range, educational plans (Oliva, 1993; Ornstein & Hunkins, 1993). Thus, it was assumed that public school divisions in Virginia would have and would provide copies of their mission statements.

## Data Gathering

The objective of the data gathering method was to obtain a copy of the mission statement of each public school division in Virginia. The <u>Virginia</u> <u>Educational Directory</u> (published annually by the Virginia Department of Education) and a mid-year supplement to it were used to identify the 132 school divisions that constitute the state's K-12 public education system. The primary means of data collection was a personalized letter to the superintendent of each school division in Virginia. The letter introduced the researcher and also described his affiliation with The College of William and Mary, the topic of research, and the reasons for interest in this topic. The letter also included a request for a copy of the division's mission statement and an offer to share the results directly with the respondent's school division upon completion of the study. A self-addressed, stamped envelope was included in the letter for the respondent to return a copy of his or her division's mission statement. The letter also indicated a time within which to respond. (See Appendix A.)

In the event of non-respondents, a follow-up phone call was made. The researcher introduced himself and explained his affiliation with The College of William and Mary. Then the researcher explained the nature of the study, referred to his original attempt to obtain the division's mission statement, and requested a copy of the statement, if available. The follow-up telephone calls resulted either in learning that a school division did not have a mission statement or in having a mission statement faxed or mailed by the school division to the researcher. Given that mission statements are public documents and relatively short in length by definition, the target population of all 132 school divisions in Virginia was represented in the study. In short, the data collection methods resulted in a one hundred percent response rate. Of the 132 school divisions in Virginia, all of them indicated that they had some statement of "mission, purpose, philosophy, goal, or objective" as referred to by Lundquist and Rice (1991, p. 12). Of those, 89 indicated that they had an actual <u>mission statement</u> (as defined by this study) and provided a copy of the statement for the study. Thus, 67 percent of the school divisions in Virginia have a mission statement, and these statements comprised the artifacts for the study.

## Content Analysis Methodology

Given the precedent set by the studies of educational mission statements cited previously, the methodology for the present study of the mission statements of Virginia's public school divisions was <u>content analysis</u>. Content analysis is, in short, a research methodology for systematically analyzing the content of communication (Borg & Gall, 1989). It is, therefore, an appropriate means of studying and comparing the content of the mission statements of Virginia's public school divisions and, by design, analyzing the presence of de facto consensus regarding the purpose of public education in the state.

Although only four studies of mission statements in education have preceded the present study, the methodology of content analysis has an established basis in the social sciences that stretches back some one hundred years (Cohen & Manion, 1994). Content analysis has been used to study a wide array of topics in the social sciences, including propaganda, historical texts, human psychology, mass communications, political bias, racial prejudice, racial discourse, violence on television, and characteristics of speech according to gender (Cohen & Manion, 1994; Krippendorf, 1980; Weber, 1990).

Despite the broad spectrum of topics that they cover, these content analysis studies also share two certain and defining characteristics. First, documentable communication (whether written, oral, or even visual) is the artifact of analysis in such studies (Fraenkel & Wallen, 1993). Content analysis recognizes that "communication is a central aspect of social interaction" (Weber, 1990, p. 10); therefore, content analysis studies are concerned directly with the "text or transcripts of human communications" (Weber, 1990, p. 10). Given the focus of content analysis on communication, the second characteristic of content analysis studies is that inferences can be made "about the sender(s) of the message, the message itself, or the audience of the message" (Weber, 1990, p. 9). Thus, two fundamental characteristics of content analysis are (1) the study of communication documents and (2) the drawing of inferences from them.

More specifically in the previous four studies of mission statements in education, content analysis is the research vehicle by which mission statements were used to draw inferences about the value of educational mission statements themselves (Newsom & Hayes, 1990-91), the explicit organizational intents of

educational institutions (Lundquist & Rice, 1991), the unintentionally expressed organizational intents of educational institutions (Rusch, 1992), and the individual focus and possible patterns of de facto consensus among autonomous educational organizations (Conley, 1992). In each of these studies, mission statements were the artifacts of study, and inferences were made about the statements themselves and about the organizations that produced the statements. Content analysis is indeed a "multipurpose research method developed specifically for investigating a broad spectrum of problems in which the content of communication serves as a basis of inference" (Cohen & Manion, 1994, p. 55). It is, furthermore, a means of producing descriptive information, cross-validating research, testing hypotheses, and discovering meaning through an analysis of language used by a person, a group, or an organization (Bogdan & Biklen, 1992; Borg & Gall, 1989). Therefore, the design of the present study also was guided by the established methodology of content analysis.

Upon receiving the existing mission statements of Virginia's school divisions, the methodology of content analysis was employed. The methodology was adopted from Weber (1990), who defined distinct steps for a content analysis study. For the present study, however, Weber's steps were further informed by the Krippendorf (1980) and to lesser degree by Borg and Gall (1989), Cohen and Manion (1994), Crowl (1993), and Fraenkel and Wallen (1993). Weber asserted that the practice of developing a relatively unique methodology for each content analysis is sound, for "there is no simple <u>right way</u> to do content analysis. Instead, investigators must judge what methods are most appropriate for their substantive problems" (Weber, 1990, p. 13). The following describes the steps

taken in the implementation of the present study of the characteristics and degrees of de facto consensus among division-level mission statements in Virginia.

According to Weber (1990), a content analysis study must rest upon a grounded foundation consisting of (1) research questions, (2) relevant theories, (3) previous studies, and (5) identified documents or texts to be analyzed. In the present study, the four research questions described previously drove the study, while a review (See Chapter 2.) of theoretical and research-based literature provided a foundation for these questions. Of course, the documents to be analyzed were identified as division-level mission statements. Thus, the first four steps of a content analysis as outlined by Weber were met in the present study. A discussion of five additional, sequential steps of the content analysis for the previously and in the following) is presented herein. The seven steps were (1) the determination of coding units, (2) the definition of screening categories, (3) determination of the roles of emergent categories, (4) test coding, and (5) computing frequencies. Two additional considerations also discussed below are (1) ensuring reliability and (2) ensuring validity.

#### **Determination of Coding Unit**

Following the identification of the texts to be analyzed, the researcher must determine the specific units of analysis that will be employed in a content analysis study. Weber (1990) described this step with the following: "A central idea in content analysis is that the many words of the text are classified into much fewer content categories" (p. 12). Krippendorf (1980) referred to this step as

<u>unitizing</u>, while Cohen and Manion (1994) described it as the process of determining "units of analysis" (p. 56). Regardless of the label, the content analysis researcher must define the units that he or she will use to code the texts being analyzed. Weber delineated six possible content analysis units from which a researcher can select:

- 1. <u>Word</u>--the literal meanings only of each single word.
- 2. <u>Word sense</u>—the multiple possible meanings of words, proper nouns, idioms, phrases, or clauses.
- 3. <u>Sentence</u>--the intent or meaning of a whole sentence, but not of its individual components.
- 4. <u>Theme</u>--a unit of text which must include no more than one subject, predicate, and object and is often shorter than a sentence.
- 5. <u>Paragraph</u>—the intent or meaning of a whole paragraph, but not of its component parts. (This allows for the coding of large texts, but is less reliable than smaller coding units.)
- 6. <u>Whole text</u>--the intent or meaning of an entire text, but not of its component parts. (This also allows for the coding of large texts, but it too is less reliable.)

(adapted from Weber, 1990, pp. 20-23)

Considering that mission statements are by definition short in length yet broad in meaning, the unit deemed most appropriate for the present study was the <u>theme</u>. Analysis of single words alone would have been too limiting in analyzing meaning. The analysis of word sense would have been more fitting, but, as a unit, it alone would not account for complex interconnections of broad ideas characteristic of mission statements. The sentence, the paragraph, and the whole text were, of course, dismissed as possible units of analysis because the usual short length of mission statements precludes their practicality. Therefore, the mission statements in the study were analyzed thematically, wherein complex ideas related in grammatical units no longer than whole sentences and no smaller than individual words were the objects of analysis.

## **Definition of Screening Categories**

The objective of content analysis is to employ a coding system to analyze objectively and to categorize the language of the selected artifacts (Bogdan & Biklen, 1992; Borg & Gall, 1989). In order to facilitate and refine the use of themes as the unit of analysis in the present study, an initial set of <u>categories</u> was developed. According to Fraenkel and Wallen (1993), "This is the nub of document analysis--defining as precisely as possible those aspects of a document's contents that the researcher wants to investigate and then formulating relevant categories that are...explicit" (p. 389). <u>Categories</u> are defined sets of rules by which the units of analysis (i.e., themes in the present study) can be distinguished by their content.

One principle of establishing categories is that the characteristics of the documents to be analyzed actually contribute to the determination of the categories (Cohen & Manion, 1994). In the present study, the documents of analysis were mission statements; therefore, certain theoretically established components of mission statements predetermined certain content categories. For instance, stakeholders (i.e., groups and individuals with vested interests in the success of a school division) are characteristically mentioned in mission statements; thus, language that identifies the stakeholders in a school division

constituted a content category in the study. Other categories were determined based on the precedent of prior studies of mission statements in which content categories were also used. Five content categories were set and used for the content analysis of Virginia's mission statements, and they were as follows:

- <u>Category 2</u>: Language that expresses outcomes or benefits that a school division promises for stakeholders, including students (Lundquist & Rice, 1991).
- <u>Category 3</u>: Action verbs or expressions of how certain outcomes, programs, etc., will be provided by a school division (Lundquist & Rice, 1991).
- <u>Category 4</u>: Language that identifies particular programs or initiatives of a school division (Lundquist & Rice, 1991).
- <u>Category 5</u>: Adjectives, adverbs, and other expressions of quality or degree.

In addition to setting categories, a content analysis researcher must also determine the exclusivity of the categories (Weber, 1990). The issue of exclusivity refers to whether content can cross over between different categories, or if instances of language must be categorized in one and only one category each. According to Weber (1990), the researcher may choose either method by which to conduct a content analysis depending upon the purposes of the study. In the present study, the need to compute frequencies in order to compare <u>degrees</u> of consensus between content constituted the need to set the methodological rule that categories in the study would be exclusive. However, given the referent nature of language, it was understood prior to analysis that a limited number of words and

<sup>&</sup>lt;u>Category 1</u>: Language that identifies the stakeholders in a division (Newsom & Hayes, 1990-91).

word senses would actually be entered in more than one category in order to facilitate comprehension of complex meanings of thematic units during the analysis process. Nevertheless, the thematic units themselves were exclusive within the respective categories.

## The Roles of Emergent Categories

Another element of content analysis categories concerns the relative broadness of categories. Again, Weber (1990) contended that how broad or how narrow the categories for analysis are depends upon the purposes of the study. In the present study, one central purpose was to illuminate <u>characteristics</u> of de facto consensus among mission statements. In other words, the content analysis was actually to bring to light previously undetermined categories. This is, indeed, one of the central purposes of many content analysis studies: to identify emergent categories.

Emergent categories are groupings or core themes of content that are identified through an analysis of language data, but which are not identifiable prior to that analysis. Therefore, the content categories that were predetermined and which guided the initial analysis of the mission statements were relatively narrow in their definition. The content that was not able to be classified into one of the set categories then became the raw data for determination of emergent categories. Analysis was not limited to the five categories defined above, for content analysis methodology allows that other categories, groupings, or themes may emerge from the data (Bogdan & Biklen, 1992; Borg & Gall, 1989). Emergent categories therefore constituted the final data group in the study.

In addition to serving as a sixth screening category, emergent categories were also used to conduct the sub-analysis of each of the initial screening categories. The purpose of this crucial step was to make the content analysis as explicit as possible in its identification of shared content among the mission statements. After analyzing and classifying each mission statement into the initial screening categories, each category was then further analyzed in order to identify emergent categories within each classification. This sub-analysis permitted the identification of the specific stakeholders, outcomes, processes, programs, and other characteristics that were shared among the content of Virginia's divisionlevel mission statements. At this step, word sense (Weber, 1990) was used as the unit of analysis, for the language data were already categorized by single words and short word combinations. Therefore, classifying the data was basically a matter of matching words or word combinations to similar ones. In this way, specific emergent categories within each initial screening category were identified, and more explicit understandings of the characteristics of shared content were brought to light.

## Test Coding

According to Weber (1990), "The best test of the clarity of category definitions is to code a small sample of the text. Testing not only reveals ambiguities in the rules, but also leads to insights suggesting revisions of the classification scheme" (p. 23). Thus, twenty mission statements (approximately 15 percent of the target population) were test coded using the six initial categories. The mission statements were read, reviewed, and analyzed, and the content was categorized into one of the six predetermined categories in thematic units no smaller than a single word and no larger than an independent clause. This test coding process found that Categories 1-4 and Category 6 (emergent categories) reaped considerable data, but Category 5 (adjectives, adverbs, and other expressions of quality or degree) did not represent a meaningful category in and of itself. Instead, such modifiers were more meaningfully categorized with the nouns and verbs that they modified instead of in isolation. Therefore, the original "Category 5" was dropped as an exclusive content category in the study. Instead, "Category 5" became the heading for the analysis of emergent categories.

With five categories determined for the content analysis, all of the mission statements were then analyzed according to the refined design. All of the words in each of the mission statements were accounted for in the analysis, the only exceptions being non-substantive linking verbs, conjunctions, and prepositions. Tables representing the analysis are presented in Chapter 4 of the present study, and transcriptions of the full mission statements are in Appendix B. (Note, the names of the school divisions were omitted during analysis to increase the reliability and objectivity of the analysis, and the names are omitted in the appendix in accord with the conditions presented to superintendents in the original letter of request.)

#### **Computing Frequencies**

Following the thematic analysis and categorization of the content of the mission statements to determine the characteristics of the content, data were further analyzed to determine the degrees of consensus among the content (Borg

& Gall, 1989; Crowl, 1993). According to Weber (1990), the computation of frequencies is used in content analysis to "create quantitative indicators that assess the degree of attention or concern devoted to cultural units such as themes, categories, or issues" (p. 70). Weber (1990) also points out that "counting assumes that higher relative counts (proportions, percentages, or ranks) reflect higher concern with the category" (p. 56). Hence, whereas the use of categories enabled the analysis of the <u>characteristics</u> of consensus, the computation of frequencies permitted the analysis of the <u>degrees</u> of consensus.

Following Borg and Gall (1989), both absolute and relative frequencies were computed. <u>Absolute frequencies</u> consisted of the number of cases in which certain categories are reflected in the mission statements of Virginia's public school divisions. <u>Relative frequencies</u> were the proportion (or percentage) of such occurrences related to the total number of categories. In addition, chi square ( $\mathcal{X}^2$ ) analysis was used to determine the significance of the frequencies of the content identified through the content analysis (Borg & Gall, 1989; Gay, 1987; Kiess, 1989).

#### <u>Reliability of the Methodology</u>

As with any methodology, the reliability of a content analysis study must be evaluated and reported (Borg & Gall, 1989; Weber, 1990). According to Weber (1990), there are several means of ensuring the reliability of a content analysis, including stability, reproducibility, and accuracy. <u>Stability</u> is "the extent to which results of content classification are invariant over time" (Weber, 1990, p. 17). Although he couches his discussion of stability in terms of time, Weber also argued that stability is related to the length of the documents being analyzed. Specifically, stability of analysis is inversely related to the length of the documents being analyzed. In other words, the shorter the documents, the greater the stability; the longer the documents, the lesser the stability. Given that mission statements are, by definition, very short in length (typically just a single sentence long), reliability in the form of stability was high in the present study.

A second form of reliability in a content analysis is reproducibility. <u>Reproducibility</u> is essentially inter-rater reliability (Weber, 1990). As with other methodologies, content analysis is more reliable when multiple researchers who are analyzing the same data end up with the same results (Borg & Gall, 1989). In the present study, however, only one researcher was available to conduct the analysis. Nevertheless, a degree of reproducibility was achieved during the test coding procedures described previously. During that stage of the study, the test coding of 20 mission statements was presented to the researcher's advisor, who concurred with the results of this initial categorization. Thus, reproducibility was in evidence.

The third form of reliability described by Weber (1990) is accuracy. <u>Accuracy</u> is the extent to which classification of content in categories conforms to a set standard. This is the strongest form of reliability according to Weber (1990), but it is seldom used because standard categories are infrequently established independently of a research project. In the present study, the four predetermined categories of analysis were established in previous research studies (Lundquist & Rice, 1991; Newsom & Hayes, 1990-91). Although reflective of exploratory

studies, these categories constitute an evolving standard. Thus, accuracy, the strongest form of reliability, was also ensured to a degree in the present study.

## Validity of the Methodology

As with reliability, so must the validity of a content analysis be evaluated and reported (Borg & Gall, 1989). According to Weber (1990), there are several means of ensuring the validity of the methodology, and the following means were employed in the present study.

One problem to overcome in content analysis is the problem of the validity of the content categories. To help ensure validity, it is first of all important to establish categories and "clear and detailed coding rules for each category" (Weber, 1990, p. 16) prior to the analysis, if at all possible (Krippendorf, 1980). Obviously, in purely exploratory studies where only emergent categories can be sought, this is not possible. In the present study of Virginia's division-level mission statements, however, five categories (Please see "Definition of Screening Categories" above.) were predetermined from previous studies of mission statements in education. Predetermination of categories provides the rules for inferences that are drawn from content analysis. When such rules are set in advance of the study, valid results can be better ensured, for one can look at the results and see if they are reflective of the established categories (Weber, 1990).

Another means of ensuring the validity of a content analysis study is to establish a correspondence between the categorical definitions and the construct that the categories are used to analyze. Weber referred to this as <u>hypothesis</u> <u>validity</u>; however, it is perhaps more commonly referred to as <u>construct validity</u> (Borg & Gall, 1989). In regard to construct validity, one must ask in the present study whether the content categories are representative of the established theory concerning mission statements in education? More specifically, does the literature support the contentions that mission statements in education typically contain content related to (1) stakeholders, (2) outcomes, (3) expressions of action or how outcomes, programs, etc., will be provided, and (4) particular programs or initiatives of the organization? The answers to these questions are affirmative. These categories were established through the precedent of previous studies of mission statements in education. (Please see Chapter 2.) Thus, the content categories in the study contributed to the validity of the study itself.

Weber (1990) also contended that the validity of a content analysis can be increased by establishing semantic validity. <u>Semantic validity</u> "exists when persons familiar with the language and texts examine lists of words (or other units) placed in the same category and agree that these words have similar meanings or connotations" (Weber, 1990, p. 20).

Semantic validity is definitively similar to reproducibility, a form of reliability discussed previously. The difference between the two is found in the purpose of each. Reproducibility ensures that language data are consistently and similarly classified in established categories. In other words, the categories are employed reliably by the researcher, and the <u>researcher</u> does not confound the data. Semantic validity also ensures that language data are consistently and similarly classified in established categories; however, in regard to validity, the <u>categories</u> must not confound the data. One way of testing for semantic validity is to conduct a test coding of a sample of the data and then have a second researcher

review the analysis. In the present study, the researcher's advisor reviewed and concurred with the classification of data for 20 mission statements. As with questions of reliability, the confirmation of the test coding by another researcher contributed to the study's validity.

A second way of increasing semantic validity in a content analysis is to restrict categories and not allow placement of units in multiple categories (Weber, 1990). This criterion was meet in the present study by making each category mutually exclusive. Data were classified into only a single category each, thereby contributing to the validity of the study.

Finally, a third means of maximizing semantic validity is to compare documents of similar length (Weber, 1990). In documents of widely varying lengths (e.g., one sentence versus several paragraphs) units of analysis are likely to occur at greater frequencies in the longer texts, thereby detracting from the validity of the frequency counts. In the original design of this study, traditional mission statements were to be compared with any public statement of "mission, purpose, philosophy, goal, or objective" (Lundquist & Rice, 1991, p. 12). This was the original design because the actual prevalence of true mission statements in Virginia was unknown; however, as mission statements were collected from school divisions, it became apparent that a majority of Virginia's school divisions (67 percent) have mission statements, per the definition from the literature and used in the present study. Under the original design of the study, semantic validity would have been diminished because of the comparison of documents of widely varying lengths. However, the modification to analyzing only true mission statements helped to maximize semantic validity through the comparison of documents of similar length.

## Limitations of the Study

Extensive steps were taken to design a study intent only on answering the research questions; therefore, in order to conform to content analysis methodology, to ensure reliability, and to maximize validity, several limitations of the study need be identified.

First, the purpose of the study was to determine the characteristics and degrees of de facto consensus among public school division mission statements in Virginia; therefore, the study did not seek to investigate how mission statements are actually employed by school divisions or what effect mission statements have on specific educational outcomes. Given the purpose of the proposed study, no effort was made to address the utility of mission statements (i.e., the understanding of a mission statement by stakeholders, the representativeness of a constituencies' beliefs, or the significance concerning specific components of an educational program). Nor did the study question the sources of mission statements. Thus, the study was concerned only with collecting and analyzing at face-value the content of mission statements supplied by Virginia's school divisions.

A second limitation to the present study was also encountered and expressed well by Lundquist and Rice (1991) who employed content analysis in their study of college mission statements. They wrote, "Extreme caution must be exerted in inferring environment effects from the idealistic goals of mission statements" (p. 17). In other words, it cannot be assumed that mission statements are absolute or true reflections of what a school division actually provides students and other stakeholders. Rusch (1992) reiterated this point in her use of content analysis in her study of strategic plans and mission statements. Thus, it is understood that the content analysis of mission statements is a means of producing descriptive data regarding the <u>expressed</u> purposes of public education, but is not necessarily reflective of <u>actual</u> outcomes.

A third limitation of the study was related directly to content analysis methodology. According to Manning and Cullum-Swan (1994), "Content analysis has been unable to capture the <u>context</u> within which a written text has meaning" (p. 464). This limitation applies to this and all content analysis studies. In short, the methodology cannot sufficiently account for the context or environment in which a mission statement was written, adopted, or used-at least not based solely on the documents being analyzed. Critics of content analysis would make much of this limitation, but proponents of the methodology offer some insight to it. Krippendorf (1980), for example, explains that written language is symbolic communication, and symbolic communication is vicarious by nature. That is, symbolic communication is intended to enable a reader to make specific inferences based on the symbols and their meaning outside of the immediate context of the sender. Therefore, although a lack of understanding about context is indeed a limitation to the content analysis of written documents such as mission statements, it is also a definitive characteristic of the very nature of all written communication. It is, in a sense, unavoidable; still, it is important to acknowledge as a potential limitation.

#### Ethical Safeguards and Considerations

As described above, the vicarious nature of written communication has a potentially limiting effect on a content analysis study. It also, however, serves as a natural safeguard. Krippendorf (1980) explains that the content analyst works with language data unobtrusively by gathering documents and categorizing the content. Neither the documents nor the receivers or senders of the documents are changed in any way as a result of the content analysis process. A content analysis study does not directly or indirectly change reality through influence, suggestion, or other means (Fraenkel & Wallen, 1993; Krippendorf, 1980; Weber, 1990). In this way, the target population is safeguarded. Another safeguard inherent in the design of this study was that mission statements of public school divisions are by law and by design available to the general public. Therefore, any incidental dissemination of the mission statements of Virginia's school divisions that either has or may result from this study would not pose ethical concerns. Third, given that the study was exploratory in nature and in design, no interventions or treatments were necessary. Thus, no precautions or protections were needed for the participating school divisions or their representatives. Finally, the proposal for the study was reviewed and approved by the Human Subjects Committee for the School of Education at The College of William and Mary, the institution affiliated with the present study.

#### Chapter 4: Results

The two primary purposes of this study were (1) to determine the characteristics and degrees of de facto consensus among school divisions in Virginia concerning the purpose of K-12 public education in the state as articulated in division-level mission statements and (2) to determine the characteristics of consensus between division-level mission statements and the mission of K-12 public education as articulated in the Virginia Constitution. To this end, the study was designed around the following four research questions:

- 1. Do the mission statements of Virginia school divisions share certain content characteristics?
- 2. To what degrees (i.e., at what frequencies) are such content characteristics shared?
- 3. What content is not shared widely among the mission statements of Virginia school divisions?
- 4. What shared content among division-level mission statements is also shared with Virginia's state-level statement of mission, as articulated in the Virginia Constitution?

Given these research questions, the research methodology of content analysis was employed, and a data collection strategy was developed and undertaken. The results are presented herein.

#### Results of the Data Collection

The letters of request and follow-up telephone calls to Virginia's 132 public school divisions yielded a 100 percent response rate; the entire target population was represented in the study.

Out of the 132 public school divisions in Virginia, 88 indicated that they had a mission statement and provided a copy for the study. Thus, 67 percent, or two-thirds, of all public school divisions in Virginia had a mission statement at the time of the study. In addition, one school division indicated that it indeed had a mission statement but that the mission statement was under revision and was therefore unavailable.

On the other hand, 43 school divisions indicated that they did not have a division-level mission statement. This represented 33 percent, or one-third, of the school divisions in Virginia. These school divisions did, however, indicate that they had statements of educational philosophy, organizational goals or objectives,  $\vdots$  organizational by-laws, vision statements, or, in one case, organizational themes.

Table 1 indicates the frequency and percentage of Virginia public school divisions that either had or did not have a mission statement. Chi-square analysis indicated that there was a statistically significant difference between the number of school divisions that had a mission statement and the number that did not. Given that a significant number of school divisions had mission statements, the decision to analyze mission statements alone was made. This resulted in a data group of 88 mission statements. (Recall that one mission statement was unavailable for inclusion in the study due to its being under revision.)

	had a mission statement.	did not have a mission statement.	Total
Number of Virginia public school divisions that	89	43	132
Percentage of Virginia public school divisions that	67%	33%	100%

# Table 1. Frequencies, Percentages and $\mathcal{X}^2$ Analysis of Division-level Mission Statements

 $\mathcal{X}^2$ observed = 16.04;  $\mathcal{X}^2$ critical(1) = 3.84; alpha = .05

It should be noted that the use of chi-square analysis in this study was limited. Chi-square analysis is a means of determining the statistical significance of certain nominal data, particularly nominal data represented by frequencies (Kiess, 1989). Where appropriate in the present study, chi-square analysis was used to lend credence to the significance already represented by frequencies and percentages. Notably, chi-square analysis was not appropriate in cases where content categories were not mutually exclusive. In such cases, only frequencies and percentages are presented.

## **Categorical Analysis of Mission Statements**

With the data group established, the first three research questions were addressed simultaneously. Five initial content categories were identified to facilitate the analysis of the mission statements. (The process by which these categories were determined is describe in Chapters 2 and 3.) These categories were as follows:

<u>Category 1</u>: Language that identified the stakeholders in a division (Newsom & Hayes, 1990-91).

- <u>Category 2</u>: Language that identified student outcomes or benefits that a school division promises for stakeholders, including students (Lundquist & Rice, 1991).
- <u>Category 3</u>: Action verbs or expressions of how certain outcomes, programs, etc., would be ensured or provided through school division actions (Lundquist & Rice, 1991).
- <u>Category 4</u>: Language that identified specific programs or initiatives of a school division (Lundquist & Rice, 1991).
- <u>Category 5</u>: Language that identified emergent categories, i.e., previously unidentified categories (Bogdan & Biklen, 1992; Borg & Gall, 1989).

Table 2 shows the results of the initial analysis of the 88 division-level mission statements using the five screening categories. (Also see Appendix C.) All of the original language of the mission statements was analyzed and categorized into one of these five categories. The only language omitted from analysis included non-substantive linking and helping verbs (e.g., <u>is and will be</u>), conjunctions and articles (i.e., <u>a</u>, <u>an</u>, and <u>the</u>), references to school divisions' names, and introductory phrases akin to "The mission of the <u>\_\_\_</u> school division is...,"

Frequ		e of Virginia division- nined language that ide		ments
Category 1	Category 2 Student	Category 3	Category 4 Specific	Category 5 Emergent
Stakeholders	Outcomes	Division Actions	Programs	Categories
87	76	87	77	52
99%	86%	99%	77%	59%

Table 2. Categorical Analysis of Division Mission Statements

The significantly high frequency of mission statements that contained language related to Categories 1 through 4 indicated that division-level mission statements in Virginia shared certain broad, theoretically-established content characteristics. (The role of Category 5 [Emergent Categories] is discussed later.) Specifically, nearly all Virginia public school division mission statements identified stakeholders (99 percent) and their own actions (99 percent) as component themes of their mission statements. In addition, most school divisions tended to identify student outcomes (86 percent) as part of their mission. Fewer school divisions referred to specific programs as being central to their mission (77 percent); nevertheless, more than three-quarters of the school divisions with mission statements did identify such programs. Hence, at the level of initial analysis of the mission statements of Virginia's public school divisions, the following results were evident:

- 1. Virginia school divisions shared certain content characteristics, including language that identifies stakeholders, student outcomes, division actions, and specific programs.
- 2. These content characteristics were shared at very high frequencies among division mission statements.

## Analysis of Emergent Categories

Regarding the third research question (What content is not shared widely among the mission statements of Virginia school divisions?), the analysis of emergent categories provided some initial insight. The emergent categories essentially represented language that did not fit into one of the four initial screening categories. (See Appendix H.) As described above, 52 out of the 88 mission statements included such language. Analysis of this language identified four distinct categories or themes:

- language that identified partnerships with parents and/or the community
- language that identified particular <u>belief statements</u>
- language that identified a view of society
- language that referred to the <u>21st century</u>.

These four emergent categories were analyzed to determine the frequency with which they occurred. Table 3 illustrates the results of that analysis.

Table 3. Frequencies and Percentages of the Emergent Categories

Emergent Category					
Partnerships	Belief Statements	Views of Society	References to the 21st Century		
34	17	21	5		
39%	19%	24%	6%		

These emergent categories provided some insight into content that is relatively unique to some of the mission statements. Most notably, references to the 21st century were present in some mission statements (five out of 88), but were quite rare (occurring in only six percent of all of the division mission statements). This may initially suggest a lack of forward thinking by educational administrators in the 83 school divisions that did not refer to the 21st century, especially considering the eminent approach of the new millennium. On the other hand, it may simply be that many of the mission statements were written five or more years ago--a time when public attention was less intent on the impending new century. In any case, a chi square analysis for alpha = .05 and  $\mathcal{X}^2$ critical [1] = 3.84 found that references to the 21st century represent a significantly ( $\mathscr{X}^{2}$ observed = 69.14) novel theme among Virginia public school division mission statements.

A second relatively novel body of content was that of belief statements. Belief statements are expressions of certain assumptions about education, human worth, etc., upon which a mission statement is written (Kaufman, 1988; McCune, 1986). Strategic planning theory holds that belief statements are essential to, but not typically included in, mission statements (Kaufman, 1988; McCune, 1986). However, 17 of the 88 Virginia school divisions with a mission statement included some form of belief statement in their mission. Further analysis of the content of these belief statements yielded the following:

- 11% indicated a belief that all students can learn
- 3% indicated a belief that individuals are unique and have differing needs
- 2% indicated a belief that either schools or children are the gateway or hope for the future
- 2% indicated a belief that all students have a right to learn
- 2% indicated a belief that all individuals have worth
- 2% indicated a belief that teaching and learning are the most important components of schooling
- 1% indicated a belief that the success of children depends on the school division
- 1% indicated a belief that schools improve both collectively and one at a time.

It is evident from this analysis that most of the belief statements included within the division-level mission statements were relatively novel. (The most widely expressed belief [11 percent] was that all students can learn.) However, the novelty of these belief statements is most likely less an indication of differences in beliefs among school divisions than it is the result of 17 school divisions deciding to break from the theoretical basis of mission statement development and include belief statements within their missions.

A third emergent category identified by the categorical analysis concerned differing views of society expressed by divisions within their mission statements. Nearly one quarter (24 percent) of school divisions with a mission statement referred to a particular view of society which it held. A chi-square analysis for alpha = .05 and  $\mathcal{R}^2$ critical [1] = 3.84 indicated that a statistically significant ( $\mathcal{R}^2$ observed = 24.05) number of school divisions made reference to their view of society; thus, reference to a view of society was a relatively novel content characteristic of Virginia division-level mission statements. But, what were these views of society? Further analysis of the language discovered the following percentages and frequencies of various views of society:

- 11% identified a changing society
- 6% identified an interdependent or global society
- 5% identified a democratic society
- 2% identified a multicultural society
- 1% identified a challenging society
- 1% identified a technological society
- 1% identified a modern society.

Interestingly, the highest frequency among these views of society was the least substantive in content. The great majority of mission statements that indicated a particular view of society actually described it only as "changing." The description begs the questions, Changing how? Why? Into what? Unfortunately, given the nature of mission statements, no answers were forthcoming. Still, offering a view of society within the context of an educational mission statement represented a relatively novel body of content among Virginia public school division mission statements.

The final and most frequent emergent category was that of language that identified partnerships with the school division. More than one third (34 percent) of all school divisions referred to the role of partnerships in achieving the mission. A chi-square analysis for alpha = .05 and  $\mathscr{X}^2$ critical[1] = 3.84 showed that this was a significantly few number of divisions that made such a reference ( $\mathscr{X}^2$ observed = 4.54). In short, references to partnerships within a division-level mission statement (along with referring to the 21st century, including belief statements, or positing a particular view of society) represented content not widely shared among the mission statements of Virginia's public school divisions.

Alternately, as described initially in this analysis, Virginia's division-level mission statements did share certain categories of content, including language that identified stakeholders, language that identified student outcomes, language that identified division actions, and language that identified specific programs. The further analysis of these areas of shared content illuminated still other, more specific instances of shared and novel content.

#### Analysis of Stakeholders

The analysis of language that identified stakeholders focused on mention made of the groups served by and/or responsible for the successful functioning of

62

a school division. (See Appendix D.) Again, 99 percent of division-level mission statements identified one or more groups of stakeholders in the educational system. This is obviously a very highly significant shared content area among school division mission statements. But what stakeholders were identified? Content analysis found that four categories of stakeholders were present among the 88 division-level mission statements:

- students only
- students and parents
- students, parents, and the local community
- students, parents, the local community, and the larger community (e.g., the state, nation, or global community).

Table 4 illustrates the frequencies and percentages at which these stakeholder categories were present in mission statements, and it indicates the significance of these findings through chi-square analysis.

Table 4.	Frequencies,	Percentages, and	I X2	Analys	is of S	Stakeholder	Categories

Stakeholder Category						
No stakeholder identified	students	students and parents	students, parents, and local community	students, parents, local community, and larger community		
1	27	1	20	39		
1%	31%	195	23%	44%		

 $\mathcal{X}^2$ observed = 34.89;  $\mathcal{X}^2$ critical(3) = 7.81; alpha = .05

Statistically significant differences were present between the four stakeholder categories. Perhaps the most revealing differences, however, were illuminated when distinctions were made not between each of the four categories, but when one juxtaposed the 31 percent of mission statements that identified students only as the stakeholders of education with the total of 68 percent that identified a combination of students and adults (in the form of parents, local community, and the larger community, in various combinations). For alpha = .05 and  $\mathcal{X}^2$ critical (1) = 3.84, chi-square analysis indicated a significant difference between school divisions that identified students only as stakeholders and those that identified students and others as stakeholders in the success of the school division. More than twice as many school divisions as not indicated that the stakeholders of public education included students and various groups of adults. The implication was that the mission of public education stretches beyond (in some instances, <u>far beyond</u>) service to children alone.

Considering the groups of adults more specifically, only one school division viewed parents alone as the only adults with a stake in public education. By way of contrast, nearly one quarter (23 percent) of division-level mission statements indicated that the local community was the broadest scope of stakeholdership in education---a finding which gives some weight to the historical assertion for local control of education. More prevalent, however, is the frequency with which local school divisions indicated that their mission served stakeholders <u>beyond</u> the local community. Nearly half of all mission statements in Virginia (44 percent) identified a larger community as a stakeholder in education. Specifically, only one school division identified the state as the highest level of stakeholdership in public education, whereas 28 percent referred to the national or societal level as the highest and still 15 percent viewed the global society as the greatest scope of stakeholdership in Virginia public

64

education. The implication is clear that a statistically significant proportion of Virginia school divisions believe that their local public education systems are in service not only of the local student population, but also to a community of people beyond the locality.

## Analysis of Student Outcomes

The analysis of student outcomes focused on language that identified what outcomes or results would be achieved by and for students given their educational experience in a particular school division. Out of 88 division-level mission statements in Virginia, 76 contained language that identified student outcomes. Chi-square analysis of this fact (alpha = .05 and  $\mathcal{X}^2$  critical [1] = 3.84) indicated that the presence of student outcomes in 86 percent of the mission statements was statistically significant ( $\mathcal{X}^2$  critical = 46.54). Thus, a significant majority of school divisions in Virginia shared a reference to student outcomes as a content characteristic of their mission statements.

The question followed, however: What student outcomes are identified by school divisions? Further analysis of language that identified student outcomes found that 22 student outcome categories were referred to by the 76 school divisions that included student outcomes in their mission statements. (See Appendix E.) The student outcome categories that emerged from the content analysis were the following, which are roughly grouped by theme:

### continued on next page

- 1. <u>Citizenship</u>: contributes to betterment of society and/or world; socially responsible; social development
- 2. <u>Ability to work with others</u>: ability to work in groups; interpersonal skills
- 3. <u>Respect for individual differences</u>: awareness/appreciation of cultural diversity
- 4. Character: integrity; values
- 5. <u>Positive self-esteem</u>: positive outlook; happiness; personal fulfillment; mental health; emotional development
- 6. Habits of physical well-being: physical development
- 7. Family skills: provide/care for future family
- 8. Caring
- 9. Environmental stewardship: care for the physical world
- 10. <u>Academic achievement:</u> student learning; acquisition of certain/basic skills, knowledge, or behaviors; intellectual development
- 11. <u>Communication</u>: reading, writing, speaking, and/or listening skills
- 12. <u>Mathematics</u>: computational skills
- 13. Technology/technological skills
- 14. Preparedness for continuing education
- 15. Lifelong learning: enabled to learn in the present and the future
- 16. Economically productive: prepared for work/workforce
- 17. <u>Preparedness for future challenges</u>: able to succeed; competent; able to handle change
- 18. Fully developed potential
- 19. Decision-making
- 20. Problem-solving
- 21. Higher-order thinking: independent thinking; critical thinking
- 22. Creativity: artistic expression/appreciation.

Table 5 illustrates in ascending order the frequency and percentage at

which each of these student outcomes were evident among the 88 division-level

mission statements.

continued on next page

Student Outcome	Frequency	Percentage
Caring	1	1%
Environmental stewardship	2	2%
Family skills	3	3%
Mathematics	3	3%
Decision making	3	3%
Technology/technological skills	4	5%
Problem solving	4	5%
Creativity	4	5%
Ability to work with others	5	6%
Communication	5	6%
Preparedness for continuing education	6	7%
Character	7	8%
Habits of physical well-being	9	10%
Respect for individual differences	10	11%
Higher-order thinking	12	14%
Fully-developed potential	15	17%
Positive self-esteem	16	18%
Academic achievement	27	31%
Lifelong learning	29	33%
Economically productive	31	35%
Preparedness for future challenges	32	36%
Citizenship	37	42%
No student outcome identified	12	14%

Table 5. Frequencies and Percentages of Student Outcomes

A review of Table 5 illuminated a three tiered range of frequencies among the student outcomes. First, there was a set of student outcomes of relatively low frequency, ranging from <u>caring</u> to <u>character</u>. Each of these student outcomes was evident in fewer than ten percent of all division-level mission statements in Virginia. Thus, those at the lowest end of this frequency range (i.e., <u>caring</u>, <u>environmental stewardship</u>, <u>family skills</u>, <u>mathematics</u>, and <u>decision making</u>—the lowest one-sixth in frequency) constituted areas of content that were not widely shared among school divisions. Moreover, <u>caring</u> constituted the only student outcome that was present in just one of the division-level mission statements, making it truly a unique student outcome among the statements. A second set of student outcomes was distinguished by the range of ten to roughly 20 percent. This middle tier included <u>habits of physical well-being</u>, <u>respect for individual differences</u>, <u>higher-order thinking</u>, <u>fully-developed</u> <u>potential</u>, and <u>positive self-esteem</u>. These student outcomes were relatively common among school divisions, though less so than the third and highest frequency tier. Consisting of <u>academic achievement</u>, <u>lifelong learning</u>, <u>economically productive</u>, <u>preparedness for future challenges</u>, and <u>citizenship</u>, this set of student outcomes was present in nearly one-third to nearly one-half of all Virginia division-level mission statements. Therefore, these five student outcomes were the most widely shared content characteristics of student outcomes among the mission statements, and the student outcome <u>citizenship</u> represented an even more distinctive unit as the single most common identified outcome of among all Virginia mission statements.

### Analysis of Division Actions

The analysis of division actions focused on action verbs and other language that expressed specific actions undertaken by school divisions in fulfillment of their missions. (See Appendix E.) The initial content analysis of this category found that 99 percent of all division-level mission statements in Virginia (87 out of 88) included such language. Of course, this is a highly significant percentage and clearly indicated that the inclusion of language identifying division-level actions was a widely shared content characteristic among Virginia mission statements.

68

Closer analysis of the language identifying division actions indicated that 75 different actions were specifically mentioned in the mission statements. Table 6 shows each division action in ascending order of the frequency and percentage at which each occurred.

continued on next page

Table 6. Frequencies and Percentages of Division Actions           Division         II					
Action	Frequency	Percentage	Action	Frequency	Percentage
Acknowledge	1 1	1%	Empower	3	3%
Advance	1	1%	Enable	3	3%
Assure	1	1%	Establish	2	3%
Be responsible	1	1%	Evaluate	2	3%
Care	1	1%	Expect	2	3%
Engage	1	1%	Instill	2	3%
Enlist	1	1%	Involve	3	3%
Enrich	1	1%	Maximize	3	3%
Exceed	1	1%	Produce	2	3%
Fund	1	1%	Respond	2	3%
Give attention	1	1%	Share	2	3%
Graduate	1	1%	Stimulate	3	3%
Guide	1	1%	Support	2	3%
Impart	1	1%	Sustain	2	3%
Implement	1 1	1%	Treat	3	3%
Increase	1	1%	Work together	2	3%
Instruct	1	1%	Be accountable	4	5%
Кеер расе	1	1%	Develop	4	5%
Motivate	1	1%	Improve	4	5%
Offer	1	1%	Maintain	4	5%
Operate	1	1%	Pledge	4	5%
Recruit	1	1%	Recognize	4	5%
Require	1	1%	Achieve	5	6%
Respect	1	1%	Nurture	5	6%
Retain	1	1%	Serve	5	6%
Revise	1	1%	Teach	5	6%
Secure	1	1%	Create	6	7%
Seek	1	1%	Educate	6	7%
Uphold	1	1%	Strive	6	7%
Use	1	1%	Commit	8	9%
Value	1	1%	Promote	8	9%
Work	1	1%	Encourage	7	10%
Assist	2	3%	Meet	7	10%
Communicate	3	3%	Foster	10	12%
Continue	2	3%	Prepare	14	16%
Cultivate	2	3%	Ensure	15	17%
Demonstrate	2	3%	Provide	50	58%
Emphasize	3	3%		****	

Table 6. Frequencies and Percentages of Division Actions

----

----

continued on next page

-----

A review of Table 6 demonstrated that a very large majority of school divisions in Virginia expressed their actions in relatively unique or novel ways. In fact, out of 75 miscellaneous division actions, 32 of them were entirely unique to individual school divisions. Furthermore, a total of 72 of them (96 percent) were included in 10 or fewer of the 87 mission statements that identified division actions in their mission statements. Thus, the particular actions expressed by divisions in their mission statements were content not widely shared. The only notable exceptions to this finding were the actions <u>foster</u>, <u>prepare</u>, <u>ensure</u>, and <u>provide</u>, each of which is present in 12 or more percent of all mission statements. Of course, most notably common among all mission statements was the action to <u>provide</u>, which was present in well over half (58 percent) of all division-level mission statements in Virginia.

Although the word-by-word analysis was helpful in terms of identifying specific, shared content among mission statements, an analysis of sets of synonymous words was conducted in hopes of gaining further insight. To perform this analysis, the individual action words from the mission statements were grouped into 29 sets of synonyms and further arranged by five general themes for sake of convenience, as follows:

# continued on next page

# Degrees of Achievement/

Commitment

- 1. Achieve/Meet
- 2. Demonstrate
- 3. Acknowledge/Recognize/Give attention/Value
- 4. Promote/Advance/Emphasize
- 5. Expect/Require/Uphold
- 6. Improve/Increase/Enrich/ Exceed/Maximize
- 7. Strive/Seek
- 8. Assure/Ensure
- 9. Commit/Pledge
- 10. Be accountable/Be responsible

### Systems and Programs

- 11. Create/Develop/Establish
- Operate/Use/Implement/Work
   Provide/Offer
- 14. Maintain/Sustain/Support/ Secure/Continue/ Retain/Fund
- 15. Respond/Keep pace
- 16. Evaluate
- 17. Revise

# Means of Educating

- 18. Serve
- 19. Assist/Guide
- 20. Nurture/Cultivate/Foster/Care
- 21. Encourage/Motivate/Stimulate/ Engage
- 22. Teach/Educate/Instruct/Impart/ Instill

# **Outcomes of Educating**

- 23. Empower/Enable
- 24. Prepare
- 25. Produce/Graduate

# Working in Cooperation

- 26. Communicate
- 27. Involve/Enlist/Recruit
- 28. Share/Work together
- 29. Respect/Treat

Appendix F shows an analysis chart of the 29 synonym sets and the five themes. The analysis of synonym sets fairly mirrored the previous analysis of individual actions. The most notable similarity was that the synonym set of provide/offer far outweighed other synonym sets, as it was present in 58 percent of the mission statements. The fundamental action of most Virginia school divisions with mission statements was apparently to "provide" something. The only other additional insight gained by the analysis of synonym sets was a relative expansion of actions shared among divisions. Foster and its synonyms nurture/cultivate/care was the second most prevalent action, present in 18 percent of all mission statements in Virginia. Closely predominant were the sets

<u>assure/ensure</u> and <u>prepare</u>, each present in 17 percent of the mission statements. Several sets were also present in the ten-to-fifteen percent range, and they included the following in descending order:

- teach/educate/instruct/impart/instill
- achieve/meet
- commit/pledge
- maintain/sustain/support/secure/continue/retain/fund
- promote/advance/emphasize
- encourage/motivate/stimulate/engage
- improve/increase/enrich/exceed/maximize
- create/develop/establish.

Thus, although school divisions similarly described many actions that they would undertake, the most prevalent by far was that of providing/offering.

## Analysis of Specific Programs

The analysis of specific programs focused on language that identified particular programs, educational philosophies, educational policies, facilities/school environment issues, services/resources, staff, or administrative/managerial practices that a school division included as a component of its mission statement. Of the four initial screening categories, the specific programs category was the least widely shared among Virginia's division level mission statements. Nevertheless, out of 88 division-level mission statements in Virginia, fully 68 contained language that identified specific programs. Chi-square analysis of this (alpha = .05 and  $\mathcal{X}^2$ critical [1] = 3.84) indicated that the presence of language related to specific programs in 77 percent of the mission statements was statistically significant ( $\mathcal{X}^2$ critical = 26.18). Thus, language that identified specific programs was an area of shared content among Virginia division-level mission statements. (See Appendix G.)

Further analysis of the specific programs investigated the various forms that such programs took in the mission statements. Table 7 shows the seven categories that emerged from the language data in ascending order of the frequencies and percentages at which they occurred.

Specific Program	Frequency	Percentage
Specific educational policies	6	7%
Administration and management	9	10%
Services or resources	11	14%
Staff	15	17%
Educational philosophies	27	31%
Facilities or school environment	35	40%
General educational programs	55	63%

Table 7. Frequencies and Percentages of Specific Programs

Of the 88 public school divisions in Virginia with a mission statement, nearly two-thirds (63 percent) included some reference to general educational programs as a component of their mission. Second most predominant were references to the facilities or school environment (40 percent), and the third most widely shared reference was to specific educational philosophies (30 percent). Furthermore, given that the least widely shared language (the specific educational policies category) was common to seven percent of the mission statements in Virginia, there was no unique content regarding specific programs. Although the analysis of language by these themes was insightful, an analysis of more particular language also was illuminating of the content of mission statements. With regard to the category that identified "general educational programs," an emergent category was the predominance of references to the excellence or high quality of the programs offered. Of all 88 Virginia school divisions with a mission statement, 27 percent referred to the high quality or excellence of their educational/instructional programs and opportunities. Thus, more than one quarter of Virginia school divisions with a mission statement articulated the purpose of meeting the very highest of educational standards.

As Table 7 shows, nearly half of all Virginia mission statements contained language that identified facilities or school environment as part of their mission. More particularly, seven percent made references to facilities, and half of those references included reference to facilities being "well-maintained." Regarding school environment or climate, 33 percent made such a references. Only five percent referred to the school environment in general. Specific references to environment included the following:

- 18% of all mission statements referred to a safe, orderly, or disciplined environment
- 10% referred to a learning environment
- 9% referred to a nurturing or caring environment
- 2% referred to a positive environment
- 2% referred to a success-oriented environment
- 2% referred to a respectful environment
- 2% referred to a challenging environment
- 2% referred to a inviting environment
- 1% referred to a personalized environment
- 1% referred to a dynamic environment.

It is perhaps a sign of the times that the number of references to a safe, orderly environment nearly doubled the number of references to providing a learning environment.

The third most frequent category of specific programs was that which contained references regarding particular educational philosophies articulated by school divisions in their mission statements. Of the divisions with mission statements, 15 percent of them referred to the ideal that their educational system was based upon meeting the individual needs of children. Some six percent of school divisions with mission statements referred to the importance of ensuring the well-being and growth of students. Other indications of educational philosophy included <u>equity</u> (five percent of mission statements), <u>student self-responsibility</u> (two percent), and reference to educating the <u>whole child</u> (one reference). The latter of these represented a unique reference among Virginia division-level mission statements.

References to staff were a far less frequent among school divisions, occurring in only 17 percent of all mission statements. The references that were made could all be categorized into one of the following five sets, each of which was representative of no more than six school divisions and no less than two:

- excellence of staff
- staff development
- importance of respect and recognition for staff
- providing fair compensation to staff
- ensuring good working conditions for staff.

Thus, staff issues had a relatively minor representation among Virginia divisionlevel mission statements.

Another relatively minor category of references consisted of language that identified services or resources provided by a school division. Of all of the mission statements in Virginia, only nine percent referred to resources, services, structures, or equipment as a component of their mission. Two percent mentioned safe transportation specifically, and only one school division referred to technology as an essential component of their educational support for their mission.

Also minor among references to specific programs were those that addressed administrative and managerial practices. Such references were relatively few and far between:

- 5% referred to continual data analysis, a results-oriented approach, or measurable outcomes as a part of their mission
- 3% referred to ensuring cost-effectiveness
- 3% referred to providing educational leadership
- 2% referred to curriculum and instructional renewal
- 1% referred to efficient operations
- 1% referred to participatory decision making as part of the administrative structure
- 1% referred to having a customer-oriented focus.

Of these, the most frequent references were those that indicated a strategic planning approach to educational administration, specifically mentioning continual data analysis, a results-oriented approach, or measurable outcomes. These references are not surprising since the development of a mission statement is theoretically linked with strategic planning (Kaufman, 1988; McCune, 1986). The other references in the above list represented, of course, unique or relatively novel statements of administrative practice among Virginia school divisions.

The final category of specific programs included references to actual educational practices or policies employed or identified as part of a school division's mission statement. Although the number of such references were few, the range of topics that they covered was quite broad:

- 2% identified the importance of the principal as the visionary leader of a school
- 2% identified the teacher as being professionally responsible for the achievement of his or her students
- 1% identified standards in core academic subjects
- 1% identified sufficient time on task as an essential component of its mission
- 1% identified a fair grading system as an essential component of its mission
- 1% identified a comprehensive curriculum with increasing diversity from elementary, to middle, and to high school as an essential component of its mission
- 1% identified tutorial services as an essential component of its mission
- 1% identified parent workshops as essential component of its mission.

It is evident from the above that a great deal of novelty was found among the school divisions in regard to specific educational practices that they might undertake as part of their mission. It is likely that such novelty is most indicative of local concerns and issues that were being focused on and addressed by individual school divisions.

# The Question of Jefferson

The fourth and final research question addressed by the present study asked, What shared content among division-level mission statements was also shared with Virginia's state-level statement of mission, as articulated in the Virginia Constitution? As described in Chapter 1 of this study, Thomas Jefferson articulated the Commonwealth's purpose in establishing a public education system, and this statement has been reaffirmed and promoted by the Virginia legislature since then. Thus, the following serves as the Virginia's state-level mission statement:

Free government rests, as does all progress, upon the broadest possible diffusion of knowledge, and...the Commonwealth should avail itself of those talents which nature has sown so liberally among its people by assuring the opportunity for their fullest development by an effective system of education throughout the Commonwealth.

> Thomas Jefferson, Article 1, § 15, of the Bill of Rights of the Constitution of Virginia (Virginia Department of Education, 1992, p. 7)

In order to conduct a comparison between the 88 division-level mission statements in Virginia and the state-level mission statement that is quoted above, a content analysis using the established guidelines of this study was undertaken on Jefferson's words. Table 8 shows an analysis of Jefferson's statement using the five initial screening categories that were used to analyze the division-level mission statements.

•

continued on next page

Category 1 Stakeholders	Category 2 Student Outcomes	Category 3 Division Actions	Category 4 Specific Programs	Category 5 Emergent Categories
Free government — Commonwealth — throughout the Commonwealth	the broadest possible diffusion of knowledge 	by assuring  avail itself	the opportunity effective system of education	Belief statements: all progress[rests] upon  those talents which nature has sown so liberally among its people View of society: Free government

Table 8. Categorical Analysis of State-level Mission Statement

Similar to the analysis of the division-level mission statements, the language of the state-level mission statement could be categorized by the five initially established categories. Therefore, the division-level mission statements and the state-level mission statement shared content related to stakeholders, student outcomes, division actions, specific programs, and the emergent category of belief statements. Next, the content of the language of the state-level mission statement was analyzed more closely for each of the five categories and compared to the results of the analysis of the 88 division-level mission statements.

### Analysis of Stakeholders

Regarding stakeholders in public education, the state-level mission statement explicitly referred to the Commonwealth itself as a stakeholder. By way of contrast, only three percent of all the mission statements in Virginia specifically mentioned the state as a stakeholder in public education. Jefferson's language did, however, connote that stakeholdership in public education went

beyond the local community. In addition to referring to the Commonwealth, Jefferson also stated that "free government" relied upon public education. Given Jefferson's role in the founding of the nation, one may confidently assume that his implication was that the nation itself also holds an important stake in the education of the public. Note, this does not suggest that the federal government has a role in implementing public education-recall that Jefferson omitted any such implication in the Preamble to the Constitution. Reference to the nation's stakeholdership in public education was apparently only as a benefactor. Fully 44 percent of all division-level mission statements made such implications as well; thus, there was some level of de facto consensus between the state-level and almost half of all division-level mission statements of Virginia that stakeholdership in public education was held by the state and beyond. Nevertheless, 23 percent of the school divisions with mission statements suggested that stakeholdership did not go beyond the local community, and another 31 percent implied that students themselves were the only true stakeholders in education. Hence, a de facto consensus of opinion throughout the state regarding who the stakeholders in public education are was not clearly evident.

# Analysis of Student Outcomes

Student outcomes of public education were also a significant component of division-level mission statements, and they too were present in the state-level mission. One apparent reference in the state-level mission statement was to "the broadest possible diffusion of knowledge" as an outcome of education. This was

81

akin to the category identified among student outcomes of school divisions as <u>academic achievement</u>, which included student learning, acquisition of certain skills, knowledge, and behavior, and intellectual development. Nearly one-third of school divisions with a mission statement (31 percent) referred to this as an outcome of education; thus, there was a certain level of de facto consensus regarding this outcome between local school divisions and the state.

A second apparent but less formidable area of shared content was reflected in Jefferson's reference to "their fullest development." Seventeen percent of all Virginia school divisions with a mission statement also made references to a student's <u>fully developed potential</u>. Again, there was agreement between the state-level and division-level mission statements, but it was not widespread.

A less apparent series of parallels stemmed from two of Jefferson's more oblique references. As shown by the brackets used under Category 2 of Table 8 above, Jefferson referred to "free government" and its "progress" as being contingent upon the education of the public. In other words, the regulation and continuation of the government was an outcome of education. This idea paralleled the most widely agreed upon outcome among division-level mission statements: <u>citizenship</u>. Forty-two percent of all division-level mission statements cited citizenship as an outcome of education; therefore, there was a fairly high level of de facto consensus between the local school divisions and the state on this point.

There was not, however, absolute agreement. The division-level mission statements also widely referred to <u>lifelong learning</u> (33 percent), <u>economic</u> <u>productivity</u> (35 percent), and preparedness for the future (36 percent) as

outcomes of education. These outcomes were not mentioned or alluded to in the state-level mission statement and, therefore, indicated a significant difference in content.

## Analysis of Division Actions

All but one division-level mission statement referred to division actions as a component of their mission, and the state-level mission also referred to actions that the state should take in regard to its educational mission. Whereas the analysis of division-level actions found 75 different specific actions mentioned, the analysis of the state-level mission discovered only two.

Similar to 17 percent of the division-level mission statements, the statelevel mission statement referred to the action of "assuring." References to assuring and its synonym "ensuring" were the third most referred to action among school divisions with a mission statement. Although not widely shared among mission statements, the 17 percent that did refer to this action represented a significant proportion of the 75 different actions that were mentioned by school divisions; therefore, there was some level of de facto consensus between the stateand division-level mission statements regarding their actions.

The second action mentioned in the state-level mission statement was, in contrast, not evident at all among the division-level mission statements. Jefferson wrote that the Commonwealth should "avail itself." The content analysis of division-level mission statements did not identify the verb "avail" or any of its synonyms among the statements. Thus, the state-level reference to avail or take advantage of the products of education represented a significant difference in content between the state-level mission and the division-level missions.

Relatedly, another significant difference between the two levels of mission statements regarded the most widely expressed action among division-level mission statements. More than half of all mission statements referred to their action of <u>providing</u> educational services, etc. Notably, the state-level mission statement did not make any mention of this action; hence, a second significant difference in content between the state-level and division-level mission statements was in regard to the action of providing.

## Analysis of Specific Programs

The focus of the fourth initial screening category was on specific programs that school divisions offered as components of their mission statements. Content analysis found that 63 percent of division-level mission statements referred to general educational or instructional programs or opportunities. This was by far the most widely shared content among school division mission statements in this category. It also represented the only references made in the state-level mission statement. Jefferson referred to "the opportunity" and "an effective system of education" as provisions of education. Therefore, the general mention of an educational program and/or opportunity was an area of content shared between the state-level and division-level mission statements.

An illuminating difference between the two levels of mission statements was evident, however, upon closer analysis of the language. Specifically, the content analysis of division-level mission statements found that 27 percent of all mission statements referred to their division's educational programs as being of "quality" or "excellence." In another light, nearly half of all school divisions that referred to their general educational programs in their mission statements also attached such language indicating high or exceptional quality to them. By way of contrast, the state-level mission statement contained quite a different modifier. Jefferson wrote that the system of education should be "effective." As a modifier, the word "effective" is certainly less forceful than "excellent" or a synonym of it. Thus, the stated expectation of the educational programs of the public education system were quite different between the state's "effective" programs and the local divisions' "excellent" ones.

### Analysis of Emergent Categories

The final analysis between the state- and division-level mission statements focused on the emergent categories that the content analysis of division-level mission statements established. The division-level analysis found four emergent categories: partnerships, belief statements, views of society, and reference to the 21st century. Obviously, the last of these (reference to the 21st century) was not expected to be, nor was it, found in a statement penned in 18th century. Neither, however, did Jefferson's statement contain any reference to partnerships in education---a significant difference from the 39 percent of school divisions that mention such in the present day. Still, references to belief statements and to a view of society were found. Before looking at those more closely, however, it is important to remember that these emergent categories are not theoreticallyestablished components of a typical educational mission statement. Therefore, one should approach the interpretations of significance with some caution.

The state- and division-level mission statements did share some content characteristics regarding expressed belief statements. The state-level mission statement, for instance, stated that "all progress...[rests] upon...." This statement was quite similar to the reference by two local school divisions which included statements concerning how the future depends upon the success of the schools and the success of students. Significantly, however, it was only two school divisions that made such reference in their mission statements; therefore, the contention was not apparently wide-held.

A similar result was found regarding the second of Jefferson's asserted beliefs that there are "those talents which nature has sown so liberally among its people." This language employed by the state indicated a regard for the idea that all individuals have something to offer; as expressed by certain division-level mission statements, all students have worth. Although the state-level mission statement shared this belief statement with some division-level mission statements, the belief was not shared widely. Only two school divisions made mention of it in their mission statements--hardly a widely professed belief.

In addition to shared content regarding certain belief statements, there was also some evidence of a shared view of society between the state- and divisionlevel mission statements. Again, however, the breadth of the de facto consensus was not great. Specifically, the state-level mission statement alluded to a certain view of society with the language citing "free government" as a benefactor of education. Four school divisions also made similar references in their mission statements. Again, the shared content between the state-level mission statement and some of the division-level mission statements was itself not widely shared school divisions.

.

.....

- - - -

### Chapter 5: Conclusions

This study was undertaken to determine whether the mission statements of Virginia school divisions provide any insight into the purpose of K-12 public education in the Commonwealth. Secondarily, it was intended to investigate the similarities and differences between the school divisions' mission statements and the mission statement articulated by the state. With these purposes in mind, the following four research questions were pursued:

- 1. Do the mission statements of Virginia school divisions share certain content characteristics?
- 2. To what degrees (i.e., at what frequencies) are such content characteristics shared?
- 3. What content is not shared widely among the mission statements of Virginia school divisions?
- 4. What shared content among division-level mission statements is also shared with Virginia's state-level statement of mission, as articulated in the Virginia Constitution?

With the focus of this study on the mission statements of public school divisions, the limited literature of other studies of educational mission statements was reviewed. As described in Chapter 2 of the present study, just four such studies constituted the previous investigations into this component of educational planning (Conley, 1993; Lundquist & Rice, 1992; Newsom & Hayes, 1990-91; Rusch, 1992). Nevertheless, these studies consistently supported a research

methodology for the study of mission statements: content analysis. Using the designs of the previous studies of mission statements as guides and adhering to the theoretical grounds of content analysis methodology, a research design was developed and implemented. (Refer to Chapters 3 and 4.)

Although significant results were forthcoming from the study, one important caution bears attention prior to further discussion. In addition to the limitations of this study referred to in Chapter 3, it must be reiterated that the purpose of this study was not to explore actual practice, but to describe the <u>articulated</u> purposes of Virginia's public school divisions. Therefore, in drawing conclusions from and interpreting results, one is wise to keep in mind the adage that "<u>saying</u> it and <u>doing</u> it are not the same thing." That is, a mission statement may describe a purpose, but that does not mean that the purpose is necessarily served. Likewise, one must show caution in the reverse scenario: Simply because some purpose is <u>not</u> mentioned in a mission statement does not necessarily mean that it is not addressed in the actual practices of a school division. Thus, this study and its conclusions were limited in scope only to the articulated purposes of K-12 school divisions.

# **Conclusions**

The target population of this study was all of the K-12 public school divisions in the state of Virginia. Although school divisions in Virginia are contiguous with political boundaries, various arrangements among certain school divisions have resulted in fewer school divisions than counties, cities, and townships. Specifically, at the time of the study, there were 132 public school divisions operating in the state. All 132 school divisions responded to and were represented in the study (in other words, a 100 percent response rate to the study). The information provided by the public school divisions of Virginia and the data analysis undertaken for this study led to the following conclusions in regard to the four original research questions.

Prior to discussion of the particular conclusions, however, it is helpful to observe the broader relationships of the findings. In light of the investigation of de facto consensus concerning the mission of K-12 public education in Virginia, the findings show on one hand that there is, indeed, evidence of consensus in certain pockets of the content of mission statements. On the other hand, the findings also show that a strong degree of diversity of thought exists in other pockets of content among the mission statements of school divisions and even the state itself. Furthermore, the juxtaposition of these major findings illuminates certain issues regarding trends in public education. These major findings drive the discussion of conclusions which follows.

## Shared Content Among Division-Level Mission Statements

Although cited individually, the first two research questions of the study were addressed in tandem in order to determine whether or not de facto consensus existed among school divisions concerning the mission of K-12 public education in Virginia. The possibility of de facto consensus among division-level mission statements had never been specifically addressed previously in educational research, but it was alluded to by Rusch (1992) and also by Conley (1993) in their studies of the strategic plans of public school divisions. The results of the presented study add credence to their conclusions. Specifically, there is evidence of de facto consensus concerning the mission of K-12 public education in Virginia.

The first and most fundamental conclusion of the present study concerned the prevalence of mission statements among school divisions in Virginia. Of 132 school divisions, 89 indicated that they had a mission statement and 88 were able to provide a copy of their mission statement for the study. (The one unavailable statement was under revision.) In other words, fully two-thirds of all school divisions in Virginia had a mission statement. Therefore, the practice alone of articulating the purpose of a school division in the form of a mission statement is widely prevalent among Virginia's public education system.

A second notable conclusion regarding the shared expression of the purpose of public education was found in the prevalence of the initial screening categories among division-level mission statements. Building on the four studies of mission statements in education which preceded the present study, four screening categories were defined. (See Chapters 3 and 4.) Of the 88 school divisions with mission statements, 99 percent of them had language that identified stakeholders; 99 percent had language that identified division actions; 86 percent had language that identified student outcomes; and 77 percent had language that identified specific programs. These results support the findings of the four previous studies that such content areas comprise educational mission statements, and these results indicate that the division-level mission statements of Virginia share these content areas.

**9**1

But what specific content is shared among Virginia school divisions? One important conclusion involves the stakeholders in public education. Nearly onethird of all Virginia school divisions with a mission statement expressed the belief that the only stakeholders in K-12 public education are the students themselves. However, more than twice that number believe that stakeholdership includes not only students but also parents, the local community, and, in many cases, a larger community at the national or even global level. These results lead to the conclusion that students are unquestionably the central stakeholders in public education in Virginia. But the preponderance of school divisions that also identified various categories of adults suggests that stakeholdership in public education goes well-beyond students alone.

Virginia school divisions also expressed a degree of consensus concerning the student outcomes which public education serves. Twenty-two student outcomes were found among the mission statements, but none of these was present in a majority of the statements. There was, however, evidence of a single most common student outcome, and that was <u>citizenship</u>, which was referred to by 42 percent of the divisions with a mission statement. In addition, <u>preparedness</u> for the future, economically productive, lifelong learning, and <u>academic</u> <u>achievement</u> were all relatively common in representation. Again, however, there was no majority opinion regarding the student outcomes of K-12 public education in Virginia. The only majority consensus in this category was that identifying student outcomes is an important component of establishing the mission of education. Perhaps the implication is as John Dewey expressed it: "Ends are, in fact, literally endless, forever coming into existence as new activities occasion new consequences." If so, student outcomes are eternally malleable, as might be suggested by the lack of majority among the results of present study of outcomes.

Regarding the content category of division actions, a different result was found. Although 75 different division actions were identified in the mission statements of public school divisions, a 58 percent majority of those school divisions included the action to provide within their mission. Not only does this represent a majority, but, given the relatively large number of different division actions, the fact that one action stands out so prevalently is indeed significant. To further illustrate the significance, one need only be made aware that the next most prevalent division action was expressed by only 17 percent of school divisions. Thus, the act of providing represents a majority consensus regarding the action incumbent on school divisions as part of the purpose of K-12 public education in Virginia.

The act of providing begs the question, providing what? The fourth content category offered some insight into just what school divisions said they would provide as part of their mission. Although seven different categories emerged from the language data, only one of the categories was represented in a majority of mission statements. Specifically, 63 percent of division-level mission statements indicated that the division would provide a general educational program or educational opportunities. Thus, a majority consensus was evident supporting the idea that the purpose of K-12 public education is to provide an educational program.

In summary of the above conclusions, a degree of de facto consensus is evident among the mission statements of Virginia's K-12 public school divisions. There is decided consensus that students are the primary stakeholders in public education. They stand the most to gain or to lose with its success or failure, but adult groups, including parents and citizens, also bear a significant stake in education. As to the outcomes for students upon graduation from the Virginia system of public education, there is a minority consensus (42 percent) that good citizenship is the paramount outcome. No absolute majority regarding student outcomes exists, although most school divisions identify student outcomes in general as being central to their mission. A majority of school divisions does, however, agree that it is incumbent upon them to provide the general educational programs necessary for achieving the mission of public education. These conclusions represent the characteristics of de facto consensus concerning the mission of K-12 public education in Virginia.

### Unique Content of Individual Mission Statements

The third research question addressed by the present study asked, What content is not shared widely among the mission statements of Virginia's school divisions? Given that the results of the content analysis identified numerous cases of infrequently shared content (content shared by some, but not a majority of, school divisions), some of the most relevant conclusions may be drawn from the cases of truly novel, or unique, references.

Regarding the stakeholders of education, for instance, the only unique reference was made among the 88 school divisions was one division's indication that the state was the highest level of stakeholdership. All other mission statements that identified stakeholders referred specifically to parents, the local community, the nation/society, and/or the world/global society as the highest level of stakeholdership. The implication is that the view of the state as the single highest level of stakeholdership in public education is decidedly rare.

In reference to student outcomes, only one school division identified <u>caring</u> as a student outcome of their school division. It was notably absent from all other mission statements. Presumably, the purpose of public education does not include teaching students how to be caring of others. Interestingly, the outcomes of environmental skills, habits of physical well-being, and positive selfesteem—the care of the environment, the care of one's own body, and the care of one's own ego, respectively--were more commonly shared among school divisions than the care of others. The significance of this fact is left to the reader.

Regarding school division actions, there were fully 75 that school divisions identified for themselves. This fact alone suggests an apparent lack of consensus concerning exactly what school divisions are supposed to <u>do</u>. Moreover, there were 32 references to division actions out of those 75 that were entirely unique to a particular school division. An additional 39 were found in ten percent or fewer of all mission statements--clearly a lack of consensus regarding most of the division actions identified in the mission statements. (The exception, of course, was the action <u>to provide</u>, which stands as the only action widely shared.) The broad range of actions identified by division-level mission statements is not surprising in the context of previous studies, however. In 1992, Conley drew a similar conclusion and noted that mission statements "do not seem to be limiting or reducing the educational mission of the school district" (p. 25) but expanding it.

A final category of widely varied language was that of specific programs identified by divisions as component parts of their mission. In reference to the school environment, for instance, only one school division referred to the school environment as being "personalized," and only one referred to it as being "dynamic." Regarding specific educational philosophies, only one school division referred specifically to educating the "whole child." Only one school division referred specifically to "technology" as a resource to be provided in support of its mission, while three separate school divisions referred individually to the administrative practices of "efficient operations," "participatory decisionmaking," and a "customer-oriented focus," respectively. Finally, with regard to educational practices and policies, one school division each referred to "standards in core subjects," "time on task," "fair grading," "elementary, middle, and high school alignment," "tutorial services," and "parent workshops," respectively. Although it is difficult to determine the specific impetuses for these unique references in the mission statements, it is probably safe to conclude that each is a component of its school division's mission statement in response to a local issue or concern at the time of the statement's writing.

In summary of the many unique and infrequently-shared references among the mission statements of Virginia's public school divisions, it is evident that a broad amount of content is not indicative of a de facto consensus among school divisions. In other words, although there are certain shared content characteristics, there is also content not widely shared and, in several instances, unique to particular school divisions. Therefore, de facto consensus concerning

96

the mission of K-12 public education in Virginia is of a limited scope. There is much variability among individual school divisions.

#### Similarities and Differences Between the Division- and State-Level Missions

The fourth and final research question addressed by the present study asked, What shared content among division-level mission statements is also shared with Virginia's state-level statement of mission, as articulated in the Virginia Constitution? There were several lines of both similarities and differences within each of the major content categories brought out through the content analysis. Before discussing these, however, it is important to mention the apparent limitation of the comparison. Mission statements are a product of contemporary educational planning techniques. What stands for Virginia's statelevel educational mission statement was written, by way of contrast, some two hundred years ago. There is no question that the comparison of language is historically bound; therefore, the conclusions and interpretations that follow must be considered with some caution. Nevertheless, the validity of the comparison must likewise be considered as reasonable, for, although the words are two hundred years old, these same words have been reaffirmed and formally readopted by the Virginia state legislature in the present day. With an understanding of these balancing issues, the following conclusions and interpretations are offered.

#### Stakeholders.

Language that identified stakeholders proved to be one area of content with much uncertainty between the division- and state-level mission statements.

For instance, 93 percent of all division-level mission statements referred to "students" and/or "children" as stakeholders in K-12 public education. The statelevel mission statement made no such reference to the youths who are educated through a system of public instruction; instead, the state-level mission statement referred only to "people." This reference supported other references to stakeholders made in state-level mission. Specifically, the state-level mission identified both the Commonwealth and the nation as stakeholders in Virginia's public education system. By way of contrast, nearly one-quarter of all divisionlevel mission statements indicated that stakeholdership in public education did not go beyond the local level. In fact, nearly another one-third of school divisions indicated that stakeholdership did move beyond that of the students themselves. Still, 28 percent of school divisions agreed with the state that the highest level of stakeholdership in Virginia's public education system was the national/societal level. Thus, although there was no majority consensus between the division- and state-level mission statements regarding stakeholdership, there was also not complete disagreement.

Indeed, one notable point of clear consensus between the local school divisions and the state was that the state itself is certainly not the highest level of stakeholdership in public education. Not only did the state-level mission statement indicate this, but 99 percent of all division-level mission statements indicated this as well. On this point, at least, there was clearly de facto consensus: Although public education is within the purview of state government, the state is not the single stakeholder in public education. The unclarity is whether stakeholdership is solely the children's, whether it stops at the level of the local

community, or whether it includes the national society and, perhaps, beyond. The present study could not distinguish that.

#### Student outcomes.

A second content category of similarities and differences between the division- and state-level mission statements was that which identified student outcomes of public education. As described in Chapter 4, school divisions identified 22 different student outcomes but no majority consensus was evident for any one of these. For purposes of comparison, Jefferson's language identified three such student outcomes, each of which was represented to some degree in the division-level mission statements. Therefore, there was, again, no clear consensus between the divisions and the state regarding student outcomes, but there was some significant level of agreement.

Specifically, the state-level mission statement included language that identified academic achievement, the full development of potential, and citizenship as student outcomes of public education. Of these, citizenship was the most commonly identified student outcome among division-level mission statements; therefore, citizenship represents the most widely agreed upon student outcome between local school divisions and the state. Closely following citizenship in terms of frequency was academic achievement, which nearly onethird of all school divisions identified as a student outcome. The intent of fully developing the potential of individuals was less widely referred to by school divisions. Also notable in terms of apparent lack of agreement was the omission of reference in the state-level mission to the relatively frequent division-level outcomes of lifelong learning, economic productivity, and general preparedness for the future. Thus, between the division- and state-level mission statements, the strongest degree of de facto consensus concerning student outcomes was that of developing good citizenship. Citizenship was the single most common goal identified for students among local school divisions and the state.

#### Division actions.

Of all the school divisions in Virginia with mission statements, everyone except one identified one or more actions that they would undertake in pursuit of their mission. A total of 75 separate actions were identified. The state-level mission statement identified two actions, one of which was shared with the school divisions and the other of which was not.

One action identified by the state-level mission statement was to assure the achievement of certain components of its mission. The act of assuring, or ensuring, was by comparison the third most frequently identified actions among school divisions. However, given the broad spectrum of different actions that were identified, only 17 percent of division-level mission statements included such language. Thus, although some level of agreement existed between state-and division-level mission statements, it was quite limited.

This apparent lack of consensus was even more evident in regard to a second action identified in the state-level mission statement. The state mission statement included that the Commonwealth should avail itself of talents among its people. Interestingly, the verb "to avail" was not mentioned once among the division-level mission statements. In fact, the single most common action

referred to by the school divisions was "to provide," which was identified by more than half of all division-level mission statements. The contrast between these two actions (to avail and to provide) illuminates a significant lack of accord between the division- and state-level missions. These two actions are very nearly antonyms of each other and seem to point out the conclusion that, whereas school divisions are focusing on providing educational services, the state is seeking to take advantage of the outcomes.

#### Educational programs.

The fourth content category compared between the division- and statelevel mission statements was that of educational programs identified as a component of the educational mission. Although several references to specific programs were found among division-level mission statements, the majority of school divisions (63 percent) made reference to their providing a general educational program, instruction, or opportunity. Similarly, Jefferson's language identified a "system of education" as a component of the state's educational mission. Thus, there is clear agreement between the majority of school divisions and the state regarding the provision of an educational program.

An interesting contrast, however, is found in the modifiers used by the local school divisions and the state to describe these programs. Of all of the school divisions that referred to providing an educational program or opportunity as part of their mission, nearly half of them also identified such programs as being of high quality or excellence. In short, the educational programs provided by these school divisions would be of the very best quality. By way of contrast, however, the language of the state-level mission statement was quite different. The state-level mission statement described that its system of education would be "effective." Although one may argue what the meaning of "effective" is, it is clear that the stated level of expectation (the difference between "effective" and "excellent") is a difference of degree. The difference highlights, at the least, a lack of de facto consensus between the state- and division-level mission statements regarding the educational programs incumbent to their missions.

#### Emergent categories.

As described in Chapters 3 and 4 of the present study, the division-level mission statements were also analyzed for content that did not conform to the parameters of the four initial screening categories. This analysis resulted in four emergent categories--groupings of language by themes, which included partnerships, belief statements, views of society, and references to the 21st century. Not surprisingly, when the language of the Jefferson's two hundred year-old mission statement was analyzed, no references to the eminent 21st century were forthcoming! Neither, however, was any reference to partnerships found. Nevertheless, references to the remaining two emergent categories were evident.

Belief statements emerged as a category among the division-level mission statements contrary to the theoretical practice of strategic planning (which posits that belief statements are distinct from mission statements). Eight different belief statements about education were expressed by just 17 school divisions, and the most frequently expressed belief was that all children can learn. The state-level mission statement also expressed some belief statements about education; notably absent, however, was the sentiment that all children can learn. Instead, the statelevel mission statement indicated beliefs that progress depends upon successful education and that all individuals have worth. Only two school divisions each expressed similar beliefs in their mission statements. Therefore, there was no de facto consensus regarding expressed beliefs about education.

The second emergent category identified in both the division- and statelevel mission statements concerned articulations of a particular view of society. Similar to the conclusion drawn regarding belief statements, however, this content category was not commonly shared. Specifically, Jefferson's only reference to a particular view of society was that the American society is and should be democratic. Such references were also evident among division-level mission statements, but only among four of them. Thus, although citizenship (discussed previously) was the most widely shared student outcome in Virginia, the promotion of the democratic nature of American society was far less widely expressed.

### Summary.

In summary of the analysis of the division-level and state-level mission statements of Virginia, a clear, majority consensus was not evident on any given area of content. Certainly, the division- and state-level mission statements did share language that identified the broad categories of stakeholders, student, outcomes, division actions, educational programs, belief statements, and views of society, but no particular language was widely shared regarding who the stakeholders are, which student outcomes are most predominant, what division actions are essential, etc. In short, de facto consensus does was not widely evident between the division-level mission statements and state-level mission statement of Virginia.

### Interpretations and Trends

One of the purposes of this study was to identify instances of de facto consensus concerning the mission of K-12 public education in Virginia by analyzing the content of division-level mission statements. Given this, much attention was directed to instances where certain content was shared by a majority of school divisions. But the descriptive nature of this study also allowed for the investigation of certain trends illuminated by the interpretations of the study's conclusions. Such interpretations and trends are cursorily discussed below, not to definitively argue their significance, but to suggest some additional insights gained from their presence.

#### Safe Schools

Although much attention was given in this study to instances where a majority consensus existed among school divisions, insight was also gained when pockets of agreement were evident among school divisions. One such case was the frequency of references among division-level mission statements to the school environment. Fully one-third of division-level mission statements made some reference to the school environment, and the two most frequent of such references were to ensuring that the school environment would be (1) a place of learning and (2) a place of safety, orderliness, and/or discipline. What is interesting in this

result, however, is the frequency of the references to each of these. Specifically, double the number of references to the safety and orderliness of the school environment were made in division-level mission statements than were made to providing a learning environment. This fact suggests the central role that school safety is coming to play in the priorities of public education. Ensuring that a school is safe is a priority to ensuring that a school is a place of learning.

### Partnerships

A second emerging trend illuminated by the data concerns references in division-level mission statements to educational partnerships. Language that identified partnerships suggested that schools and school divisions alone can no longer shoulder the expanding mission of public education. Formal and informal partnerships with parents, community agencies, and other agencies are needed to fulfill the mission of public education. In the present study, 39 percent of division-level mission statements referred to partnerships as a component of their mission. This apparent trend reflects a similar finding by Conley (1993) in his study of division-level strategic plans and mission statements. Conley, too, identified educational partnerships as a trend in K-12 public education.

### The Uncertain Future

A third emerging trend evident from the analysis of division-level mission statements in Virginia has less to do with what a school division pursues or how it pursues its mission, but <u>when</u>. One of the emergent categories identified through the content analysis concerned references to the 21st century. Although only six

percent of division-level mission statements made such a reference, these references stood out from other references because they did not conform to any of the initial screening categories. The presence of these references among the mission statements might be interpreted in one of two lights. On one hand, the relatively few number of references to the approaching 21st century may suggest a lack of forward thinking on the part of educational planners. On the other hand, the relatively few lack of references may be indicative of when many of the division-level mission statements in Virginia were written.

Just one-third of school divisions indicated when their mission statement was adopted in their division, but, from this data, some sense of the temporal context of the mission statements could be determined. The "oldest" mission statements (two of them) were adopted in 1988, while the "youngest" (five mission statements) were adopted in 1995. On average, the division-level mission statements were adopted in 1993.--just three years prior to this study and just eight years from the 21st century. These facts do seem to implicate local educational planners.

The 21st century is fast approaching, and some school divisions acknowledged such within their mission statements. Why didn't others? Perhaps one reason is that mission statements are linked to strategic planning theory, and strategic planning theory promotes the development of <u>five-year</u> plans. If most division-level mission statements were written in the early 1990s, the 21st century would be "out-of-range" of the mission's purview. Another explanation may be that many of the mission statements could have been written and adopted in the early 1990s or even in the 1980s. From the information provided by local school

divisions for this study, it is difficult to know with certainty. It may be that the reason many of the school divisions did not indicate when their mission statement was adopted was because it was adopted relatively long ago. If so, this would explain, at least in part, the scarcity of references to the 21st century.

There is, however, one other way to view this question. Perhaps the future is posing itself as a great uncertainty to educational planners. Another set of forward-looking language that was found in the analysis of division-level mission statements was a student outcome identified as <u>preparedness for future challenges</u>. This student outcome was present in more than one-third of division-level mission statements, and it was the second most frequently referred to student outcome among school divisions. As frequently as it was referred to, however, this student outcome was ambiguous in its meaning. How is one prepared? For what is one prepared? Does anyone really know what challenges the future will bring? Given the concise nature of mission statements, answers to these questions were not forthcoming, but how could they be? The student outcome of preparedness for the future is replete with uncertainty. Perhaps then the combined references to the future among many of the division-level mission statements in Virginia indicates an acknowledgment of the impending future and an uncertainty about it.

### Strategic Planning in Public Education

This study was driven by the determination to investigate the stated purpose of public education in Virginia, and one of the first logistical questions that had to be addressed was, Where does one find the stated purpose of public education? As described in Chapter 2, many forms have been taken to articulate the purposes of education during the history of public education in the United States. But one must recognize that content and form are integrally related; therefore, a shared form of articulation was sought, and the mission statement associated with the contemporary trend of strategic planning in education was focused upon. Thus, even though the present study was ostensibly one of determining purpose and analyzing mission statements, it also served to tangentially describe the state of strategic planning in education.

As established in Chapter 2, mission statements are a hallmark of strategic planning; thus, the presence of a mission statement is an indicator of past and/or current strategic planning activities. Significantly, 67 percent of the school divisions in Virginia had and provided a mission statement for this study. This indicated that two-thirds of the school divisions in Virginia have undertaken strategic planning as a means of educational planning.

The finding that strategic planning has been prevalent among Virginia's school divisions is indeed significant, for it also is relevant to a trend in Virginia public education developing at the very moment of the writing of this study. During the 1996 session of the Virginia legislature, House Joint Resolution No. 196 had passed both the House and Senate. This bill will create the Virginia Commission on the Future of Public Education, whose purpose will be to develop a mission, goals, and strategic plan for public education in Virginia. The relevance of the present study of characteristics and degrees of de facto consensus concerning the mission of K-12 public education in Virginia is clear in regard to the Commission. Furthermore, the establishment of the commission indicates that, not only at the division level but also at the state level, strategic planning is a

viable means of educational planning at work in Virginia's public education system.

# Consensus in Public Education

The essential purpose of the present study was to determine whether any degree of consensus regarding the purpose of public education existed in the state of Virginia. As described previously, there is evidence of some such consensus, at least among local school divisions, but less so between school divisions and the state. But what of consensus in public education within other states, or between states, or even at the national level? Such questions were beyond the purview of the current study, but the indications of varying degrees of consensus in Virginia do support current trends in education nationwide.

As described in the beginning of the present study, public education in the United States is a responsibility omitted from the federal government in the Preamble of the Constitution but undertaken by each of the fifty states. Historical practice, however, has placed the funding and governance of public education on local communities. As the findings of the present study suggest, though, local communities are not entirely unique in their articulated educational purposes. In fact, there does seem to be some degree of consensus regarding the stakeholders, student outcomes, division actions, specific programs, and others components among the division-level mission statements of Virginia's local communities. These findings support the findings of Conley, who in 1993 studied division-level strategic plans and mission statements and concluded that education across the United States seems to be moving toward consensus. There is other evidence of growing consensus as well. In their review of curriculum issues and trends in public education, Ornstein and Hunkins (1993) wrote, "A new consensus is developing, one that promotes national needs and goals as more important than local or pluralistic needs and goals" (p. 355). There does seem to be a trend toward achieving a national consensus regarding public education. Indeed, the present study found that nearly half of all Virginia division-level mission statements indicated that stakeholdership went beyond the state level to the national or even global level. Further evidence for this trend is found in the current work of national educational organizations to establish national curriculum standards, national teaching licenses, national assessment practices, and more. Indeed, during the very month of the writing of this study, the governors of each of the fifty states met for the 1996 Education Summit. One of the stated goals of this summit was "to build commitment among the participants for taking prompt actions to help states and communities build consensus on education issues" (Carter, 1996).

Achieving consensus is a growing trend in public education. The present study sought to determine the characteristics and degrees of de facto consensus concerning the mission of public education in the state of Virginia. Perhaps, though, a more significant conclusion to draw from this study concerns the emphasis, itself, on the growing trend toward consensus in public education.

#### continued on next page

#### **Recommendations for Further Study**

As with most research, the present study seems to raise more questions than it has answered, and such questions constitute recommendations for further study.

One recommendation is formed from a limitation of the present study: its lack of generalizability to other states. The logical extension of the study, therefore, would be replication of it in other states to determine the characteristics and degrees of de facto consensus concerning the mission of public education in those states. Obviously, conclusions could then also be drawn to more directly address the apparent trend toward a national consensus in public education.

On a smaller scale, an analysis of the division-level mission statements in Virginia could be used as further insight into resolving the disparity debate, which is currently troubling the state. The debate centers on whether it is incumbent upon the state to ensure that all school divisions have truly equal or, as is the current practice, equitable financial resources dependent upon local tax bases. The result in the state has been disparity in the amount of money spent per students among the school divisions in Virginia. If common components of a public education mission are shared, should local school divisions be equally financed to achieved such ends? The answer to the question may be further illuminated by a study that compared and contrasted the content characteristics of the mission statements of school divisions on each side of the debate.

Other future studies also may involve more detailed analyses of some of the findings brought to light by this study. For example, are there substantive differences in philosophies, practices, or outcomes of school divisions that

indicate students as the sole stakeholders of education compared to school divisions that indicate various adult groups as stakeholders? Do the 22 different student outcomes identified by Virginia's school divisions reflect a particular educational philosophy, such as society-centered, subject-centered, or child-centered? One may also investigate what level of cognition these outcomes demand of students. Similarly, what are the connotative and denotative meanings of some of the word choices of division-level mission statements? For instance, does the division action to provide suggest a position of accountability or a subtle dismissal of accountability? Or one may further inquire whether the mission statements are ultimately the products of educational planning or political wrangling. Inquiries such as these derive from the present study.

Other recommendations for further study build from another limitation of the present study. This study was limited in its scope to analyzing only that which school divisions and the state articulated as their missions. Of course, a more practical line of questioning evolves from this regarding that which school divisions actually accomplish. Do school divisions achieve their missions in observable ways? If so, do they achieve the same ends by the same means? If they do not achieve their missions, is it because the results are not observable or because they have not been successful? And, of course, the entire premise of strategic planning and mission statements can be called into question by investigating whether there are differences in the achievements of school divisions with a mission statement and those without.

More immediately, and perhaps more practically, it is recommended that the proposed Commission on the Future of Public Education in Virginia study its

own task well. Prior to creating a mission for public education in Virginia, it must look (as the present study has) at the mission statements of its constituent school divisions. Consideration should be given to the purposes of public education that have been articulated both with and without apparent consensus. And the Commission must, of course, also consider the hallowed words of Thomas Jefferson's opinions of public education, which now serve as the mission statement of public education for Virginia. Have two hundred years altered the meaning of those words? Does the lack of clear agreement between the statelevel mission statement and the division-level mission statements indicate a flaw in one or the other levels of mission statements?

These questions for further study will be immediately relevant to a commission charged with writing a mission statement to capture the consensus of opinion regarding the purpose of public education for an entire state, for, as the present study indicates, true consensus--whether built or come by--is not easily indicates is not easily found in the muddy waters of public education.

## References

- Alexander, F. (1993). National standards: A new conventional wisdom. <u>Educational Leadership 50</u> (5), 9-10.
- Below, P. J., Morrisey, G. L., & Acomb, B. L. (1987). <u>The executive guide to</u> <u>strategic planning.</u> San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Bogdan, R. C., & Biklen, S. K. (1992). <u>Qualitative research for education.</u> (2nd ed.) Boston: Allyn and Bacon.
- Borg, W. R., & Gall, M. D. (1989). <u>Educational research: An introduction.</u> (5th ed.). New York: Longman.
- Carter, G. R. (1996). The 1996 national education summit: A challenge to all. <u>Education Update</u>, <u>38</u>(2), 2. Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development newsletter.
- Cohen, L., & Manion, L. (1994). <u>Research methods in education</u> (4th ed.). New York: Routledge.
- Conant, J. (1959). The American high school today. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Conley, D. T. (1992). Strategic planning in America's schools: An exploratory study. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association. San Francisco: April 20-24, 1992. (ERIC document 345 359)
- Conley, D. T. (1993). Strategic planning in practice: An analysis of purposes, goals, and procedures. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association. Atlanta, GA: April 12-16, 1992. (ERIC document 358 530)

Cook, W. (1990). <u>Strategic planning for America's schools</u> (Rev. ed.). Arlington, VA: American Association of School Administrators.

- Crowl, T. K. (1993). <u>Fundamentals of educational research.</u> Madison, WI: Brown & Benchmark.
- Cuban, L. (1984). <u>How teachers taught: Consistency and change in American</u> classrooms 1890-1980. New York: Longman.
- Eisner, E. W. (1993). Why standards may not improve schools. <u>Educational</u> <u>Leadership 50</u> (5), 22-23.
- Fraenkel, J. R., & Wallen, N. E. (1993). <u>How to design and evaluate research in</u> <u>education</u> (2nd ed.). New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Gay, L. R. (1987). <u>Competencies for analysis and application</u> (3rd ed.). New York: Merrill.
- Gleick, E. (1995, January). The costly crisis in our schools. <u>Time</u>, pp. 67-68.
- Herman, J. (1989). A vision for the future: Site-based strategic planning. NASSP Bulletin 73 (518), 23-27.
- House Joint Resolution No. 196. Commission on the Future of Public Education. (1996). Virginia State Legislature. Delegate Bennett, Chief Patron.
- Kaufman, R. & Zahn, D. (1993). <u>Quality management plus: The continuous</u> <u>improvement of education</u>. Newbury Park, CA: Corwin Press.
- Kaufman, R. (1972). <u>Educational systems planning</u>. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Kaufman, R. (1988). <u>Planning educational systems: A results-based approach.</u> Lancaster, PA: Technomic Publishing.

- Kiess, H. O. (1989). <u>Statistical concepts for the behavioral sciences</u>. Boston: Allyn & Bacon.
- Kotler, P., & Fox, K. F. A. (1985). <u>Strategic marketing for educational</u> institutions. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, Inc.
- Kotler, P., & Murphy, P. E. (1981). Strategic planning for higher education. Journal of Higher Education 52 (5), 470-489.
- Krippendorf, K. (1980). <u>Content analysis: An introduction to its methodology</u>. Newbury Park: Sage.
- Lewis, J., Jr. (1983). Long-range and short-range planning for educational administrators. Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon, Inc.
- Lundquist, A. R., & Rice, J. K. (1991, Winter). The mission statements of women's colleges and coeducational colleges with women's studies programs: Similarities and differences. <u>Initiatives, 53(4)</u>, 9-18. (ERIC Document 490 897).
- Manning, P. K., & Cullum-Swan, B. (1994). Narrative, Content, and Semiotic
   Analysis. In N. K Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), <u>Handbook of</u>
   <u>Qualitative Research</u> (pp. 463-477). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Mauriel, J. J. (1989). <u>Strategic leadership for schools</u>. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- McCarthy, M. M., & Cambron, N. H. (1981). <u>Public school law: Teachers' and</u> <u>students' rights.</u> Boston: Allyn and Bacon.
- McCune, S. D. (1986). <u>Guide to strategic planning for educators.</u> Alexandria, VA: ASCD Publications.

- McQuade, F., & Champagne, D. W. (1995). <u>How to make a better school.</u> Needham Heights, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Nasaw, D. (1981). <u>Schooled to order: A social history of public schooling in the</u> <u>United States.</u> New York: Oxford University Press.

National Association of Secondary School Principals (NASSP). (1987).

<u>Developing a mission statement for the middle level school.</u> (Available from NASSP, 1904 Association Drive, Reston, VA 22091). (ERIC Document 292 209).

- National Commission on Excellence in Education. (1983). <u>A nation at risk: The</u> <u>imperative for educational reform.</u> Washington, DC: U. S. Government Printing Office.
- Newsom, W., & Hayes, C. R. (1990-91). Are mission statements worthwhile? <u>Planning for Higher Education 19</u>, 28-30.
- Oliva, P. F. (1993). <u>Supervision for today's schools</u> (4th ed.). New York: Longman.
- O'Neil, J. (1993). Turning the system on its head. <u>Educational Leadership 51</u> (1), 8-13.
- O'Neil, J. (1995). On lasting school reform: A conversation with Ted Sizer. <u>Educational Leadership 52</u> (5), 4-9.
- Ornstein, A. C., & Hunkins, F. (1993). <u>Curriculum foundations, principles, and</u> <u>theory</u> (2nd ed.). Boston: Allyn and Bacon.
- Palmer, T. M. (1992). Human resource development and corporate mission statement. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Association for Adult and Continuing Education, Anaheim, CA.

- Pedan, W. (ed.). (1982). <u>Notes on the state of Virginia</u>. New York: W. W. Norton & Co.
- Phelan, D. J., et al. (1991). Strategic planning: A catalyst for shared governance and leadership development. Paper presented at the Annual Convention of the American Association of Community and Junior Colleges, Kansas City, MO.
- Ravitch, D. (1983). <u>The troubled crusade: American education 1945-1980.</u> New York: Basic Books.
- Raze, N. (1986). <u>Overview of strategic planning.</u> (Administrative report). Redwood, CA: San Mateo County Office of Education. (ERIC Document 270 865).
- Riley, R. W. (1994, September). Strong families, strong schools. Presentation to the National Press Club, Washington, DC. (Available from the United States Department of Education, 400 Maryland Ave., SW, Washington, DC 20202-0100.)
- Rusch, E. A. (1992). Strategic planning: Looking through the lens of Foucault.
  Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association. San Francisco: April 20-24, 1992. [ERIC document 346 615]

School Board of City of Richmond v. Parham, 243 S. E. 2d 468 (Va. 1978).

Sizer, T. R. (1992). <u>Horace's compromise</u>. Boston: Houghton Mifflin.

Stott, K., & Walker, A. (1992). The nature and use of mission statements in
 Singaporean schools. <u>Educational Management and Administration 20</u>
 (1), 49-57. (ERIC Document 441 132)

- Swanson, A. D., & King, R. A. (1991). <u>School finance: Its economics and</u> <u>politics.</u> White Plains, NY: Longman.
- Tyack, D. B. (1974). <u>The one best system: A history of American urban</u> education. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- U. S. Department of Education. (1991). <u>America 2000: An education strategy.</u> (revised). Washington, DC: U. S. Government Printing Office.
- Virginia Department of Education. (1992). <u>Virginia school laws</u>. Charlottesville, VA: The Michie Company.
- Weber, R. P. (1990). <u>Basic content analysis</u> (2nd ed.). Newbury Park, CA: Sage.

Willis, R., Schubert, W. ; Bullough, R.; Kridel, C.; & Holton, J. (eds.). (1994). <u>The American curriculum: A documentary history</u>. Westport, CT: Praeger.

:

#### Appendix A: Sample Letter of Request to School Divisions

(Computer codes indicated by <..>.)

<Title>. <First Name> <Last Name>, Superintendent <School Division> <Street Address> <City>, Virginia <Zip Code>

Dear <Title>. <Last Name>:

I am conducting a study of division-level mission statements in Virginia, and I am writing to ask for your assistance in my data collection. I am confident that you will find my request very easy to oblige.

The study is the basis for my dissertation, which I am completing as part of my doctoral program in educational administration at The College of William and Mary under the direction of Dr. Robert Hanny, Dr. James Stronge, and Dr. Robert Estabrook. The purpose of the study is to determine the characteristics and degrees of de facto consensus among Virginia's school divisions concerning the purpose of K-12 public education in the Commonwealth. I am employing a research method called content analysis, and the data needed to complete the study are the actual mission statements (or similar statements of purpose) of Virginia's public school divisions.

Please use the enclosed self-addressed, stamped envelope to send to me a copy of your school division's mission statement. (If your division does not have a mission statement per se, please send a copy of your division's statement of philosophy, organizational goals, or equivalent statement of the purpose of the school division.) To conduct a valid study, I must have such a statement from each school division in the state. I will blindly review the statements, and I will not include the specific names of school divisions in my study. Although the mission statement is all that I need to conduct the study, I would appreciate a notation of the year that the statement was adopted. It would contribute important, supplementary data to the study.

Thank you in advance for your consideration and assistance. If you have any questions or concerns, please do not hesitate to contact me by phone or mail. If you are interested in an executive summary of the results of my study when it is completed, please note that on your return letter to me. I would be happy to provide you and your division with the findings.

Sincerely,

Christopher R. Gareis, Ed.S. Toano Middle School Williamsburg-James City County Public Schools

### Appendix B: Transcribed Mission Statements of Virginia School Divisions

#### (Presented in random order.)

1. Teaching, Learning, and Caring are the most important products for everyone in the \_\_\_\_\_ County Public Schools.

2. County Public Schools will provide the educational opportunity for all students to acquire the skills, knowledge and attitudes to enable them to live, learn and work in an interdependent, global society. Parents, citizens, and children will share in the development of academic programs and facilities that will enable the schools to serve as a center for the life of the community. These programs will involve all the community in a manner which draws strength from its diversity, fosters mutual respect and improves our society. The combined efforts of the schools and the community will educate students to become life-long learners who are prepared to meet the challenges of the twenty-first century.

3. Our Mission is to provide a high quality, comprehensive and meaningful education for all students. In our schools, each student will experience success. Each student will be expected to succeed within the bounds of their abilities or chosen educational goals. Each student will be treated as an individual, given the tools to be a life-long learner, and taught to function effectively as a member of a group and as a productive member of society.

4. The mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ County Public Schools is to provide a quality of education for all students through the collaborative efforts of students, staff, parents, and community.

5. We believe that the school must play an important role in the development of individuals capable of functioning effectively in a constantly changing world. We believe however, that this is a responsibility which must be shared between the home, the school and the community. we also believe that each student must assume major responsibility for his/her own development.

We believe the school experience should prepare students for life in the society which exists and provide them with the knowledge, skills, and attitudes to <u>improve upon that society</u> which currently exists.

We believe students who complete their education in our school system should demonstrate skills, attitudes, and competencies in the following areas:

- verbal communication skills including reading, writing, speaking, and listening;
- mathematical and computational skills including computer literacy;
- <u>life skills</u> including family living, positive physical and mental health habits, and personal economic survival skills;
- <u>citizenship skills</u> including honesty, integrity, fairness, positive moral and spiritual values and a commitment to our nation's heritage and traditions;
- <u>economic responsibility</u> including preparation for employment and preparation for continuing education. We believe that all students must recognize that learning is a life-long process;
- <u>social and civic responsibility</u> including a commitment to support societies [sic] institutions through service and stewardship of those resources entrusted to us and the nurturing of the human condition through personal relationships which reflect tolerance of and concern for others;
- an awareness of our increasing interaction in a global society and the importance of international understanding;
- · cooperation and collaboration skills;

- a range of <u>problem solving skills and strategies with particular emphasis on higher</u> order thinking skills and creativity;
- an appreciation of the arts, both natural and man-made.

It will be our intention to promote, fund, implement, and evaluate programs and services consistent with these beliefs and values as a part of our policy making responsibility.

6. We believe that schools and school systems are a locality's gateway to the future. We know that we exist only for the students and acknowledge that learning is a [sic] essential lifelong function. We are committed to success for every person who ventures into our school system's environment, and we will settle for nothing less.

7. The \_\_\_\_\_ County public schools are committed to improving student learning skills and providing a quality education in a positive, nurturing, and success-oriented environment so that students will be able to make sound decisions in life.

8. The student is the reason this school division exists. Student learning is our first priority. Educational excellence is required by School Board members, administrators, teachers, parents and students. Educational excellence is accomplished by the following basic beliefs:

- A. All students are capable of learning.
- B. The principal must be the visionary leader in improving student learning and must assume an active, supportive role in the level of classroom instruction.
- C. The teacher must assume a personal responsibility for the education of each student.
- D. The level of student achievement is directly related to the level of teacher expectations.
- E Parents must actively participate in the education of their child.

Inherent in this Mission Statement is the premise that student learning will prepare students for diverse opportunities in our communities.

Personnel in the school division must be accountable for the achievement of this mission.

9. The mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ County Public Schools is to provide a nationally recognized educational program and staff to develop 21st-Century citizens who can achieve full development of their potential and, as critical thinkers and lifelong learners, exhibit through their character and values a commitment to their community and nation, as well as a personal integrity which will enable them to meet the challenges of change.

10. Our efforts will focus on meeting the intellectual, vocational, social and personal needs of all students.

11. The mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ County Public Schools is to provide educational programs to meet the identified needs of all students in a learning environment that will allow for academic achievement, will help develop a positive outlook, and will foster respect for individual differences.

12. The \_\_\_\_\_ County School Board wishes to ensure through collaboration of teachers, parents, administrators, and community persons, groups, and agencies, that all graduates are prepared to directly enter and continue in the skilled workforce, or to enter and complete further academic and technical education. The Board further wishes to be certain that students are transported safely to well-maintained facilities where positive nutritional habits for their life are developed and where they are exposed to the highest quality personnel during their educational experience.

13. \_\_\_\_\_County school division believes that all children can learn. The mission of the school system therefore, is to ensure that every student will and can become a contributing and productive member of an ever-changing society. It is up to the \_\_\_\_\_ County School Division to provide opportunities and resources to ensure that individual students are challenged to attain increasingly higher levels of academic achievement while providing for the social, physical and emotional growth.

14. The mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ County Public School System is to involve the total community in a commitment to an educational process which puts the needs of each child at the forefront and provides the necessary resources and structures to enable each individual to develop into a productive citizen prepared to enter the twenty-first century.

15. The mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ County School Division is to provide programs and services to meet equitably the educational needs of all students. This shall be accomplished through safe learning environments that stimulate intellectual curiosity and academic achievement, develop positive personal qualities and well-being, and foster respect for individuals.

The foundation of the school system shall be a strong educational program, the central process of which shall be learning how to learn. The program shall emphasize the development and application of knowledge and skills.

The development and implementation of the school division's programs and services shall include community participation and respond to individual, community, state, national, and global priorities and needs.

16. The mission of the school board is to ensure for all students in \_\_\_\_\_ County an education that enables them to become informed and productive citizens in a democratic society.

17. The \_\_\_\_\_ County Public School Division believes that all students can learn. It is our mission to provide an appropriate education in an environment that ensures success in the classroom and in future endeavors.

18. To involve families, communities, business, and educators in providing a safe/healthy environment where life-long learning is successfully realized by all students through an individualized/relevant curriculum and instructional program focused on preparing responsible productive citizens for the future.

19. The mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ County School Board and all of its employees is to educate all students to their highest level of academic performance while fostering positive development of their health, their attitudes and their behaviors so that each individual student may make a positive contribution to our democratic society.

20. The mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ County Public School System is to provide an educational program and staff to help 21st century citizens achieve full development of their potential. In order to develop this potential, we must nurture lifelong learning and critical thinking skills, and we must prepare our students to meet the challenges of change in real-life situations. The fulfillment of this mission is guided by the knowledge that student success requires a shared responsibility and cooperation by students, school personnel, parents, and community.

21. The primary mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ County Public School System is to provide adequate opportunity for all children to master academic subjects in a safe and disciplined environment which promotes the development of the whole child.

22. The mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ County Public Schools is to provide a secure learning environment in which all students will be encouraged to develop their unique abilities and potentials.

As a result all students will become life-long learners and responsible, productive members of school and society.

23. It is the mission of \_\_\_\_\_ County Public Schools to ensure all students an excellent education. To that end, \_\_\_\_\_ County Public Schools envisions providing the highest quality, most cost-effective education possible by

- · increasing students' enthusiasm for learning,
- promoting individual learning ability,
- · recruiting and retaining excellent personnel,
- · encouraging parental and community support and involvement,
- fostering an inviting environment,
- using continual data analysis,
- emphasizing curriculum renewal,
- offering a meaningful staff development program,
- using current technology,
- · requiring efficient operating procedures, and
- evaluating progress and revising goals to achieve this vision.

24. The \_\_\_\_\_ County Public School Board and all associates are committed to educational success and continuous improvement for all students, associates, the educational system, and society.

25. The mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ County Public Schools is to provide opportunities for all students to develop their full potential. In order to prepare students to meet the challenges of society, we must provide a foundation of knowledge while nurturing lifelong learning and critical thinking skills. We believe that the success of the mission requires a shared responsibility by students, school personnel, parents, and community.

26. The \_\_\_\_\_ County School Board expects that all students will leave its schools as wellrounded, productive citizens who are good stewards of the world they inherit. The Board believes that all students have the right to learn in a safe environment that develops their critical thinking, problem solving, communication, and technology skills. The Board also recognizes that individuals are unique and in partnership with parents, the community, and school personnel, will prepare students to succeed in a multicultural and changing world.

The purpose of \_\_\_\_\_ County Public Schools is to continually improve the services of education.

28. ACHIEVE......Everyone Can.

29. The purpose of the \_\_\_\_\_ County Public Schools is to foster the well being, growth, and development of each child.

Students, staff members, parents, and volunteers are all valued participants in insuring success.

The \_\_\_\_\_ County Public Schools are nurturing centers that stimulate lifelong learning. All members of the community share in a cooperative partnership to meet the challenges of the future. 30. Recognizing the mutual responsibility of students, family, community and school personnel, the \_\_\_\_\_ County Public School System will provide a caring environment and challenging educational programs in which all students can learn, grow and become productive citizens and contributing members of society.

31. It is the mission of \_\_\_\_\_ County Schools to ensure that all students participate in quality learning experiences necessary to grow, adapt and meet the challenges of a changing world.

32. Our mission is...Where Everyone Will Be a Successful Learner.

33. The mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ County School Board is to provide a results-oriented, dynamic school system which is sensitive to the needs of students, the community, the administration and employees.

The central focus of our schools is to serve children in order that they may develop specific skills, competencies and understanding necessary for success in a changing world.

34. The Board of Education of the \_\_\_\_\_\_ County Public Schools adheres to and supports the belief that teaching and learning are the two most important functions that occur in our schools. We further believe that it is the responsibility of the Board of Education to provide the appropriate leadership to the school district and faculty to assure that these functions effectively occur for all children. We, therefore, commit ourselves to providing our children with a well-rounded instructional program which fosters excellence in learning and excellence in teaching, thereby, resulting in a competent, adaptable, and motivated citizenry.

Together with parents, teachers, and students, we will strive to achieve world-class standards in English, mathematics, science, history, and geography, preparing graduates for responsible citizenship, further learning, and productive employment. Each student leaving this school system will have been taught to think independently, act cooperatively, be aware of options in the future, and have been given the tools to compete anywhere with anyone in America.

35. The mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ County Public Schools is to provide the environment where each student is able to reach his or her fullest potential. It is recognized that true learning can take place only in an atmosphere of encouragement, respect, and academic challenge.

Inherent in this mission is the recognition that each student is a unique individual capable of becoming a productive member of society. It is the responsibility of the employees of this school division to guide, nurture, and encourage each student toward this goal. In doing so, all employees, and especially members of our academic community, are accountable for the achievement of the students who are enrolled in this school division.

36. The mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ County Public Schools is to prepare each student for the future and for life-long learning.

37. The mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ County Public Schools is to provide education for all within a community which respects, supports, and encourages those who learn and those who teach.

38. The mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ County Public Schools is to maximize student learning in an environment that promotes staff involvement and parental community cooperation.

39. The mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ County Public Schools is to provide a quality educational program for all students, to assist each student in reaching his/her potential and to prepare students to be responsible and productive citizens in an ever-changing society.

40. The mission of our school division is to provide the best possible education for ALL students in \_\_\_\_\_ County.

For our STUDENTS, we will provide a program of quality instruction. We will have high expectations for their achievement. Students will have sufficient time on task and the opportunity to learn through a variety of methods suited to their individual needs. By establishing and maintaining a fair grading system, we will encourage success for all students and will build on their successes. By creating a personalized environment that promotes students' self-esteem, we will help students become involved, responsible learners who reach their potential. We will foster a safe, drug and alcohol-free environment in which learning can take place.

For our STAFF MEMBERS, we will provide a high quality of working life. We will establish and maintain equitable salaries and favorable working conditions for teachers and other employees. To develop each employee's potential, we will offer a variety of professional growth activities. To nurture a collegial climate, we will offer staff development in consensus-building, accountability, creativity, problem-solving, and participatory decision-making. To facilitate open channels of communication, we will operate a network of advisory committees at the building and division levels.

For the PARENTS and other CITIZENS of \_\_\_\_\_ County, we will demonstrate cost consciousness by maintaining the level of expenditures within the constraints of the approved budget, while seeking ways in which business and industry can financially endorse public education. We will communicate with parents through frequent and varied reports concerning student accomplishments. We will strive to produce graduates with the necessary skills to enter the job market or to pursue higher education. We will promote community involvement in the schools through high quality communication, volunteer programs, parent education, advisory committees, publications, support of PTAs/PTOs, and the Adopt-A-School program. We will maintain clean, attractive schools and a safe, efficient transportation system.

We believe we can best accomplish our mission and ensure student success by cultivating an atmosphere marked by mutual trust, fairness, warmth, and personalization among students, parents, teachers, administrators, support staff, and the community.

41. In light of our belief that all children can learn, the mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ County Public Schools is to work with parents and the community to

- · establish and uphold high academic standards for students, and
- provide effective instructional programs, facilities, and services which assist and support students in achieving success in school and life.

42. The mission of \_\_\_\_\_ County School Division is to engage all students in meaningful learning experiences, in order for them to become responsible, contributing citizens and life-long learners.

43. The mission of \_\_\_\_\_ County Public Schools is to prepare all students so that they develop the knowledge and skills to achieve success and become active citizens who contribute to their communities.

44. The mission of \_\_\_\_\_ County Public Schools is to prepare students for post-secondary education and/or the workforce and to become life-long learners. \_\_\_\_\_ County Schools will meet the educational needs of all students in a safe and secure learning environment which stimulates intellectual curiosity, develops positive personal qualities, fosters respect for individual differences, encourages parental involvement, and emphasizes high expectations for students' achievement and behavior.

45. The \_\_\_\_\_ County Schools shall provide a safe, supportive, and challenging environment where all children learn.

To achieve this mission, it shall be the policy of the school board to:

Provide the necessary trained and dedicated leadership, qualified personnel, equipment and materials to assure an appropriate education for every student, regardless of race, color, sex, physical condition, or national origin;

Treat all personnel equally with the highest degree of respect;

Appropriate funds fairly and equally;

Give attention to schools that have been neglected over a period of years to assure that the property and quality of equipment of said schools may be upgraded, and repaired in order to be comparable to the best schools in the Division.

46. The mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ County School Division is to provide an educational program that will enable our students to fill worthy and diverse roles and accept opportunities in our community.

In accomplishing this mission, students will be provided with programs and activities so that they will be motivated to fully utilize their talents, resources, and capabilities. The citizens of \_\_\_\_\_\_ County, with the assistance of state and federal governments, are united in this effort.

Educational excellence is accomplished by complying with the following basic beliefs:

- All students are capable of learning.
- The principal must be the visionary educational leader in improving student learning and must assume an active, supportive role in providing classroom instruction.
- The teacher must assume a personal responsibility for the education of each student. Student achievement is directly related to the expectations of the teacher.
- · Parents must actively participate in the education of their children.
- The students must realize that self-discipline is essential for achievement.
- Community support and interest are achieved as the community becomes informed and involved in the programs, activities and mission of the school division.

Personnel in \_\_\_\_\_ County School Division must be accountable for the achievement of this mission.

47. The mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ County School Division is to prepare all students to become lifelong learners by providing them with a quality education in a challenging learning environment.

48. The mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ County Public Schools is to maintain an exemplary public school system with an instructional program that provides the opportunities and resources for each student to develop his or her full learning potential.

49. The primary mission of \_\_\_\_\_ County Schools is to provide and promote a dynamic environment for learning through which all students acquire the knowledge, skills and values necessary to live as informed and productive members of society.

50. \_\_\_\_\_ County Public Schools believe in the worth and dignity of all children and that they are entitled to a World Class Education that will enable them to live successfully in the 21st Century.

To this end, the \_\_\_\_\_ County Public Schools will strive to:

- provide a conducive learning environment that supports the premise that all children can learn.
- instill an appreciation for the values of a democratic society that will improve the quality of life for all.
- be accountable to our constituency through a strong program of evaluation including academic achievement and other outcome indicators associated with student success.

 foster, develop, and sustain supportive school and community relationships (e.g., parents, business, and industry) by providing an effective means of communication including access and input into the educational process through a variety of school/community inter-action programs.

51. The mission of \_\_\_\_\_ County Public Schools is to achieve the mandates of the Virginia Department of Education, to continue the improvement of instruction in a positive manner, and to create a welcome climate for students, parents, and employees. This mission is to be accomplished in a team setting where the team shall include students, parents, employees, residents, industry, and local merchants.

52. It is the mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ County Schools to provide a nurturing environment in which ALL students will receive the best possible education. We will provide the following: a program of quality instruction with high expectations for achievement; an environment that is safe, comfortable, and conducive for learning; opportunities for each student to develop a positive self-image and positive attitudes toward others and learning; and a climate in which all students achieve their potential intellectually, socially, aesthetically, personally, and physically.

53. The \_\_\_\_\_ County Public Schools are places where students receive a quality education in an environment which promotes individual growth and initiative. The staff works with the family and the community to foster students' intellectual, physical, social, moral, and ethical development consistent with the needs of productive citizens. A central element in this mission is to prepare students to live full and useful lives and to work confidently and cooperatively through democratic institutions to improve the quality of life for all people by:

- I. Sustaining a school climate where academic achievement is valued, acknowledged, and advanced by the staff and parents and pursued with vigor by the students;
- Creating a school climate which promotes strong positive self-concepts and generates interventions to ensure the continued personal growth of each student;
- III. Securing a well qualified school staff whose role, central to the education of the children, is recognized and respected, and whose productive service will be acknowledged through continued support, fair compensation, and appreciation.
- Teaching a curriculum of comprehensive studies in the elementary schools with increasing differentiation occurring in the middle and high schools to accommodate diverse personal and vocational interests;
- Maintaining a physical and social environment which is conducive to the learning process;
- VI. Ensuring that the learning environment is one which gives students ample opportunity to develop critical thinking and problem solving skills;
- VII. Recognizing the differing needs and interests of individual students and providing appropriate topics of study and instructional activities which will enhance and stimulate each student's growth and development;
- VIII. Instilling in each student those common values necessary for living and working together as responsible citizens in a democratic society; and
- IX. Fostering a broader understanding and appreciation of the school system in the community and stimulating closer links among teachers, students, and parents.

54. The \_\_\_\_\_ County Schools, with its commitment to excellence and equity, will educate all students to be productive, responsible citizens and lifelong learners in a rapidly changing, global society.

55. The mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ County School System is to provide a dynamic school system that is sensitive to the needs of students, parents, community, employees, and the administration.

The central focus of our schools is to serve children in order that they may develop specific skills, competencies, and understanding necessary for success in a changing world.

56. The \_\_\_\_\_ Public Schools' educational mission is based on the belief that all students can learn. To this end, we strive to ensure that our students receive the skills necessary to become productive, creative and caring individuals.

To accomplish our mission, we accept responsibility for.

- Creating a safe, secure and nurturing environment which encourages children to become responsible citizens.
- Recognizing the value of parents and school officials working together to ensure the development of a strong and effective partnership.
- Providing learning opportunities for parents and students through extensive tutorial services, child care, and parent workshops.
- Maintaining high personal and professional expectations for ourselves, students and parents.

57. \_\_\_\_ City Schools empowers everyone to be life-long learners.

58. The mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ City Public Schools, in partnership with our entire community, is to ensure that each student is empowered with the knowledge and skills necessary to meet the challenges of the future.

59. The Mission of \_\_\_\_\_ Public Schools is to provide a quality education for all students. To this end, \_\_\_\_\_ Public Schools will ensure:

- An effective instructional program
- A safe and orderly environment
- · An atmosphere which is conducive to learning
- A motivated, committed and skilled staff.

60. The mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ City Schools is to graduate students who aspire to achieve and who are prepared to participate fully in a free and democratic society. Our students will be expected to master a challenging set of academic standards. They will be taught to find and use information, speak and write effectively, make responsible decisions, and work to achieve personal goals. Our students will learn to appreciate history, diversity and the achievements of humankind. They will learn to make contributions to the well-being of the community. Upon graduation, our students will be prepared to secure employment, continue their education, and adapt skillfully to a changing technological society.

61. The mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ City School System is to provide the best possible education for each student in [the city] and opportunities for life-long learning for members of the community.

62. The \_\_\_\_\_ Public School System will provide quality educational services for students that meet or exceed the needs of our customers.

63. Every \_\_\_\_\_ City Schools student will receive effective instruction in essential skills so that he/she may be a successful learner.

64. The \_\_\_\_\_ City School personnel will successfully educate all of their students in a safe and healthy environment.

65. Creating an educational system that keeps pace with the increased global demands on our students is a challenge--an undertaking that all of us who care about the future and aspirations of our children are excited to meet. The \_\_\_\_\_ City School System pledges to be innovative in meeting these challenges. Our goal is to develop citizens who not only think but comprehend, not only learn but apply their knowledge, and who treasure their learning experiences. The learning and living environment cultivated within \_\_\_\_\_ Schools will develop academic skills as well as foster our students' belief in their own self-worth, their role as members of the community, and their responsibilities to themselves and others. We will impart to our students the value and appreciation of lifelong learning. By working together, we can provide a flexible educational system that meets the needs of the students, the community, and the future work place. The success of our children depends on our success in implementing these goals.

66. The mission of \_\_\_\_\_ Public Schools is to educate [the city's] students, preparing them for constructive participation in society. In application, the mission is <u>Teaching for Learning for All</u> through systemwide educational opportunities whose measurable outcomes reflect "equity," "quality," and "excellence." Underlying this commitment to continuous school improvement are the beliefs that ALL students can learn and that schools improve both collectively and one at a time.

67. The mission of \_\_\_\_\_ City Schools is to provide challenging, progressive educational opportunities and experiences that are responsive to the needs and talents of all students.

68. The \_\_\_\_\_ public school system is committed to the <u>academic success of all students</u> regardless of family structure, income, gender, or ethnic origin, and its MISSION is to provide them with the opportunity to achieve full development of their potential through the acquisitions of values, attitudes, knowledge, and skills that are essential to becoming confident and productive adults, enthusiastic lifelong learners, active and constructive participants in the democratic process, and contributing members of their families, communities, and the world.

69. The mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ City Public School System is to provide educational programs for all students consistent with each individual's abilities and needs through curricular, co-curricular, and community programs. The members of the school staff strive to enrich the lives of students to enable them to become active partners in our community's development with a global society.

70. \_\_\_\_\_City Public Schools, in cooperation with students, parents, guardians and the community, pledge to prepare responsible citizens by developing:

Flexibility and resilience in adapting to a changing society

Use of technology to improve the quality of life and learning

Thinking, problem solving and decision making skills

Understanding of self and diversity within the community

Reading, writing and computational skills

Effective communication skills that promote and demonstrate integrity and decency. As a result, our students will be empowered to live and work productively in the 21st century.

71. The \_\_\_\_\_ City Schools, with it [sic] Tradition of Excellence, recognizes the uniqueness and worth of all students and will educate each student to be a productive, responsible and contributing member of a diverse multicultural society.

72. The mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ City Public Schools is to provide all students with skills and knowledge, empowering them to become productive, responsible citizens.

73. Our mission is to prepare every student to succeed and to contribute to a better world. We will strive to do this in an academically-challenging, safe, and nurturing environment where all students, parents, and community members are active participants.

74. Public Schools, in partnership with the home and the community, will provide each student with a relevant, quality education. The skills taught shall enable each student to become a self-sufficient, productive member of the global society prepared to enter the job market and/or continue his/her education.

75. The public school is an agency established to provide the skills necessary for students to contribute to and benefit from a modern society. We believe that all children can and will learn.

The mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ Public Schools is the teaching of children and maximizing of their potential through a world class education. The \_\_\_\_\_ Public Schools are committed to providing the curriculum, personnel, facilities, programs and activities that will enable children to achieve this goal.

76. The mission of the City of \_\_\_\_\_\_ School Division is to provide the environment and resources that enable and encourage all students to acquire the knowledge, skills and values necessary to become successful, responsible contributors to society.

77. The \_\_\_\_\_ City Public School System's goal is to produce students with a positive selfesteem, a knowledge and utilization of basic skills, and the physical ability to perform responsibly in today's society.

78. The mission of the \_\_\_\_\_\_ School Board is to provide our students with high quality educational experiences so that our public schools are the choice of all [citizens in the city]; to ensure that parents, families and the community-at-large are involved in the activities of students; and to ensure that students:

· master the essential skills of reading, writing, mathematics, and reasoning;

- · grow creatively, culturally and physically in order to become life-long learners; and
- learn to appreciate cultural diversity, become responsible citizens, and lead productive lives.

79. The \_\_\_\_\_ City Schools will create school experiences to ensure that all students learn and demonstrate skills needed for lifelong learning.

80. It is the ongoing educational mission of \_\_\_\_\_ Public Schools to provide the best possible education for the young people of \_\_\_\_\_. Our children are indeed our future--the hope for a brighter tomorrow. Toward that end, we pledge to prepare all students to be self-sufficient and fulfilled citizens who are responsible and participating members of society. We shall continue our quest for excellence in education as we serve the students and citizens of this great city. In the \_\_\_\_\_ Public Schools --WE PROMOTE EXCELLENCE!

81. \_\_\_\_\_ City Schools will provide a quality education that assures lifelong success for all students.

82. We, the \_\_\_\_\_ City Public School System, pledge to be customer oriented and provide leadership for quality schools. In the pursuit for these ideals, we will strive to serve:

STUDENTS by providing, in a safe and healthy environment, an education for all students

PARENTS by communicating effectively to involve them in school activities

EMPLOYEES by recognizing them as professionals and treating [them] with dignity and respect

BUSINESS by working closely with them to produce a more competitive workforce CITIZENS by enlisting their help to improve our educational system and enhance our community.

83. The mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ County Public Schools is to provide programs to meet the educational needs of all students in a safe learning environment that stimulates intellectual curiosity, develops positive personal qualities and well-being, fosters respect for individual differences, encourages parental involvement, and emphasizes high expectations for student achievement and behavior.

84. The mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ County School System is to ensure that all children of school age in \_\_\_\_\_ County and \_\_\_\_\_ City receive the highest quality education appropriate to their individual needs and abilities.

85. The mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ School Division is to achieve excellence in education, through partnership with home and community, so that each student becomes:

- a lifelong learner
- an independent thinker
- a responsible citizen.

86. The mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ County Public Schools is to ensure that all children have a stable and safe environment in which to learn, caring and well-trained teachers, and appropriate and adequate resources that will enable them to become life-long learners. Our mission is based on the belief that all children have worth and can learn.

87. The ultimate goal of education is that each student may realize his/her fullest potential in the utilization of talents, skills and intellect. The basic purpose of schooling is to provide the instruction and support for students to develop the fundamental skills and processes essential for the lifelong acquisition of knowledge. Inasmuch as students differ in their rate of physical, mental, emotional and social development, learning opportunities must be provided which are compatible with the differing needs of individual learners. The school board accepts the responsibility of providing appropriate instruction and affirms its commitment to educational excellence and equity for all students.

88. It is the mission of the \_\_\_\_\_ School System to maximize the intellect and abilities of all of our children so they will: be prepared for a life of continuous learning; be happy; be fulfilled; and, at a minimum, be able to provide the basic necessities of life for themselves and their future families.

Appendix C: Categorical Analysis of Mission Statements

Coded	Category 1	Category 2	Category 3	Category 4	Category 5
Mission Number	Language that Identifies Stakeholders	Language that Identifies Student Outcomes	Language that identifies Division Actions	Language that identifies Specific Programs	Emergent Categories
	lor everyone in the <u>County</u> Public Schools		Teaching Curing		
	for all students Parents, citizzns, and children the schools and the community global society	to acquire the skills, knowledge and skitudes to catable them to live, team and work in an interdependent, global society or become life-long learners who are to become life-long learners who are the interdependent, global society the interdependent, global society	provide educate atudents to serve involves fodens improves	educational opportunity — programs and facilities programs and facilities	Partneradiyr combined ellorts of the schools and the community Parents, citizens, and children will share involve all the community in a manner which draws strength from its disentity These programs will involve all the community in a manner whichfosters mutual respect and improves our society the schools to serve as a center for the life of the community View of society. interdependent, global society
4	all students — each student — bociety	green the tools to be a life-joing learner, and targht to function affectively as a member of a group and as a productive member of society each student will experience success Each student will be expected to Each student will be expected to succeed within the bounds of their abilities or chosen educational goals	provide 	a high quality, comprehensive and meaningful education Each student will be treated as an individual	
	all students student, staff, parents, and community		to provide	a quality of education	Parinetatip: through the collaborative efforts of students, staff, parents, and community

133

•

•---

<u>Category 5</u> Emergent Categories	Partnereddy: a responsibility which must be almured between the home. the ecisool and the community View of society: constantly changing world	Bellet statement: schools and school systems are a locality's gateway to the fature
Category 4 Language that Identifies Specific Programs	cech student must assume major responsibility for his/her own development	
<u>Category 3</u> Language that Identifies Division Actions	school must pity an important role to promote, land, implement, and extinues contactent with these beliefs and values futpare prepare	We are committed to successand we will settle for nothing less
Category 2 Language that Identifies Student Outcomes	<ul> <li>the development of individuals in the constantly changing world</li> <li>the school experience should are provided in the prepare subort which exists and provide them with the harwhele stats and provide them developed in our school system and competencies in the following.</li> <li>Terefel communication statis.</li> <li>Terefel communication statis attiludes and computational statisting.</li> <li>Terefel communication statistical and an and in statistical and meanal health including reading. writing.</li> <li>Terefel communication statistical and the including reading. Writing, hard provide and traditions.</li> <li>Terefel communication statistical and the including reading. Writing, hard provide and traditions.</li> <li>Terefel communication and meanal health including and traditions.</li> <li>Terefel communication and tradition statistical and computational provide provide and traditions.</li> <li>Contact and score status and springent and traditions.</li> <li>Scone and tradition for continuing accounting is a life-long process:     <ul> <li>Contact and accounting that all students and traditions.</li> <li>Scone and springent and traditions in the provide and traditions in the provide and traditions in the state and traditions.</li> <li>Scone and tradition for continuing traditing the entertaining is a life-long process:         <ul> <li>Scone and active of the human condition the entertaining is a life-long process:             <ul> <li>Scone and active of the human condition the entertaing the entertaining of the hu</li></ul></li></ul></li></ul></li></ul>	terming is a [arc] casential lifelong function
<u>Category 1</u> Language that Identifies Stakeholders	the bome, the school and the community each student society world	we exist only for the students every person who vehures into our school system's environment
Coded Mission Number	vi	ė

. - -

-

<u>Category 5</u> Emergent Categories	Participate in the education of their child. participate in the education of their child. Belief statements: Budent tearning is our first priority All students are capable of feaming.	21st century: 21 al-Century	Partnership: through collaboration of teachers, parents administrators, and community persons, groups, and agencies	Belief attrients all children can learn. View of society: ever-changing society	Partner ador: Involve the total community in a commitment to an educational process 21st century: twenty-first century 21st century: twenty-first century
Category 4 Language that Identifies Specific Programs	a positive, nuturing, and success- oriented curviconment a quality education I he principal must be the visionary leader in improving student learning and must assume an active, supportive role in the level of classroom instruction. The teacher must assume a personal responsibility for the education of each student. The level of nudent achievement is directly related to the level of teacher expectations.	a nationally recognized educational program and staff program and staff educational programs to meet the identified needs of all students in a fearning environment	students are transported safely to well-maintained (acilities students are exposed to the highest quality personnel	opportunities and resources to ensure that individual students are challenged	an educational process which puts the needs of each child at the forefront and provides the necessary resources and structures
<u>Category 3</u> Language that Identifies Division Actions	committed to prividing improving repare be accountable	to provide mctaing to provide to 'neet	to ensure	to provide Lo ensure	to involve provides commitment catable
Category 2 Language that Identifies Student Outcomes	audents wilf be able to make sound decisions in life improving audent learning skills audent learning will prepare audents for diverse opportunities in our communities	to develop 21a-Century citizens who can achieve ful development of their potential and, as critical thinkers and litelong learners, exhibit through their character and values a commitment to their community and nation, as well as a personal insetity which will chable them to meet the challenges of change intellectual, vocational, social and meet the challenges of change will allow for academic achievement, will help develop a positive outlook, and will foster respect for individual differences	all graduates are prepared to directly metrer and complete workforce, or to catter and complete further academic and technical education positive nutritional habits for their life	every student will and can become a contributing and productive member of an ever-changing society atiani increasingly higher levels of academic saturerement while providing for the social, physical and emotional growth	to crabic each individual to develop into a productive citizen prepared to enter the twenty-first century
<u>Category 1</u> Language that Identifies Stakeholders	students The student is the reason this school division exists affinitistation, teachers, parents and students our communities	21 s. Century citizens community and nation all students all students	teachera, parenta, administrators, and community persons, groups, and agenticas students		the coel community each child
Coded Mission Number	r. 20	ъ. о. II .II	2		4

<u>Category 5</u> Emergent Categories		Partnership:: The development and implementation of the school division's programs and services shall include	community participation and respond to individual, community, state, pational,	and groots priorites and needs		View of society: a democratic society	Bellef statement: all students can learn			View of society: our democratic society			Partnership:: shared responsibility and cooperation by students, school	personnes, parents, and community 21st century: 21st century				
<u>Category 4</u> Language that Identifies Speelfic Programs		Inc roundation of the school system shall be a strong educational program	programs and services to meet	equitably the concentrational access on all students through safe learning eavironments that stimulate			an appropriate education in an cavitonment that ensures success in the elsencom	through an individualized/ relevant	currequen and insunctional program				an educational program and staff			adequate opportunity	a safe and disciplined environment which promotes the development of the whole child	a secure learning cuvinoanciri in which all students will be encouraged to develop their unique abilities and potentials
<u>Category 3</u> Language that Identifies Division Actions		to provide 	refpond to	stimulate			to provide 1 contres	prividing		to Fducate	lottenng		to provide			to provide	primotes	to provide
Category 2 Language that Identifies Student Outcomes		ceverop possive pensonal quantes and well-being, and foster respect for individuals	learning how to learn	the development and application of knowledge and skills	intellectual curiosity and academic achievement	an education that enables them to become informed and productive culteens in a democratic society	successin future endcavors	life-long learning	responsible productive citizens for the future	all students to their highest level of academic performance	positive development of their health. their autitudes and their behaviors	each individual student may make a positive contribution to our democntic society	21st century citizens achieve full development of their potential	lifelong tearning and critical thinking skills	students to meet the challenges of change in real-life anuations	to master academic subjects		al students will become life-long learners and responsible, productive members of achool and society
Category 1 Language that Identifies Stakeholders	all airid faith	au avacuus individval, community, state,	neods			all students in County society	al) students	families, communities, business, and		all students	BOCICIY		students, school personnel, parents, and community	21 at century citizens		all children		all students  society
Coded Mission Number		i				16,	14.	18.		19.			20.			21.		ä

.

<u>Category 5</u> Emergent Categories	16 174 41 1	Partnerabp: a shared responsibility by studenta, achool personnel, parenta, and commonity	View of society: challenges of society Partnerships: in partnership with parents, the community, and school parents. The community, and school parents is students have the night to learn individuals are unique View of society: multicultural and changing world	Partnership:: Studesta, stall membera. Parents, and volunteers are all valued participants in insuring success All members of the community share in a cooperative partnership to meet the challenges of the future	Partnership:: mutual responsibility of students, family, community and school personnel
Category 4 Language that Identifies Specific Programs	an excellent education the highest quality, most cost- effective education possible exteclient personarel an invitting environment continual data analysis curriculum renewal a meaningful staff development program current technology current technology efficient operating procedures	opportunities (or	a sale environment	Schools are nurtaring centers the well being growth, and development of each child	a caring covirodment and challenging educational programs in which all students can learn, grow
<u>Category 3</u> Language that Identifies Division Actions		to provide privride 		to contanually improve the scrutces of education. ACRIEVE. to foster str re	provide
Category 2 Language that Identifics Student Outcomes		educentional success and continuous improvement for all students all students to develop their full potential propare students to meet the fullenges of society	a foundation of knowledge while nutruring lifelong terming and well-rounded, productive cluizens who are good stewards of the world they inherit prepare students to succeed in a multicultural and changing world critical thinking, problem solving, communication, and technology skills	lifclong (caming	become productive citizens and contributing members of society
Category 1 Language that Identifics Stakeholders	all students parental and community	et etucents associates the educational system, and society all students autents, school personnel, parents,		Everyone cach child Sudenta, staff members, parenta, and voluntcers are all valued participants la insuring success All members of the community ahare in a cooperative partnership	stucent, lamiy, community and school personnel 
Coded Mission Number	Ŕ	s si	56.	28.	.0.

<u>Category 5</u> Emergent Categories	View of society: a changing world	View of society: a changing world		Partnersalpr: Together with parents, teachers, and students	Bellef statements: teaching and learning are the two most important functions that occur in our schools		Bellel statements: cach tiudeol is a unique individual			Parthership:: stall tavolvement and parental community ecoperation	View of society: an over-changing society
Category 4 Language that Identifies Specific Programs	all students participate in quality tearning experiences necessary to	a results cirented, dynamic school surtem which is sendiity - hy the	spaced which is sensitive to the needs of students, the community, the administration and employees	world-class standards in English, mathematics, science, history, and geography	a well-rounded instructional program which fosters excellence in learning and excellence in teaching	it is the responsibility of the Board of Education to provide the appropriate leadership to the school defind and faculty to assure that these functions effectively occur for all children	the environment where an atmosphere of encouragement, respect, and academic challenge		education for all within a community which respects, supports, and encourages those who learn and those who teach		a quality educational program
<u>Category 3</u> Language that Identifies Division Actions	10 माउपान मिक्स	to provide	to serve children	strive to achieve 	- tesching Privide	asturc Proparing	to provide — provide to guide, mutture, and encourage each student toward this goal — accountable	to prepare cach student	to provide refoccia supporta encourages	(to`naxumize 	to jrepare to provide to tssist
Category 2 Language that Identifies Student Outcomes	suists and meet the challenges of a challenges of a	Where Everyone Will Be a Successful Learner in order that they may develop encefice skills, commechneise and	understanding necessary for success in a changing world	preparing graduates for responsible citizenship, further learning, and productive employment	will have been taught to think independently, act cooperatively, be aware of options in the future, and have been diven the foods to	compete anywhere with anyone in America resulting in a competent, adaptable, and motivated citizenry	becoming a productive member of society 	prepared for) the luture and for life- long learning			students to be responsible and productive citizens in an ever- changing society cach student in reaching his/her each student in reaching his/her
<u>Category 1</u> Language that Identifies <b>Stakeholders</b>		we 14. the community, the stration and employees		all children 	- America		each Rivdent - society	each student	those who learn and those who teach	student	ell students 
Coded Mission Number	31.	36 16		34.				36.	.76	38.	-96 

Coded	Category 1	Category 2	Category 3	Category 4	Category 5
Mission	Language that Identifies	Language that Identifies	Language that Identifies	Language that Identifies	
Number	Stakeholders	Student Outcomes	<b>Division</b> Actions	Specific Programs	Emergent Categories

40. ALL students in County Tudents, parents, teachers, administrators, support stall, and the community students become involved, responsible learners who reac potential produce graduates with the market or to pursue higher ed Tuccess for all students and the build on their successes	have high expectations for their achievement encourage ucation eultivating	the best possible education a program of quality instruction Students will have sufficient time on task and the opportunity to learn through a variety of methods suited to their individual needs a fair grading system a personalized environment that promotes students' self-esteen a safe, drug and alcohol-free environment in which learning can take place For our STAFF MEMBERS, we will provide a high quality of working life. We will establish and maintain equitable salaries and favorable working conditions for teachers and other employees. To develop each employee's potential, we will offer a variety of professional growth activities. To nurture a collegial climate, we will offer staff development in consensus-building, accountability, creativity, problem- solving, and participatory decision- making. To facilitate open channels of communication, we will operate a network of advisory committees at the building and division levels. For the PARENTS and other CITIZENS of County, we will demonstrate cost conscioumess by maintaining the level of expenditores within the constraints of the approved budget, while seeking ways in which business and industry can financially endorse public education. We will comote concerning student accomplishmentsWe will promote communication, volunteer programs, parent education, advisory communication, volunteer programs, parent education, advisory committees, publications support of PTAs/PTOs, and the Adopt-A- School program. We will maintain clean, altractive schools and a safe, efficient transportation osystem.	
--	--	--	--

.

.

|                     |   |   |   |  |  |   |  |  |   |   |   |   |  |   |  |  
   
   |   
  |  | _  |  
   |   |   |   | _   
   | _  |  | _   |  |
|---------------------|---|---|---|--|--|---|--|--|---|---|---|---|--|---|--
--
--
--
--|--|--
--
---|---|---|---|--|--|---|--|
| Emergent Categories |   | Partnership: with parents and the community   | Beltef statement: all children can learn  |  |  |   |  |  | Partnerahip: cncourages parental<br>involvement   |   |   |   |  |   |  |  
   
   |   
  |  |  | | |
   |   |   |   |   
   |  |  |   |  |
| Specific Programs   |   | cilective instructional programs.<br>facilities, and services which assist          | ano support succus  |  |  | meaningful learning experiences   |  |  | a safe and secure learning<br>environment   |   |   |   |  |   |  | a safe, supportive, and challenging  
   
   |   
  | the necessary trained and dedicated<br>feadership, qualified personnel,  | cquipment and materials to assure an<br>amanumist e chreation for every  | student, regardless of race, color,  
   | origia  | Treat all personnel equally with the highest degree of respect  | Appropriate funds fairly and equally  | Give attention to achoods that have   
   | been neglected over a period of  | years to assure that the property and<br>oughty of conjourent of said schools                            | may be upgraded, and repaired in<br>1 order to be comparable to the best                      | schools in the Division  |
| Division Actions    |   | establish and uphold high academic<br>standards for students                        | provide   | estig<br>t   | support  | to engage all students  | to prepare all sudents   |  | will meet the educational needs of all<br>students  | <br>stihulates  |   |   | encourages   | eurphanizes   | propare  | shull provide  
   
   | Tirtat  
  | -<br>Give attention  |  | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
   |   |   |   |   
   |  |  |   |  |
| Student Outcomes    |   | schieving success in school and life  |   |  |  | to become responsible, contributing<br>citizens and life-long teamers   | so that they develop the knowledge<br>and skills to achieve success and  | become active citizens who<br>contribute to their communities                        | prepare students for post-secondary<br>education and/or the workforce and   | to become life-long learners  | stimulates intellectual curiosity.  | fileences   | -<br>emphasizes high expectations for                                    | students' achievement and behavior  |  |  
   
   |   
  |  |  | | |
   |   |   |   |   
   |  |  |   |  |
| Stakeholders        |   | all children  |   |  |  | all students  | all students<br>   | lbeir communities  | students  |   |   |   |  |   |  | all children   
   
   |   
  |  |  | | |
   |   |   |   |   
   |  |  |   |  |
| Number              |   | 41.   |   |  |  | 42.   | 43.  |  | 4   |   |   |   |  |   |  | 45.  
   
   |   
  |  |  | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
   |   |   |   |   
   |  |  |   |  |
|                     | Stakeholders   Student Outcomes   Division Actions   Specific Programs   Emergent | l Stakeholders   Student Outcomes   Division Actions   Specific Programs   Emergent | Stakeholders         Student Outcomes         Division Actions         Specific Programs         Emergent           all children         action action         scheving success in school and life         establish and upbold high academic         effective instructional programs, community         Partserable: with p | Stakeholders         Student Outcomes         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs           all children         active ingroups arccess in school and life         stabilsh and uphold high academic         clictive ingroups and arrive which avist           percets and the community         and support students         provide         provide | Stakeholders         Student Outcomes         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs           all children         all children         acheving success in school and life         catabilish and uphold high academic         effective instructional programs, factors which assist           -         -         and support surfaces which assist         parents and the community         and support students | Stakeholders         Student Outcomes         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs           all children         all children         schieving success in school and life         establish and uphold high academic         effective instructional programs, and support students | Stakeholders         Student Outcomes         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs           all children         actieving success in school and life         stabilsh and uphold high academic         clictive instructional programs, facultants           parents and the community         actieving success in school and life         stabilsh and uphold high academic         clictive instructional programs, facultants           parents and the community         and support students         and support students         and support students           all students         to become responsable, contributing         to regage all students         meaningul learning caperences | Stakeholders     Student Outcomes     Division     Actions     Specific     Programs | Stakeholders     Student Outcomes     Division     Actions     Specific     Programs       all children     all children     actieving success in action and tile catabilish and uphold high academic effective instructional programs, faundaries and the community     Division     Actions     Specific     Programs, faundaries       Parcets and the community     actieving success in action and tile catabilish and uphold high academic effective instructional programs, faundaries     factilities, and sarrices which assist faundaries       Parcets and the community     action arrives of and aupport     and aupport students     and aupport students       all dudents     to become reponsible, contributing     to regage all students     neaningful learning experiences       all dudents     to become reponsible, contributing     to program tile to athere arces and the formulation to their communities     to become active and the formulation to their communities | Stakeholders         Student Outcomes         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs. | Stakeholders         Student Outcomes         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs. | Stakeholders         Student Outcomes         Division         Actions         Specific Programs,<br>Specific Programs,<br>and arport students           —         —         —         —         —         —           parents and the community         actineving success in school and life<br>standards for students         Division         Actions         Specific Programs,<br>and arport students           —         —         —         —         —         —         —           parents and the community         —         —         —         #         #           parents and the community         —         —         —         #         #           parents         —         —         —         # | StakeholdersStudent OutcomesDivision ActionsSpecific Programsal children | Stakeholders     Student Outcomes     Division Actions     Specific Programs       al childra | Stakeholders     Student Outcomes     Division Actions     Specific Programs       al children     achering success in ecloal and the community     achering success in ecloal and the community     achering and support students       al children     achering success in ecloal and the community     achering success in ecloal and the community     achering and support students       al children     achering success in ecloal and the community     achering and support students     and support students       al databas     to become responsible, contributing     to become responsible, contributing     to become responsible, contributing     to setter       al databas     to become responsible, contributing     to become responsible, contributing     to become responsible, contributing     to become responsible, contributing     to setter       al databas     to become responsible, contributing     to proper all students     to catabas     to catabas       al databas     to become file-long fearers     to proper all students     to catabas     to catabas       al databas     to become file-long fearers     to proper students     to revease and all the catabas     to catabas       al databas     to become file-long fearers     to become store clitteral students     to revease and all the catabas     to catabas       al databas     to become file-long fearers     to become store clitteral students     tof a to catabas     to | Student         Student Outcomes         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs           al children         achteving success in school and life         cstatuan and upbold high academic         clicative instructional programs.           arrents and the community         achteving success in school and life         cstatuan         activities, and scrittes which suits           arrents and the community         achteving success in school and life         cstatuan         activities, and scrittes which suits           al students         to become responsible, contributing         to become responsible, contributing <t< td=""><td>Stakeholders         Student Outcomes         Division         Actions         Specific Programs           al clinden         wehrering success in rebool add life         estadants for students         ind arport students         ind arport students           purcats and the community         mandards for students         ind arport         ind arport students         ind arport students           purcats and the community         weberering success in rebool add life         estadants         ind arport students         ind arport students           all students         weberering success in rebool add life         estadants         ind arport students         ind arport students           all students         workie         mandards for students         ind arport         ind arport students           all students         to become responsable, contributing         to engage all students         man and arbort           and data for one workies         to become responsable, contributing         to engage all students         man and arbort           and data for one responsable, contributing         to engage all students         man and arbort         man and arbort           and data for one responsable, contributing         to engage all students         man and arbort         man and arbort           and data for one workice         and data for one workice         and data for one workice<!--</td--><td>Stakeholders     Student Outcomes     Division Actions     Specific Programs       al childra     achteving success in echool and tite establish and upbold high academic clicetive instructional programs, transferate subort     actional programs, transferate subort     Itellifers, and services which assist actional programs, transferate subort       main al childra     actional programs, transferate subort     actional programs, transferate subort     Itellifers, and services which assist actional programs, transferate subort       main al childra     to become responsible, contributing to regage all students     upport     transferate subort     transferate subort       al dutionis     to become responsible, contributing to regage all students     transferate subort     transferate subort     transferate subort       al dutionis     to become responsible, contributing to regage all students     transferate subort     transferate subort       before     to become responsible, contributing to regage all students     transferate subort     transferate subort       before     to become responsible, contributing to regage all students     transferate subort     transferate subort       before     to become responsible, contributing to regage all students     to proper students     to action actio</td><td>Stakeholders         Student Outcomes         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs           all childra         activing success in extool and life         estimation         estimation         estimation         estimation         estimation           pareas and the community         activing success in extool and life         estimation         estimation</td><td>Stakeholders         Student Outcomes         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs,<br/>and apport students           al children         activity mad vision         and apport students         and apport students         and apport students           Parents and the community         before reported and tite community         before report students         and apport students         and apport students           al dudents         coluzional programs,<br/>resist         before         <td< td=""><td>Stakeholders         Student         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs           - Id children         - actioning success in sation and the community           - al children         - actioning success in sation and the community         - actioning statements         - actioning success in sation and the communities         - actioning scatteres which assist - action and success in sation and success in sation and success and the communities         - actioning scatteres which assist - action and scatteres and - action and scatteres assist - action and scatteres and - action - actio</td><td>Stakeholders         Student Outcomes         Division         Specific Programs           - Idition         - Idition         - Idition         Specific Programs           - Idition         - Idition         - Idition         - Idition         Specific Programs           - Idition         - Iditin         - Idition         - Idition</td><td>Stakeholders         Studenit         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs           -&lt;</td><td>Stakeholders         Studenic         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs           -&lt;</td><td>Stakeholders         Student         Division         Division         Specific         Programs          </td><td>Stakeholders         Student         Division         Division         Actions         Specific Programs          </td><td>Stakeholders         State         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs          </td><td>Stakeholders         Student Outcomes         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs           Indition         Indition         0 become reported in control on solution         Indition         Indition</td></td<></td></td></t<> | Stakeholders         Student Outcomes         Division         Actions         Specific Programs           al clinden         wehrering success in rebool add life         estadants for students         ind arport students         ind arport students           purcats and the community         mandards for students         ind arport         ind arport students         ind arport students           purcats and the community         weberering success in rebool add life         estadants         ind arport students         ind arport students           all students         weberering success in rebool add life         estadants         ind arport students         ind arport students           all students         workie         mandards for students         ind arport         ind arport students           all students         to become responsable, contributing         to engage all students         man and arbort           and data for one workies         to become responsable, contributing         to engage all students         man and arbort           and data for one responsable, contributing         to engage all students         man and arbort         man and arbort           and data for one responsable, contributing         to engage all students         man and arbort         man and arbort           and data for one workice         and data for one workice         and data for one workice </td <td>Stakeholders     Student Outcomes     Division Actions     Specific Programs       al childra     achteving success in echool and tite establish and upbold high academic clicetive instructional programs, transferate subort     actional programs, transferate subort     Itellifers, and services which assist actional programs, transferate subort       main al childra     actional programs, transferate subort     actional programs, transferate subort     Itellifers, and services which assist actional programs, transferate subort       main al childra     to become responsible, contributing to regage all students     upport     transferate subort     transferate subort       al dutionis     to become responsible, contributing to regage all students     transferate subort     transferate subort     transferate subort       al dutionis     to become responsible, contributing to regage all students     transferate subort     transferate subort       before     to become responsible, contributing to regage all students     transferate subort     transferate subort       before     to become responsible, contributing to regage all students     transferate subort     transferate subort       before     to become responsible, contributing to regage all students     to proper students     to action actio</td> <td>Stakeholders         Student Outcomes         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs           all childra         activing success in extool and life         estimation         estimation         estimation         estimation         estimation           pareas and the community         activing success in extool and life         estimation         estimation</td> <td>Stakeholders         Student Outcomes         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs,<br/>and apport students           al children         activity mad vision         and apport students         and apport students         and apport students           Parents and the community         before reported and tite community         before report students         and apport students         and apport students           al dudents         coluzional programs,<br/>resist         before         <td< td=""><td>Stakeholders         Student         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs           - Id children         - actioning success in sation and the community           - al children         - actioning success in sation and the community         - actioning statements         - actioning success in sation and the communities         - actioning scatteres which assist - action and success in sation and success in sation and success and the communities         - actioning scatteres which assist - action and scatteres and - action and scatteres assist - action and scatteres and - action - actio</td><td>Stakeholders         Student Outcomes         Division         Specific Programs           - Idition         - Idition         - Idition         Specific Programs           - Idition         - Idition         - Idition         - Idition         Specific Programs           - Idition         - Iditin         - Idition         - Idition</td><td>Stakeholders         Studenit         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs           -&lt;</td><td>Stakeholders         Studenic         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs           -&lt;</td><td>Stakeholders         Student         Division         Division         Specific         Programs          </td><td>Stakeholders         Student         Division         Division         Actions         Specific Programs          </td><td>Stakeholders         State         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs          </td><td>Stakeholders         Student Outcomes         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs           Indition         Indition         0 become reported in control on solution         Indition         Indition</td></td<></td> | Stakeholders     Student Outcomes     Division Actions     Specific Programs       al childra     achteving success in echool and tite establish and upbold high academic clicetive instructional programs, transferate subort     actional programs, transferate subort     Itellifers, and services which assist actional programs, transferate subort       main al childra     actional programs, transferate subort     actional programs, transferate subort     Itellifers, and services which assist actional programs, transferate subort       main al childra     to become responsible, contributing to regage all students     upport     transferate subort     transferate subort       al dutionis     to become responsible, contributing to regage all students     transferate subort     transferate subort     transferate subort       al dutionis     to become responsible, contributing to regage all students     transferate subort     transferate subort       before     to become responsible, contributing to regage all students     transferate subort     transferate subort       before     to become responsible, contributing to regage all students     transferate subort     transferate subort       before     to become responsible, contributing to regage all students     to proper students     to action actio | Stakeholders         Student Outcomes         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs           all childra         activing success in extool and life         estimation         estimation         estimation         estimation         estimation           pareas and the community         activing success in extool and life         estimation         estimation | Stakeholders         Student Outcomes         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs,<br>and apport students           al children         activity mad vision         and apport students         and apport students         and apport students           Parents and the community         before reported and tite community         before report students         and apport students         and apport students           al dudents         coluzional programs,<br>resist         before         before <td< td=""><td>Stakeholders         Student         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs           - Id children         - actioning success in sation and the community           - al children         - actioning success in sation and the community         - actioning statements         - actioning success in sation and the communities         - actioning scatteres which assist - action and success in sation and success in sation and success and the communities         - actioning scatteres which assist - action and scatteres and - action and scatteres assist - action and scatteres and - action - actio</td><td>Stakeholders         Student Outcomes         Division         Specific Programs           - Idition         - Idition         - Idition         Specific Programs           - Idition         - Idition         - Idition         - Idition         Specific Programs           - Idition         - Iditin         - Idition         - Idition</td><td>Stakeholders         Studenit         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs           -&lt;</td><td>Stakeholders         Studenic         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs           -&lt;</td><td>Stakeholders         Student         Division         Division         Specific         Programs          </td><td>Stakeholders         Student         Division         Division         Actions         Specific Programs          </td><td>Stakeholders         State         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs          </td><td>Stakeholders         Student Outcomes         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs           Indition         Indition         0 become reported in control on solution         Indition         Indition</td></td<> | Stakeholders         Student         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs           - Id children         - actioning success in sation and the community           - al children         - actioning success in sation and the community         - actioning statements         - actioning success in sation and the communities         - actioning scatteres which assist - action and success in sation and success in sation and success and the communities         - actioning scatteres which assist - action and scatteres and - action and scatteres assist - action and scatteres and - action - actio | Stakeholders         Student Outcomes         Division         Specific Programs           - Idition         - Idition         - Idition         Specific Programs           - Idition         - Idition         - Idition         - Idition         Specific Programs           - Idition         - Iditin         - Idition         - Idition | Stakeholders         Studenit         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs           -< | Stakeholders         Studenic         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs           -< | Stakeholders         Student         Division         Division         Specific         Programs | Stakeholders         Student         Division         Division         Actions         Specific Programs | Stakeholders         State         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs | Stakeholders         Student Outcomes         Division         Actions         Specific         Programs           Indition         Indition         0 become reported in control on solution         Indition         Indition |

<u>Category 5</u> Emergent Categories	Partnersation: Parcols must actively participate in the education of their children. Community support and interest are activeed as the community becomes informed and involved in the programs, activities and mission of the school division. Beblef statements: All students are capable of learning.			Partuerakip: supportive school and community relationabips (e.g., parents, business, and industry) by providing an effective means of communication including access and input into the educational process through a variety of school/community inter-action programs Belte statements: Belte statements in the worth and dignity of all children and that they are emitted to a World Class Education all children can learn View of society: a democratic society 21st century: 21st Century	Partnersulp: a team setting where the team shall include students, parents, employees, residents, industry, and local merchants
Category 4 Language that Identifies Specific Programs	students will be provided with programs and activities so that The principal must be the visionary educational feader in improving student learning and must assume an active, supportive role in providing responsibility for the education of responsibility for the education of each student. Student achievement is directly related to the expectations of the teacher.	a quality education in a chaltenging learning covironment an exemplary public school system an instructional program that provides the opportunities and resources for	dynamic caviconneus for learning through which	a conductre learning environment a strong program of evaluation including academic achievement and other outcome indicators associated with student success	the improvement of instruction in a positive manner a welcome climate for studenta, parents, and employees a climate in which
<u>Category 3</u> Language that Identifies Division Actions	lo provide 	providing 66 maintain provides	to provide and promote a	will strite provide instill be accountable to our constituency foster, develop, and sustain	to achieve the mandatea of the Virginia Department of Education to continue to create to create to provide
Category 2 Language that Identifies Student Outcomes	catable our students to full wortby and diverse roles and accept opportunities in our community they will be motivated to fully utilize their talents, resources, and capabilities	become lifeloug teamers each riudent to develop his or her full fearning potential	Informed and productive members of society all students acquire the knowledge, shifts and values necessary to live	to live successially in the 21st Century an appreciation for the values of a democratic society that will improve the quality of tile for all	all students achieve their potential intellectualty, aocialty, acsthetically, personally, and physically
Category 1 Language that Identifies Stakeholders	All students The cilizens of County, with the assistance of state and federal governments, are united in this effort parents community	all students cach student	all students - society	all children 	students, parents, employees, residents, industry, and local uncrehants Virginia Department of Education ALL students
Coded Mission Number	\$ 4	41.	49.	9 2	32.

Category 5 Emergent Categories	Partnership. The staff works with the family and the community View of society: a democratic society	View of society: a rapidly changing. global society	Parinership: sensitive to the needs of students, parents, community, employees, and the administration View of society: a changing world	Partneredly: parents and school officials working together to ensure the development of a strong and effective partneratinp Bellef statement: all students can learn
Category 4 Language that Identifies Specific Programs	The County Public Schools the County Public Schools quality education in an environment which promotes individual growth and indiative a school climate a well qualified school staff whose nole, central to the education of the repotent, is recognized and repotent and whose productive service will be acknowledged to the entry of the school staff compensation, and appreciation compensation, and appreciation a curniculum of comprehensive service will be acknowledged though continued support, fair compensation, and appreciation a curniculum of comprehensive service will be acknowledged though continued support, fair compensation, and appreciation a curniculum of comprehensive schools to accommodate diverse provents and vocational interests a physical and social environment which is conductive to the learning properturity to develop opportunity to develop appropriate topics of study and infranceional activities which with a forweder understanting and approximiting and approximiting and appreciation of the school system in the community and and appreciation of the school system in the community and and appreciation of the acherication and endents, and parents	commitment to excellence and equity	a dynamic school system	a sale, secure and aurturing environment karming opportunities for parents and students through extensive tutorial aervices, child care, and parent workshops high personal and professional expectations for ourselves, students and parents
<u>Category 3</u> Language that Identifies <b>Division</b> . Actions	to prepare students Sontaining Creating Securing Teaching Maintaining Easuring Recognizing the differing needs and interests of individual students and interests of individual students and interests of individual students and providing in each student. Fostering providing in each student. Fostering providing in each student. Fostering providing and student. Fostering	cducate - connnitment	pruvide to strive	strive to ensure Creating Recognizing Pruviding Marlataining working together to ansure
Category 2 Language that Identifies Student Outcomes	productive citizens to ilve full and useful lives and to work confictually and cooperatively through democratic institutions to improve the quality of life for all people critical thinking and problem activing skills responsible citizens in a democratic those common values necessary for three common values necessary for students' intellectual, physical, development consistent with the acted in ordiler citizens student of productive citizens academic achiler concepts and generate interretions to ensure the continued personal growth of each student	to be productive, responsible citizens and lifeleng feamers in a rapidly changing, global society	that they may develop specific skills, competencies, and understanding necessary for success in a changing world	to become productive, creative and enting individuals to become responsible cilizens
<u>Category 1</u> Language that Identifies <b>Stakeholders</b>	Tamily and the community students society		students, parents, community, employees, and the administration 	stedents perents and schoof officials
Coded Mission Number	<del>3</del> 8	÷й	\$ <u>5</u>	Å

-----

. .

<u>Category 5</u> Emergent Categories		Partnership: in partnership with our entire community						View of society: a changing technological society												
<u>Category 4</u> Language that Identifies Specific Programs			a quality education	An effective instructional program	A safe and orderly environment	An atmosphere which is conducive to feaming	A motivated, committed and skilled									the best possible education	opportunities	quality educational servicesthat meet or exceed the needs of our	cliective instruction in essential	in a sule and healthy environment
<u>Category 3</u> Language that Identifies Division Actions	cuipowers	lo ¢hsure - cripowcr	to provide	enture —	committed		•	to graduate students 		cripect		•				to provide		provide	ellective instruction	successfully educate
Category 2 Language that Identifies Student Outcomes	to be life-long learners	empowered with the knowledge and skills necessary to meet the challenges of the future						graduates) who aspire to achieve and who are prepared to participate fully in a free and democratic society		Upon gradaation, our students will be prepared to secure employment, continue their education, and adapt skillfully to a changing technological society.	They will learn to make contributions to the well-being of the community.	students will be expected to master a challenging set of academic standards	They will be taught to find and use information, speak and write effectively. make responsible decisions, and work to achieve personal goals.	Our students will learn to appreciate bistory. diversity and the achievements of humankind.	They will learn to make contributions to the well-being of the community.	life-long learning			so that heighe may be a successful	
<u>Category I</u> Language that Identifies Stakeholders	everyone	colure community 	all students					students 	1	society						each student in [the city]	members of the community	students	Every City Schools student	alltiudents
Coded Mission Number	57.		-65					60.								-19		62.	63.	70

<u>Category 5</u> Emergent Categories	Partnership: By working together Belle statement: The success of our children depends on our success in implementing these goals. Vlew of society: increased globel demands	Belief staticments: ALL students can tearn schools improve both collectively and one at a time	Partnershib: cumentar, co-cumentar.	reature approximate of an and an and an an and an
Category 4 Language that Identifies Speelfic Programs	The learning and living environment cultivated within	Letining pretrawide educational opportunities whose measurable outcomes reflect "equity." "quality." and "excellence" commitment to continuous school improvement.	challenging, progressive educational opportunities and experiences that alter traponsive to the needs and tatents of all students the opportunity the opportunity contained for the states educational programs	consistent with each individual's abilities and needs
Category 3 Language that Identifies Division Actions	Creating pirdges to be innovative to develop provide keeps pace cultivated impart morets weeks logether	to educate Teaching communeat	us provide - responsive to provide - contraited to to browide	strive to enrich the lives of students
Calegory 2 Language that Identifies Student Outcomes	citizens who not only thick but comprehend, not only learn but apply their knowledge, and who treasure their fearning experiences will develop acdemic skills as well as foster our studend" belief in their own zelf-worth, their role as members of the commonity, and their other commonity, and their other and their role as members of the commonity, and their and their others.	constructive participation in society	to becoming consident and productive adults, enthusisatic lifelong learners, active and constructive participants in the democratic process, and contributing members of thet families, communities, and the world <u>eardemic success</u> to achieve full development of their potential through the acquisitions of values attitudes, knowledge, and values attitudes knowledge, and values attitudes knowledge, and values attitudes knowledge, and	commity's development with a global society
<u>Category 1</u> Language that Identifics Stakeholders	students students, the community, and the future work place global demands	(the city's) students for All* society	all students all students reputiciss of family structure, income, gender, or chinic origin families, communities, and the world all students	global society
Coded Mission Number	şş	Ś	63. 69.	

<u>Category 5</u> Emergent Categories	Partnership: in cooperation with sudents, parents, guardians and the community View of society: a changing society 21st century: 21st century 21st century: 21st century	View of society: a diverse multicultural society	Partnership: all sudents, parents, and community members are active participants Partnership: in partnership with the home and the community	View of society: the global society Belief dialement: all children can and will farm View of society: a modern society	
<u>Category 4</u> Language that Identifies Specific Programs		recognizes the uniqueness and worth of all students	and nutturing environment and nutturing environment a relevant, quality education	through a world class educationcommitted to providing the curriculum, persoanel, facilities, programs and activities	the environment and resources that enable and encourage
<u>Category 3</u> Language that Identifies Division Actions	picdge to prepare	editeate  texoguizes to provide 	Lo Jitepatre att ve priwide	prepare to provide the teaching committed to maximizing	to provide to produce
Category 2 Language that Identifies Student Outcomes	responsible citizens cur students will be empowered to live and work productively in the 21st century Factibility and resultence in adapting to a changing society Use of technology to improve the quality of life and learning Thinking, problem solving and decision making skills Understanding of self and diversity within the community within the community Reading, writing and computational skills Effective communication akills that promote and demonstrate integrity and decency	to be a productive, responsible and contributing member of a diverse multicultural society empowering them to become productive, responsible citizens	stills and knowledge to succeed and to contribute to a better world to become a solf-sufficient, productive member of the globul	ecciety prepared to enter the job education akills mocessary for audents to akills mocessary for audents to contribute to and benefit from a modern society maximizing of their potential	to become successful, responsible contributors to society all students to acquire the increasing inccessing students with a positive self-succin, a knowledge and militzation of basic skilds, and the physical ability to periors responsibly in today's society
<u>Category 1</u> Language that Identifies Stakeholders	atudents, pareats, guardians and the community — society	all students each student society all students	f parenta, and community community	cach student global society children society	al students acciety students acciety
Coded Mission Number	¢	71. 72.	73. 74.	15.	76. 71.

. . .

Language that Identifies Language that Identifies Student Outcomes Division Actions meacr the cisential table of reading to provide
to be self-sulficient and rolitiked to provide citizens who are responsible and
_
Retve
praud
a more competitive workforce piedge
pruviding
strive to serve
communicating effectively
recognizing working
cufisting
to involve
treating 
to provide
pocitive personal qualities and well- stimulates
develops
inarviduat diricticase
en courtiges
emphasizes
to meet
becomes a lifelong learner, an io achieve independent thinker, a responsible citizen.

<u>Category 5</u> Emergent Categories	Bedel statements: all children have worth and can feam	Belle statements: sudents differ in lich ate of phynical, mental, emotional and social development		393 (34/88) of Virginia division-level mission statements contained language that identified parateriships with parenis and/or commanity. 1946 (17/88) of Virginia division-level mission statements contained language that identified def astrometa. 2456 (17/88) of Virginia division-level mission statements contained language that identified a view of society. 2458 of Virginia division-level mission statements contained language that identified a view of society. 2458 of Virginia division-level mission statements contained language that identified the 11st century as a component of the mission.
<u>Category 4</u> Language that Identifies Specific Programs	a stable and safe environment in which to learn cuting and well-trained teachers ampropriate and adequate resources	the instruction and support for students to develop learning opportunitieswhich are compatible with the differing needs of individual learners appropriate instruction commitment to educational commitment to educational controlence and equity for all students		<u>11%</u> (68%8) of Virginia division-level mission statements contained language that identified specific programs.
<u>Category 3</u> Language that Identifies Division Actions	to casure	to provide 	to कार्राणो <i>ट</i> र	99%. (87/88) of Virginia division-level mission statements contained language that identified division actions.
<u>Calegory 2</u> Language that Identifics Student Outcomes	to become itle-long learners	realize his/her fullest potential in the utilization of talents, akills and intellect the fundamental akills and processes essential for the lifelong acquisition of knowledge	meaturize the intellect and abilities of all of our students so thay will: be prepared for a life of continuous learning: be happy; be fulfilled; and at a mizimum, be able to provide the basic necessities of life for themselves and their future families	<u>86%</u> (76/88) of Virginia division-level mission statements contained language that identified student outcomes.
<u>Category 1</u> Language that Identifies Stakeholders	all chaidaten	each students all students	children	<u>99%</u> (87/188) of Virginia division-level mission statements contained language that identified stakeholders.
Coded Mission Number	88	20	ä	67% (88/132) of Virginia school divisions had a mission statement.

Appendix D: Analysis of Stakeholders

(Note: The staff of a school division--including teachers, administrators, school board members, etc.--was assumed to be a stakeholder in the division since a mission statement articulates the purpose of the organization with which they are affiliated and charged with operating. Thus, any specific references to school division personnel were simply included incidentally in the analysis.)

Students/children, parents, local community, & larger community (e.g., state, nation, or world)		for all students	Parents, citizens, and children	the schools and the community	global society	all students	cach student	society			the home, the school and the community	cach student	society	world							21st-Century cuizens	community and nation
Students/children, parents, & local community (e.g., county, city, or town) only	for everyone in the County Public Schools								all students	students, staff, parents, and community					we exist only for the students	every person who ventures into our school system's environment		The student is the reason this school division exists	School Board members, administrators. Icachers, parents and students	our communities		
Students/children & parents only																						
Students/children only																	students					
Coded Mission Number	Ľ	ci				'n			4		°.				.9		7.	œ <sup>°</sup>			6	

Coded		Students/children	Students/children, parents,	Students/children, parents,
Number	Students/children	œ parents	& local community	& larger community,
10,	all students			
-11.	all students			
12.			teachers, parents, administrators, and community persons, groups, and agencica	
			students	
13.				all children
				every student
14.			the total community.	Antone
			each child	
13.				all students
				individual, community, state, national, and global prioritics and needs
16.				all students in County
				society
17.	ali students			
18.			families, communities, business, and educators	
			ali students	
19.				all students 
20.			students, school personnel, parents, and community	
			21st century citizens	
21.	ali children			
22.				all students society
23.			ali studeats	
			parental and community	
24.				all students, associates, the educational system, and society
25.				all students
				students, school personnel, parents, and community
				society
26.				all students
				parents, the contraunity, and school personnel
27.	NO STAKEHOLDER IDENTIFIED	NO STAKEHOLDER IDENTIFIED	NO STAKEHOLDER IDENTIFIED	NO STAKEHOLDER IDENTIFIED

lren Students/children, parents, Stuc	parents   local community   & larger community	Everyone	cach child	Sudents, stall members, parents, and volutiteers are all valued participants in insuiting success	All members of the community share in a cooperative partnership	atudents, lamily. community and school personnel	society	all students windd	Erctyone	studenta, the community, the administration and employees	world	all children	parents, teachers, and students	America	each student	society				all students	ALL students in County	students, parents, teachers, administrators, support staff, and the community	all children	parents and the community		all students		
	students/cuildren			• 			-										cach student	those who learn and those who teach	student						all students		students	
Coded Mission	Number	28.	53.			30.			32.	EE		34,								39.	<del>0</del>		41.		42.	43.		

arents, ly, unity		y, with the s effort								, residents,	tion			<u></u>			y. employees.									
Students/children, parents, local community, & larger community		All students The clutzens of County, with the sustance of state and federal governments, are united in this effort	percrats 			all students 	all children	parents, business, and industry	community	students parents, employees, residents, industry and lovel merchants	Virginia Department of Education		family and the community	students	society	alf students 	students, parents, community, employees, and the administration	children -	world					students	community 	
Students/children, parents, & local community	11																				everyone	catire community				cach student in [the city]
Students/children & parents											· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·									suucents — parents and school officials						
Students/children			<u> </u>	al students	each student							ALL students											ali ștudents			
Coded Mission Number		48 96		47	48. 198	49.	20.			51.		52.	53.			Å	53.		77	ż	57.	58.	59.	e0.		61.

acciety 	students 			84
	students			:
acciety =  studenis = society studenis = society				
acciety al students acciety acciety				
and			-	
BOCIETY				76.
children				75.
global society				
cach student				
home and the community				74,
world				
all subsols, parents, and community .				
cvery student				.c
			ALL FLUCECUES	7
society				
cach student				
all students				
Bociety				
students, parents, guardians and the community				20.
global society				
al students				69.
families, communities, and the world				
al <u>t students regardless</u> of family structure, income, gender, or ethnic origin	- -			8
			ali students	61.
society				
for All*				
[the city's] students				66.
global demands				
work place				
and the manual the fame				
				22
			allstudents	
			Every City Schools Rudent	63.
				62
& larger community	local community	parents	Students/children	Number
Students/children, parents, local community	Students/children, parents,	Students/children &		Coded

Students/children, parents, local community, & larger community		the young people of	citizens of this great city society															444%(39/88) of Virginia schooldivisions with a missionstatement identified students,parents, local community,and the larger communityand the larger communityBreadth of scope:1% referred to state as highestlevel.28% referred to attate as highestlevel.28% referred to attate as highestlevel.28% referred to global ashighest level.5% made specific reference3% made specific referenceto the state as a stakeholder.
Students/children, parents, & local community					all students	PARENTS	EMPLOYEES	BUSINESS	CITZENS			bome and community	each student					<u>234</u> (20/88) of Virginia school divisions with a mission statement identified students, parents, and local communkty as stakeholders.
Students/children & parents																;		14. (1/88) of Virginia school divisions with a mission statement identified students and parents only as stakeholders.
Students/children	al students		<b></b>	all students						all students	all children of achool age in			all children	cach student	el students	children	29% (11)31% (27)(88) of Virginia school divisions with a mission statement identified students, statement identified students, statement statement idvisions0.113.1% statement identified students, statement identified students, statement idvisions0.11as stateholders.0.11as stateholders. stakeholders.0.11as stateholders.0.11as stateholder.0.11as stateholde
Coded Mission Number	-6L	80.		81.	82.					8	84.	85.		86,	.18		88.	99% (87/88) of Virginia school divisions with a mission statement identified stake- holders.

\_\_\_\_

-----

Appendix E: Analysis of Student Outcomes

## Key to Student Outcome Categories

- Citizenship: contributes to betterment of society and/or world; socially responsible; social development.
- 2. Ability to work with others: ability to work in groups; interpersonal skills.
- Respect for individual differences: awareness/appreciation of cultural diversity. ŝ
- 4. Character: integrity; values.
- Positive self-esteem: positive outlook; happiness; personal fulfillment; mental health; emotional development. เก่
- 6. Habits of physical well-being: physical development.
  - 7. Family skills: provide/care for future family.
- 8. Caring.
- 9. Environmental stewardship: care for the physical world.
- Academic achievement: student learning; acquisition of certain/basic skills, knowledge, or behaviors; intellectual development. 10.
- 11. Communication: reading, writing, speaking, and/or listening skills.
- 12. Mathematics: computational skills.
- 13. Technology/technological skills.
- 14. Preparedness for continuing education.
- 15. Lifelong learning: enabled to learn in the present and the future.
- 16. Economically productive: prepared for work/workforce.
- Preparedness for future challenges: able to succeed; competent; able to handle change. 17.
- 18. Fully developed potential
- 19. Decision-making.
- 20. Problem-solving.
- 21. Higher-order thinking: independent thinking; critical thinking.
- 22. Creativity: artistic expression/appreciation.

Coded Mission	Language that Identifies 1 Student Outcomes 1	2 3	4	s -	Stude	nt Out	6 6	atego	11 1 1	efer to 2 13	key fr	r desc	niptors 16	s.)	18	9 20	21	22	
------------------	--	-----	---	--------	-------	--------	--------	-------	--------	-----------------	--------	--------	---------------	-----	----	------	----	----	--

<ol> <li>to acquire the skills, throwledge and autitudes to cuable them to live, learn and work in an interdependent, global society</li> <li>to become life-long learners who are prepared to more the challenges of the interdependent, global society</li> <li>given the tools to be a life-long learner, and tanght to function effectively as a member of a group and as a productive member of a group and as a productive member of society each student will experience success</li> </ol>	cowledge and suitudes to m and work in an society men are prepared to the interdependent, global life long feamer, and life long feamer, and			ł	-	-	_							 	
to become life-long learners meet the challenges of the in society to function effectively taught to function effectively group and as a productive a each student will experience	nens who are prepared to the interdependent, global ife-long learner, and if els as a member of a		•	<u> </u>				<u> </u>						┼──	
<ol> <li>grven the tools to be a life-life-life-life-life-life-life-life-</li></ol>	life-long learner, and lively at a member of a				•				•	•	•	•		 	
each student will experience	ve member of society								<u> </u>		-			-	
1	ence success	•			<del></del>	 <u></u>	•				•	•	•	 	
Each student will be expected to succeed within the bounds of their abilities or chosen educational goals	pected to succeed within itles or chosen educational				<u> </u>	 					<del></del>				
4. NO STUDENT OUTCOMES IDENTIFIED	ICOMES IDENTIFIED										-				┼─

						Ş	udont	Oute	ome (	Calog	oties	(Refe	r to k	sy for	desc	riptor	rs.)					
Coded         Language that Identifies           Mission         Student         Outcomes	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	2
<ul> <li>5. the development of individuals capable of functioning effectively in a constantly changing world</li> <li>the school experience should prepare students for life in the society which exists and provide them with the knowledge, skills, and attitudes to improve upon that society which currently exists</li> <li>students who complete their education in our school system should demonstrate skills, attitudes, and competencies in the following areas:</li> <li>verbal communication skills including reading, writing, speaking, and listening;</li> <li>'mathematical and computational skills including reading, writing, speaking, and listening;</li> <li>'mathematical and computational skills including computer literacy;</li> <li>'life skills including family living, positive physical and mental health habits, and personal economic survival skills;</li> <li>'stitizenship skills including honesty, integrity, fairness, positive moral and spiritual values and a commitment to our nation's heritage and traditions;</li> <li>'sconomic fersponsibility including progration for employment and preparation for continuing education. We believe that all students must recognize that learning is a life-long process;</li> <li>'stutiant to support societies [sic] institutions through service and stewardship of those resources enternet to use and stewardship of those</li> </ul>			•		•		•						•									

:

.....

. .

	<ul> <li>temployment and preparation for continuing education. We believe that all students must recognize that fearning is a life-long process;</li> <li>social and civic responsibility including a commitment to support societies [sic] institutions through service and stewardship of those resources entrusted to us and the nuturing of the human condition through personal relationships which reflect tolerance of and concern for others;</li> <li>an awareness of our increasing interaction in a global society and the importance of international understanding;</li> <li>cooperation and collaboration skills;</li> <li>a range of groblem solving skills and grategies with particular emphasis on higher order thinking skills and creativity;</li> <li>an appreciation of the arts, both natural and manmade.</li> </ul>																
6.	learning is a [sic] essential lifelong function										•						
7.	students will be able to make sound declaions in life improving student learning skills							٠							•		
8.	student learning will prepare students for diverse opportunities in our communities												•			 	Γ
9.	to develop 21st-Century citizens who can achieve full development of their potential and, as entical thinkers and lifelong learners, exhibit through their character and values a commitment to their community and nation, as well as a personal integrity which will enable them to meet the challenges of change	•		•	i						•		•	•		•	
10.	intellectual, vocational, social and personal needs of all students	•			•			•				•					ŀ
11.	will allow for academic achievement, will help develop a positive outlook, and will foster respect for individual differences		٠		•			٠									

.

Student Outcome Categories (Refer to key for descriptors.)	2 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22						•				•			•		•							•		•	
Student Outcome Categories (Rel	3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12					•				,	•					•	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			······	•		•			
	1 2	-				•	•				 •			•		•						•				
	Language that identifies Student Outcomes		all graduates are prepared to directly cater and continue in the skilled workforce, or to cater and complete further academic and technical education	positive nutritional habita for their life	every student will and can become a counbuing and productive member of an ever-changing society	Listin locreatingly higher levels of scademic schierement while providing for the social, physical and emotional growth	to enable each individual to develop into a productive clitzen prepared to enter the twenty- litat century	develop positive personal qualities and well- being, and foster respect for individuals	learning how to learn	the development and application of knowledge and skills	 an education that cnables them to become informed and productive citizens in a democratic society	successin luture endeavors	life-long learning	responsible productive citizens for the future	all students to their highest level of academic performance	positive development of their health, their stiltudes and their behaviors	cach individual student may make a positive contribution to our democratic society	21st century citizens achieve fuil dévelopment of their potential	lifelong learning and critical thinking skills	students to meet the challenges of change in real- life situations	to master academic subjecta	all students will become life-long teamers and responsible, productive members of school and society	students' enthusiasm for learning	educational material and continuous improvement [ for instructional mocess and continuous improvement]		menary students to meet the challenges of society
	Coded Mission		12.		13,			13,			16.	÷1	18.		.61			20.			21.	22.	.53.	24.		25.

							Stude	Student Outcome Categories (Refer to key for descriptors.)	tcome	Cate	gories	(Refe	ir to I	ey fo	r desci	ripton	<u>.</u>					Γ
Coded Mission	Language that Identifies Student Outcomes		5		4	5	6 7		6	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	61	20	21	3
																					1	T
9	well-founded, productive cuizzas who are good																				[	Γ
	prepare students to succeed in a multicultural and changing world	•		•					•		•	·	•			٠	•			•	•	
	critical thinking, problem solving, communication, and technology skills							<u> </u>														
27.	NO STUDENT OUTCOMES IDENTIFIED				┢──	-		┣										Ţ		1	Γ	T
28.	NO STUDENT OUTCOMES IDENTIFIED				Į		┣		<b> </b>	<b> </b>	<b> </b>									1	T	Τ
29.	litelong learning				$\left  \right $	$\vdash$	╂		┣	┨	<b> </b>	<u> </u>			•					Τ	Τ	T
30.	become productive ciuzzas and contributing members of society	•		<u> </u>			$\vdash$			<b> </b>		<u> </u>				•					1	Τ
.1E	adary and meet the chaltenges of a changing world						<b> </b>	<u> </u>	<b> </b>	<u> </u>	<b> </b>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>				•					T
32.	Everyone Will Be a Successful Learner		$\left  \right $	-	-	┢		┣-	_	<b>!</b>	<b> </b>		<u> </u>							Τ	Γ	Т
33.	I in order that they may develop specific abilit. competencies and understanding necessary for success in a changing world			<del> </del>	1	<del>  .</del>			<u> </u>	<b> </b>	<b> </b>	<u> </u>					•			1		T
.94.	terparing graduates for responsible citizenship, further learning, and productive employment			$\vdash$	I 		<b> </b>	<u> </u>			<u> </u>									Γ		Γ
	will have been taught to think independently, act cooperatively, be aware of options in the future, and have been given the tools to compete					;	<del></del>															
	anywhere with anyone in America 	,	,					<del></del>							•	•	•				•	
33.	becoming a productive member of society	1	┢	╈	╋	+	╀	╀	╇	-	╇					Ι		T	T	T	1	T
	- cach student is able to reach his or her fullest potential															٠		•				
36.	[prepared for] the future and for life-long learning		$\square$		<del> </del>		┣─		<u> </u>	<u> </u>		L	<u>                                     </u>		•		•			Γ		Γ
37.	NO STUDENT OUTCOMES IDENTIFIED					<u> </u>			ļ			<u> </u>									1	Γ
38.	NO STUDENT OUTCOMES IDENTIFIED								_	<b> </b>		<u> </u>										Γ
39.	students to be responsible and productive citizens in an ever-changing society	•		—			<b> </b>					<b> </b>				•	•	•		$\square$		Τ
	each student in reaching his/her potential		-		_							<u> </u>								<u>.</u>	. <u></u>	_
	students become involved, responsible learners who reach their potential							<u> </u>	ļ	<u> </u>												Γ
	produce graduates with the necessary skills to enter the job market or to pursue higher education				·					•				•		٠	•	•				
, 	success for all students and will build on their successes			<u>.</u>		<u> </u>															_	
41.	schieving success in school and life		┢		├				-	•							•			T		Γ
		1	1	1	1	+	-	+	-	-					]	]		1	1	1	1	1

Γ	22			1_	1							1	Ţ		Ţ		<b> </b>	•	Ţ							
İ	21					•					<u> </u>		_	. <u> </u>	L			<u> </u>					•			
	50		L		<u> </u>											·		<u> </u>					•			
	<u> </u>		L																							
	18									•		•						•	L							
6	17	ļ		•						•				•		•										
npto	16		Ĺ			•								•									•			
desc	15		Ŀ			•					•															
ey foi	14					•															_					
r to k	13																		ſ							
Student Outcome Categories (Refer to key for descriptors.)	12		Γ										Ι													
ories (	11																									
alcgo	10					•							Ι	•				•					٠		_	
ome	6		Γ		Γ					·			Γ		Γ				Γ							
Offic	∞												Γ													
Ident	4									-			T	-					Γ							
ŝ	و												Γ					•	Γ				•			
	s												Γ					•	Γ				•			
	4													٠									•			
	m					•							Γ			_			Γ							
	3												Γ		Γ								•			
	1		•	•					_							٠		•					•			
	Language that Identifics Student Outcomes		to become responsible, contributing citizens and life-long fearners	so that they develop the knowledge and stills to achieve success and become active citizens who contribute to their communities	prepare students for post-secondary education and/or the worldorce and to become life-long kenners	stimulates intellectual curiosity. fosters respect for individual differences	emphasizes high expectations for students' scherement and behavior	NO STUDENT OUTCOMES IDENTIFIED	coable our students to full worthy and diverse Toles and accept opportunities in our community	they will be motivated to fully utilize their talents, resources, and capabilities	become lifelong learners	each student to develop his or her full learning potential	informed and productive members of society	- all students acquire the knowledge, skills and values necessary to live	to live successfully in the 21st Oentury	an appreciation for the values of a democratic society that will improve the quality of life for all	NO STUDENT OUTCOMES IDENTIFIED	ali giudente achiere their potential intellectually, socially, aesthetically, personally, and physically	productive citizens	to live full and useful lives and to work confidently and cooperatively through democratic institutions to improve the quality of fife for all people	critical thinking and problem solving skills	responsible citizens	those common values necessary for living and working together as responsible citizens in a democratic society	zudents' intellectual, physical, aocial, moral, and ethical development consistent with the needs of productive chizens		strong positive self-concepts and generales interventions to ensure the continued personal growth of each student
	Coded Mission		42.	43.	44.	· ·		45.	46.	·	47.	<b>₽</b> ₽	49.		<b>3</b> 0.		.ic	52.	8						<u>.</u>	

	61	ħ			T	•	T-	1	T	1	<b></b>	<u>.                                    </u>				·	$\mathbf{T}$	Τ~	<b>-</b>	<b>T</b>	1		
	5	-			+		╂																
	5		ļ	<b>_</b>	4		Ļ	<b> </b>	<u> </u>	<b> </b>								╞	<u> </u>	_	<u> </u>	•	
	20																						<del></del>
	6							İ.					•										
	18																	1		Γ			
2	17			•	1			•		Γ			•				Τ	Γ	Τ	Γ		•	
tptor	16		•			٠							•					Γ		Γ			
desci	15		•				•		Γ					ۇر			•	Γ	1	Î		٠	
y for	14							1	Γ				•				1			Τ			
to ke	13			+	╞				$\square$	<u>†</u>	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		•							┢	┼──	<u> </u>	<u> </u>
Student Outcome Categories (Refer to key for descriptors.)	12				$\uparrow$				$\uparrow$	<u>†</u>							╈	┢	╋		┼──		
ries (I	11			<u> </u>	┟╌				$\vdash$	<u> </u>	· · · · · ·		•	···			┢	┢	$\uparrow$	$\uparrow$	+		<u> </u>
tegoi	10			┟┈╍╼	┢						<del>,</del>		•				+	┼──	•	┼╌	┟──╵	•	
С Н	6				-			-	<u> </u>									<u> </u>	+	┼──	┼──	·	
utcor				╏┉┈┙		•											+		+	+	┼─	······	
0 T	-			<u> </u>													┼╌		+	+	┼──		
Stud	9			┨────				┢─									╂	┝─	╢		┢╌╌		
	5			┣──						<u> </u>	<u></u>	•				. <u> </u>	┢─		╂──	┝		•	
	4			┣	┣			_		<u> </u>							┢─	┟──	┢		┣		
				┠───		_		<u> </u>	┣-	┨───	• <u>•</u> •••••							<u> </u>					
	3				┨───					ļ						·			╂──		<b> </b>		
╞					<u> </u>	_	<u> </u>		<b> </b>					<u> </u>					_	<u> </u>	┣		<u> </u>
	-					-						•	• 				<b> </b>	<b> </b>		<b> </b>	<b> </b>	•	
	Language that Identifies Student Outcomes		to be prouterve, responsible cluzeds and incloug learners in a rapidly changing, global society	that they may develop epecific shills, competencies, and understanding necessary for success in a changing world	to become productive, creative and caring individuals	to become responsible citizeas	us be lui e-tong learners	empowered with the knowledge and skills necessary to most the challenges of the future	NO STUDENT OUTCOMES IDENTIFIED	(graduates) who aspire to achieve and who are prepared to participate (wily in a free and democratic acclety	Upon graduation, our students will be prepared to Eccure employment, continue their education, and adapt skillfelly to a changing technological society.	They will team to make contributions to the well- being of the community.	atudents will be expected to master a chaltenging act of acadenic standards	They will be taught to find and use information. speak and write effectively, make responsible decisions, and work to achieve personal goals.	Our students will learn to appreciate history, diversity and the achievements of humankind.	They will learn to make contributions to the well- being of the community.	life-long teaming	NO STUDENT OUTCOMES IDENTIFIED	so that he/she may be a successful learner	NO STUDENT OUTCOMES IDENTIFIED	citizens who not only think but comprehend, not only learn but apply their knowledge, and who treasure their learning experiences	will develop academic akills as well as foster our students' belief in their own self-worth, their role as members of the community, and their responsibilities to themselves and othera.	We will impart to our students the value and appreciation of itfelong learning.
	Coded Mission		Ŕ.	33.	Ś		.,c	58.	59.	60.		-					61.	62.	63.	<b>Ş</b>	65.	<u>.</u>	

	f anniors that Idoutifier	Ţ	F	F	ŀ	F	카		影	8- 8-	Egon -	es (R	efer	Student Outcome Categories (Refer to key for descriptors.)	e Jg	scii bi	(isi					
Language mar Student Ou	nat identities Outcomes		17	5	4	5 	9	7 8	8	9 1	10 1	11 1	12 1	13 14	4 15	5 16	11	18	19	20	21	22
									l		{		1			1						
Leaming 		•					┢──		┝━	┣-	┝-	┝	┝─	┣	┝─		<b> </b>	L				
NO STUDENT OUTCOMES IDENTIFIED	IDEMIFIED	1	1	+	1	╋	┼╌	╀╴	┿	┼╌	┼╌	┿	+	┢	╋╴	╀╴		_				
to becoming confident and productive adult, enthusiastic lifelong learners, active and constructive participants in the democratic process, and contributing members of their liamilies, communities, and the world	uctive adults, ive and emocratic rs of their ord				†	1	<del> </del>	╂						<u>  .</u>			<u></u>	<u> </u>				
Academic success		•	•			•	•	•							•	•		•				
to achieve full development of their potential through the acquisitions of values, attludes, prowledge, and skills that are essential	seir potential ca. aktitudea. sential				·						<u> </u>								······			
to become active partners in our community development with a global society	community's ty		<b>[</b>	<u>†</u>	1-		┢	┢──	╀─	╉━	╎	┢	┼─	┢	-	+	<b> </b> •	<b> </b>				T
responsible citizens			$\mathbf{T}$	╞	$\dagger$	┢	+	┢	┢	┢	╀	╀	╀	╀	+	╞	╞				T	T
our students will be empowered to live and work productively in the 21st century	to live and work								·					<u> </u>	·							
Flexibility and resilience in adapting to a changing society	ing to a										·				·		·					
Use of technology to improve the quality of life and learning	: quality of life	•		•	•	•			<u> </u>								•		•	•	•	
Thinking, problem solving and decision making	decision making					<i>,</i> ,			_													
Understanding of self and diversity within the community	ily within the				<u>.                                    </u>								<u> </u>									
Reading, writing and computational skills	nal skills																					
Effective communication skills that promote and demonstrate integrity and decency	bat promote and y												· ·									
to be a productive, responsible and contributing member of a diverse multicultural society	and contributing I society	·	<u> </u>	•		$\vdash$	┼──	-	┢──	┢	$\vdash$	┢╌		┨	╞	<b>!</b>	<u> </u>		<b>_</b>			
empowering them to become productive. responsible citizens	ductive,	•		<u> </u>	┢			┢─	┢	┢	-			<u> </u>		<b>!</b>			<u> </u>			T
skills and knowledge		_							_													·
to stacceed and to contribute to a	better world	•						-						┝			•	<u> </u>	ļ_			
to become a self-sufficient productive member of the global society prepared to enter the job market and/or continue his/her education	ctive member of ter the job market a			┢──	1	$\vdash$	$\left  - \right $				+	┼──		•	+	•			<u> </u>			
actils necessary for students to c benefit from a modern society	contribute to and	•			┢	╞	$\vdash$	$\left  \right $	┼╌	┢─	┼─	╉╾	┢──	-	+	-	<u> </u>	•	<u> </u>			
- maximizing of their potential																	) 	•				
all students to acquire the know values necessary to become succ responsible contributors to socie	tedge, skills and exstul. ty	•	<u> </u>		•			· · · · ·									•		<u> </u>			
sudents with a positive self-catern, a knowledge and utilization of basic skills, and the physical ability to perform renconsibly in today's society	cm. a knowledge Id the physical today's society	•				•	•			-	-				_	<u> </u>	<u> </u>					
HI Comparison with the day of the second s	Annual a State	]	4	+	1	┥	-	-	-	-	_	-	_	_	-	_				_		

		 				_												
	22		•															ᠬᡑ᠊᠍ᢓᢅᢅᢓ
	21		٠										•					48 <u>5</u> 8
	20	Γ			Γ				Γ									₩¥£₿
	19					[			Γ									๛๙ฃ฿
	18								F							•	•	₩ <u>5</u> 88
(	17						•		F						1-			ઌ૿ૡઌૢૺૹ૿
ptors	16		•			•		•	F			-	[				•	ૻ૱ઙૢૻૹ૿
descri	15		•		•		<u> </u>	[	t	•			•	•		•	•	ૡૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢ
/ for	14				ţ-	<u> </u>	[	┢──	Γ									~ ୫ ତିଛି
to key	13				┟──				F				╏──	┟╼╍╸				ઌૹૡૺૹ૿ૢૺ
Student Outcome Categories (Refer to key for descriptors.)	12		•		┢──	<u> </u>			┢╴									m#@8
ies (ł	11		•					-	┢						<b> </b>			<u>૦૬૭)</u>
Itegoi	10		•				<b> </b>		ŀ				<u> </u>			• .		<u>ૡૡૡ</u>
ne C	6								F					┟──				ଞ୍ଚିତିଞ୍ଚଳ
Jutcol	8								F				<u>†</u>					-* <u>5</u> 8
lent C	2								ſ				<u> </u>	-	<b> </b>		•	m#@@
Stur	9		•				┟──		┢╴	•					<u> </u>	· <u>···</u>		<u>ଟ</u> ନ୍ଦ୍ରଞ୍ଚି
	S					•			F	•							•	<u>ૹ</u> ઙૢૼૹ <u>ૹ</u>
	4							<b> </b>	┢				<b> </b>					œ&∂%¤
	ε		•			 			F	•								≓*\$ <u>j</u> 8
	7								Γ									૦ <u>ઋઝ</u> દ્ધ
			•			•			T	-			•					₽₽₽ <u>₽</u> 8
	Language that Identifies Student Outcomes	master the essential skills of reading, whiting, mathematics, and reseming	grow creatively, culturally and physically in order to become life-long learners	learn to appreciate cultural diversity, become responsible citizens, and fead productive lives	team and demonstrate akills needed for lifetong	to be self-sufficient and fulfiled citizens who are responsible and participating members of society	lifelong success	a more competitive worklorce	intellectual curiosity	positive personal qualities and well-being	respect for individual differences	NO STUDENT OUTCOMES IDENTIFIED	becomes a lifelong learner, an independent thinker, a responsible citizen	to become life-long teamets	realize higher fullest potential in the utilization of the talents, while and intellect	the fundamental akills and processes essential for the lifelong acquisition of knowledge	maximize the intellect and abilities of all of our students ao they will: be prapared for a life of continuous learning; be happy; be fulfilled; and, at a minimum, be able to provide the basic poccentities of life for themselves and their future families	<b><u>869</u></b> (76/88) of Virginia division-level mission statements contained language that identified student outcomes.
	Coded Mission	78.			·6L	80. 80		82.	83. -			84	ŝ	86.	18	•	<b>x</b>	
	the second value of the se	 _	_		_	_		_	_	_	_	_		_				

Appendix F: Analysis of Division Actions by Synonym Sets

# Kev to Division Actions Categories

# Degrees of Achievement or Commitment

- Achieve/Meet
  - Demonstrate
- Acknowiedge/Recognize/Give attention/Value Promote/Advance/Emphasize <del>.</del>
  - 4
    - ÷
- Expect/Require/Uphold Improve/Increase/Enrich/Exceed/Maximize <u>ه، د. ه، و. م</u>
  - Strive/Seek
- Assure/Ensure
- Commit/Pledge
- Be accountable/Be responsible

- Systems and Programs 11. Create/Develop/Establish
- Operate/Use/Implement/Work <u>555</u>
  - Provide/Offer
- Maintain/Sustain/Support/Secure/Continue/ Retain/Fund
  - Respond/Keep pace
  - Evaluate 19.7
    - Revise

### Means of Educating

- Serve 8. <u>6</u>.
- Assist/Guide
- Nurture/Cultivate/Foster/Care 22.20.
- Encourage/Motivate/Stimulate/Engage Teach/Educate/Instruct/Impart/Instill

## **Outcomes of Educating**

- Empower/Enable ය. ස
- Prepare Produce/Graduate 25.

## Working in Cooperation

- Communicate 26.
- Involve/Enlist/Recruit
  - Share/Work together
- Respect/Treat 27. 28.

	ſ			Degn	ces of A	chieven	nent or	Commit	ment			·		System	s or Pro	grams				Means	of Educ	aling	T	Oute	omes of	EL		Partner	ships	
	Language that Identifies													1		<u> </u>					T	T		T					1	
Coded Mission Number	that Identifies Division Actions	١,	2.	3:	4.	5.	6,	7.	8.	9.	10.	11.	12.	13.	14.	15.	16,	17.	18.	19.	20.	21.	22.	23.	24.	25.	26.	27,	28.	29.
																											·			
1.	Teaching																				•		•							
2.	Caring provide				·																									
	educate students																													
	to serve						•							•					•		•		•							
	involves																													
{	fosters																													
3.	improves provide			┠╾╾											'											<sup>!</sup>				
	treat							ļ						•																•
4.	to provide													•																
5.	to promote, fund, implement, and evaluate programs and services consistent with these beliefs and values 				•								•		•		•								•				•	
	prepare		l			ł							а. 1											ľ			ł			
6,	We are committed to successand we will settle for nothing less									•																				
7.	providing									•											•									
8.	nurturing prepare	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<b> </b>	ļ	<u> </u>	<b> </b>	<b> </b>	ļ	<u> </u>	<b> </b> -	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>		<b> </b>	├	<b> </b>	<b> </b>	ļ	<b> </b>	ļ	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<b> </b>		<u> </u>			<b> </b>
	be accountable									ļ	•			{											•					
9.	to provide		<b>1</b>			1		<u> </u>	1			<u> </u>			<u> </u>				<u> </u>				<u> </u>	ļ —	[		1			<b></b>
10.	meeting	•	†	┼-~-	<u> </u>	<u> </u>					<del> </del>		<b>†</b>		<u> </u>	<del> </del>								<b>†</b>	1		<b> </b>	<u> </u>		<u> </u>
	to provide			┢┈	┢──	<b> </b>	<del>                                      </del>		┼──	<u> </u>	╂──					├──	<u> </u>						<b> </b>	┼──		<b> </b>				╆╍╍╼
	to meet	•	<b>I</b>	1	<u> </u>	<u> </u>				<u>L</u>				•	<u> </u>	<u>t</u>	L	I		<u> </u>				<u> </u>	<u>I</u>	Ł	<u> </u>			

Г			· ····	- <u>-</u>		<u> </u>			-					-		<u> </u>			T	_		T		1
	6	Ň																						
															:									
Padmenthing							4		T				T			T	T		Τ			T		
	,	ę		1		$\square$	_		T				Г	٦		Т			T			T		
				1					T				$\uparrow$				1		t			Ť		$\top$
Outcomes of Ed		ŝ		$\top$		1			t				┢	Ť		╀	1		$\uparrow$	•	)	╋		
Otteo	;	á	$\left  \right $	$\uparrow$		1	•		t				┢	1		╈	1		ϯ			t	_	1
ŀ	;	-	-						$\dagger$							╉╼	╡	•	T			╋		
ting.		-		$\uparrow$					$\dagger$	•			1	╡		╋	╈		╀			$\dagger$		$\vdash$
Means of Educating		-	$\vdash$	┢	_				╈		_		┼╴	┨		+-	╈	•	┢	•		╀		┢
Cans o		4	┢	┼──					t					╉		╎	╋		┢			$\dagger$		┼╌
ŕ		4	$\vdash$	┼─	-				╋				┢	$\dagger$		┼╌	╉	<u> </u>	+	_		╀		┢
╞		-	-	┼─	-				t			-	┢─	╉		+	╉		╞			+		┢
	19	-		┼─					╀				┢╴	╉		┢	+		┢	<u> </u>		┢		-
E		-	┝	┼╌					╀		·		┢╌	╉		╀╴	╉		┝	,		╀		<u> </u>
Popula	14.	-	┝	┢	_				╀				┝	╉		┢	╉		┢			╀		
Systems of Programs		4	┝─	+-			•	- *	┞	•			┝─	╉	•	┝	+		┢	-		╀	•	•
S	12	-		$\vdash$			_		╞				┢┈	╀		╞	+		╞	_		╀		-
			<u> </u>	╂──					╞				┝─	╇	<u>.                                    </u>	┢	╀		┝			ļ.		
		•		╞	_				╞					╇		╞	╀					╞		
	ġ		┞	╞					┞	_			-	╉	·		╀		┞	-		Ļ		
	<del>م</del>	i		<u> </u>					╞					╀			╀			<u> </u>				
nitment	00	ļ	ŀ	<b>!</b>									-		•	ļ	┦							
or Cottait	بر بر		ļ						<b> </b>					$\downarrow$		ļ								
ement o	<del>ن</del>	ļ					_							╞		<b> </b>								
Achiev	نه 		L	<b> </b>					L												<u> </u>			
Degrees of Achievement or Commitment	4			L				-	L					ļ									•	
Å,														<b> </b>										
	به ۲۰						•			<u>.</u>				Ļ										
	1.									•				L						,		L		
	Language that Identifies Division Actions		to ensure	to provide	lo ensure	to involve  provides	econnitment	enable	to provide	biller.	respond to	stimulate	to ensure	to provide	 ensures	providing	to educate	 fostering	to provide	nuture	preperc	to provide	promotes	to provide
	Coded Minsion Number			1 121	Т	ť			15.				 9	ŀ		18.	-61	. –	20.			21.		ri i

Γ	9			Г	<u></u>	ſ		T	T	T	T	Τ	<b>TTTTTTTTTTTTT</b>
la	<u> </u>	-1			┣───		<u> </u>		-	╂	┼─	┼─	<b>  </b>
Partnerships		-			<b> </b>		<u> </u>			┿			<b> </b>
Ĕ	<u> </u>	-	•	ļ	<b> </b>				-		<u> </u>		
	*	-1		<u> </u>	ļ		<b> </b>	ļ	ļ		_		
E	, ,	1					ļ	ļ					
Outcomes of Ed.	7	1			•	•		L	L				
Ø	2	i	l										
	22	i											
Bolling	21.		•							Ι			
of Educ	20		•		•				•				
Means of Educating	.6									†		<u> </u>	
Γ	8	-								┟╴┈			•
Н	17.	4	•								$\square$		[
	16.	4	•							┼──	<b> </b>		<b> </b>
E		4											
Systems or Programs	14.	ł	•							<u> </u>	├	-	
stems o	13.	ł	•	•	•				 	-	-	┣	•
ĥ		•	•									<b> </b>	
										┨	<b> </b>	<b> </b>	
	=	1								<b> </b>			
		ł								<b></b>			l
								_					
Degrees of Achievement or Communent	<b>00</b>		•								•		
Comm			······································										
Thenk of	6.		•				•						
opicyc	s.		•		_			·					
XE OL A	4.		•										
	я.												
	5			[									
	1		•					•					
	2 2 2 2 2 4						28				Į	≩ล	
	Language that locatifies Division Actions		Lo casure providing increasing promoting meruting and retaining and retaining couraging fostening uti uti u uti ug offening offening requiring cvaluating progras and requiring reduite this goals to achieve this		provide prepare nuturing		to continually improve the services of education.	ureve.	u toster share	vide	to ensure that	NO ACTION IDENTIFIED	to provide 
þ							9 9 <u>8</u> 8 9 9			<u>e</u>	ĕ	2 <u>9</u>	<u>8</u> 18
	Coded Mitssion Number		พี่	:	q =			ġ P	4	30.	ЭГ.	ri N	ŝ
L	- 44				l	[					[		

								_										_						
ſ		Ŕ	Γ						Ţ				_	Γ	Ţ		٠			T	_			
1		ž			_	••••••			T			_	_	Τ	T				-	T		T	_	
Partnershine		27.							t					╈	T				-	Ť		Ť		
l		é		·					T	•		_		1	T					Ť	•	T		
		ġ	F						T				-	$\uparrow$	Ť	_				t	-	T		
Outcomes of Ed		ŝ	Γ			•			T					•	T					T	_	T	•	,
Outer		ŝ	Γ						T					Γ	T					T		T		
ľ			Γ		•	•			T						T				_	T	_	T		
	ē			-					T		•	<u></u>		Γ	T		•			T		T		
Means of Educating	Ę	i i				•			T		•				T					t	_	t		
Means	2			·		•			T		٠		 	$\square$	T		- ·	_		T		1	•	
	<u> </u>		Γ					-	T				 	T	T			_		T		T		<u> </u>
ſ	5		F						T					$\uparrow$	T					T		T		
	4								T						T					ſ		T		
graumo	2								T					Γ	T					T		Ť	_	
Systems or Programs	4								Γ						Τ		•			F		T		
System					•	)			T		•				T		•			Γ		T	•	
	1								[:						Γ							T		
	=								Ī						Γ							T		
	10.				_	_			Γ		•				Γ					Γ		Γ	in the second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second	
															Γ									
	80				•								_		Γ									
Commi	7.			_	٠																			
pent or	ę.																				•			
<b>IChicvel</b>							_				-													
Degrees of Achievement or Commitment	4																				•			
	é																							
	2.																							
	1,				٠																			
	Language that Identifies Division Actions		S í		80	Ę		ing	)vide	4		each student toward this	 <b>utable</b>	to prepare cach student	vide	\$	ą		trges	amize	ŝ	bare	wide	R
			achieve	fosters	teaching	provide	annte I	prepar	to provide	to guide.			ACCOUNT		to provide	respects		1	cucourages		promo	to prepare	to provide	lo arsig
	Coded Mission Number		4 4						35.					36.	37.			-		38.		.95		
L	- AZ	l L		_						_			 			_		_			_			

ſ	;	ŝ										1				T	Τ					18
		ż								<sup></sup>		·				+						1
The state of the s	۲ ۲	_						_				+			+	╀╴	†					1
Automes of Ed.	×	-				•	<u></u>					+			╋	╀╴	+					1
		-			* <u>-</u>	•						+			╈	╀╴	<u>†</u>					1
	7	-										+			+	+-	+	···	•	<u> </u>		1
		-										+			┢	┼─	╋──			. <u> </u>		1
Means of Educatine		-			·										╏╌	+-	<u>†</u>					
		-	<b></b>			•						<u>†</u>	_		•	┼╴	†		•	,		1
	6	-			<b></b>	•					_	<u> </u>			┢	╞──	<u>†</u>		•			
	<u>.</u>	-								<u> </u>		•			$\uparrow$	┢╴	1					
	8	-	<b> </b>						_	<u>.</u>		1				┼──	1					
Systems or Programs		-				·						<u> </u>	<u></u>	_		┟╴	1					
	16.	4						_	_							┟──	1					
	_	-								<u> </u>		1				╞╴	<u>†                                    </u>					
	4	4				•					<u> </u>	•			┢		1			·		
	<u> </u>	1				•		_			<u> </u>	•			<u> </u>	-						ĺ
	<u>.</u>			<del>_</del>		•									╎──	<u> </u>						
	=					•	<u>.</u>		_			•		••••••								
Depres of Achievement or Commitment	ġ	1				·		_	_			<b> </b>										
	o'	1	<u> </u>					<u> </u>				<b> </b>				<b> </b>	<u> </u>			·		
	αi	1							_							-						
		1		<u></u>		•	_		_								<u> </u>					
	6.	1												·								
	s.	l					<b>.</b>		_			•						-				
	4					•		_					_						•	••		
Depre	Ĵ,				<del>.</del>								<u>.</u>									
	i,					•					_		_									
																	, <u> </u>		•			
	uige Milica Ion Tas		de fons	2.8	hing Jang					icate	·	high bigh s for								<u> </u>		
	Language that locatifics Division Actions		to provide have high expectations for their schierement	encourage cultivating	establishing and maintaining creating	foster n promotes	develop muture	- opcrate	demonstrate	sectring - communicate	Produce	cstablish and uphold high scatcnic standards for students	provide	aasist 	to engage all students	to prepare all students	will meet the educational needs of all	sturtus etimulates		encounges	comparatures 	
			<b></b>										1 140 1									
	Coded Mitaion Number		6 <del>4</del>									41.			42.	43.	4					

----

· • • • •

13     14     15     17     18     17     18     17     18     17     18     17     18     17     18     17     18     17     18     17     18     17     18     17     17     18     17     18     17     17     18     17     17     17     17     17     18     17     17     17     17     18     17     <
•
•
•
┨╸╌╌╴╴

· ···

-----

.

169

.

. . . . ..

				Ä	Degrees of Achievement or Commitment	Achieve	ECCI OF		liment					Systems	Systems or Programs	Stant			M	lo sue	Means of Educating	2 2	б	Outcomes of Ed.	i of Ed.		Party	Partneratures	
Coded Mission Number	Language thai Identifies Division Actions	1.	2.	ę,	<del></del>	vi	ۍ س	۲.	<i>a</i> i	6	ġ	11.	2	13	4	S.			18	10	, ,	;					<u> </u>		
													1	1	•	4	4	ł	-		-	-1	4	-	-	-1	-	-	Ň
33.	to prepare students								L			Γ			F	┢	┢	┢	$\vdash$	$\vdash$	-	-	╞	$\vdash$					
	Sustaining																• • • • •												
	Creating																·		<u>.</u>		<u></u>								
	Securing																		<u> </u>										
	Teaching														•								<u> </u>	<u> </u>	• ·		-		
	Maintaining														<u> </u>									<del>ر</del>					
	Eastring														<u> </u>	<del></del>				<u> </u>	_	<u></u>							
	Recognizing the differing										#		<b></b>				<u> </u>		<u> </u>					<sup>-</sup>					
	needs and interests of			•	•				•			•		•	•							•		•					
	individual students and				<u>.</u>											_		<u> </u>	<u> </u>					<del></del> .					
	providing															<u> </u>		_											
	Instilling in teach student																							<u> </u>					
	Fostering												<u> </u>					<u>.</u>	<u></u>						•				
	promotes																												
	valued.																_	<del></del> .											
	d, and advanced																												
ž	oducate												T	T	$\dagger$	╀	╋	╞	╀	╀	╉	╀	╀	╇	┦	1	╇		
	commitment									•												•							
<b>35</b> .	provide													ļ,	┢╴	┢	┢	╀╴	┟╴	┝	╀─	╞	╞	╀╴	┢	╇	╞	╞	
	to serve								j					,					•	-									
Ś.	strive to costare														<b> </b>	-	┢─	┢─	-	┝─	┝─	┣	┢	-	<b> </b>	<u> </u>	-		
	Creating																							<u> </u>					
	Recognizing																												
	Providing			•				•	•			•		•	•													•	
	Maintaining															·,-								<u> </u>					
	working			<u></u> -																			. <u> </u>					. <u></u>	
	lo ensure															<u>.                                    </u>				<u> </u>	·							<u></u>	
57.	empowers									Γ		Γ	T	ϯ	┢	+	+	╀	╀	┢	╀	╀	╀	╇	╇	+	∔	╞	
ş	in entite	Ι	Ι										1	1			-	$\neg$	-				•						
i									•						·								•					[	
	I CUIVAGE												1	1		-		-	-	-	-	_		_	_	_			

Γ	1	8	Г			T			Т	Т		Т	T		Т									<u> </u>		Г		Т		Т		Т			T		] E
Į		28. 2	+			┢			╀	╉		┽╍	+		╀		-									┼╌╸		╉		┽	<u></u>	╀			╋	<b></b> _	-
Padnershine		27. 2	+		<u></u>	╀╌		<u> </u>	╋	╉			╡		╉				_							-		┥		╇		╀			╉		
ſ	<u> </u>	26. 2	$\left  \right $			┼─			╉─	╉		+	╉	<u> </u>	╉			_						_		┢		╉	·	╇		╀			╉		
	<u> </u>	22 2	┢			╀╴	•		╋	╉		╋	╉		╋				<u> </u>									╉		┽		╀			╉		
es of Ex	<u>'</u>	24. 2	┢			┝	•		╀╴	╉		┼╌	╉		╀					<u> </u>		<u></u> .			- <u></u>			╡		╉		╀			╋	•	
Outcomes of Ed	'	23. 1 2	-			┢			+	╉		╁╴	╉		╀				_							┢		╉		╀	<u> </u>	+-			╋		
F	<u> </u>	77. 1 2	┢			┢			+	╉		+-	╉	•	$\dagger$					•				<u> </u>		-		╉		╀	<u> </u>	╀			╋	 i	
			$\left  \right $			┢			╀╴	╉	<u> </u>	┼╴	╉		+	÷.					_		-					┽		╉		╀╴			+		
Means of Educating			┝	;		-			╀╴	╉		╉	╉		╀╴	<u> </u>	<u>.</u>			•		<u></u>				-	<u> </u>	╉		╉		╀			╋		
त्वतः ल	`		$\left  \right $			┢	<u> </u>		┼╴	╉	<u>-</u> -	╈	╉		╀			_										┽		╉	_	┢			╋		
ľ		-	$\vdash$						╀╴	╉		┢	╈		╀╴	<u> </u>			_	_					-			╉		╈		┢			╀	_	
$\left  \right $	<u>-</u>	-	$\vdash$	·					┢	╉		╢──	╉		┢		<u> </u>								-			╉		╀		╞			+		
		-	$\vdash$				·- <u>-</u> -		┢	╉		╉─╸	+	<del></del>	┢													╉		╉		╞			╋	-	
atris		-1	-			┢			+	╈	· · · · · ·	┼╌	$\dagger$		┢	,_				•		·			-			╈	•	┢	_				╧		
Systems or Programs	4	-1	╞						$\vdash$	$\dagger$		+	╈		┢												<u>-</u>	╋		╀		┢	<u></u>		╋		
vstems	:	┥	F	•					┼.		•	╋	$\dagger$						_	•			<u> </u>					+	•	╋	•	<b> </b>		•	╋		
ŝ	5	4	┢		_				┟╍	╈	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	╆	╋		┢╴										-			╀				┢			╋	-	
		-	F		-				┢╴	$\uparrow$		+	╉	-	F					•						_	<u> </u>	╀	_	┢				_	╈	-	
Η	Ū	4	F							$\dagger$	<u>.                                    </u>	┼─	t		┢╴										-			╋	_	╀		. 			╈		
	o	1	┢	•				<del></del>		$\dagger$	-	╀──	╋		┢	·				•					┥	•	_	$\dagger$		╋	•	$\left  \right $			$\uparrow$	-	
Ę			┢	•	-				<u> </u>	†		┼─	╈		┢─		<u> </u>				<u>.</u>				1			╋	-	┢		-			$\uparrow$	-	
OFFICE			┢							t		┼─	╈												┥		·;	╈		┢			_		╋	-	
	ـــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــ		F							T	•	┢	╈			···									┪			╋		┢				 >	†	-	
hieven			F				•	-		T		┢	T					•							1			$\dagger$	-	╞	-1				╀	-	
30 Ac	4		F							t			╈		-										┪			╈		┢					$\uparrow$	-	
Degrees of Achievement or Commitment	 ri	1	╞╴							╀	··		$\uparrow$				<del></del>								╡			╈		ŀ					┢	-	
İİ	 N	1 · ·	┢──		1					t			T		-										╡			$\uparrow$			-				╀		
			┢		1		·			┢	•		T		-			_		٠					1	_		ϯ		ŀ					T		
	2 2 2 2								9	T		g	태			,8 ,9 %		 8-		8					1.		. 1		2	Ŀ	ې لو	•	<u> </u>	<u>ب</u> مسب	Ţ	-	
	Lauguage that Identifics Division Actions		to provide	cosure 1	ommite	to graduate students	prepare	expect	o provit	provide	tot of totot	critocive instruction	successfully		Creating	piedges to be			provide -	kceps pace	cultivated	limpert	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	working	200hct	Teaching	, interest	to provide	tsponsi	to provide	committed to	o provio	ite B	ves of	pledge to		
ł				ទីរ	Т		· 5.			Г		[	Г	٦				3   	<u>~</u>	3		- 4	1 12	· .	T		118	Г			-		7 T		Γ	-	
Į	Coded Mission Number		5) 	<del></del>	42	3 			- <del>6</del> 1.	62.		9. 9	Ę		<u>8</u>	<u> </u>						-			52	3		67.		98 9		69.			k		

			-		-	_	_	_			-			-		-	_	_	_	-	_			-	-		· · · · ·		-	
·		ŝ	I		ĺ						ſ																			
		2	T		Ť		T		T		Ť					T			1	1		T		T					_	
Pertnershine			┢		$\dagger$		$\vdash$		t		╉				-	$\dagger$	•		┼╴	╉		╉		╈			<u>.</u>			┼──
ľ		-	+		┢	-	-	_	┢		╀			_		╉		_	┼╌	╉		╉		╀		<u>.</u>		•		╂──
ł		-	F		╞				╀╌		╞					╞	_		╀─	┦		╀		╀						┨
12		-			╞		<b> </b>		-		╇					-			<b>_</b>	'	•	+		1						┢
Ottonnee of Ed	5	-					Ľ	•		•						L		-	]											
le le	3	i				•											•				_									
	٤ ا	4		•					ſ				•	-																
atino	, ,		Γ		Ι					·	Τ				_		•					T		Τ						
<b>Fduc</b>	2		F	_	t		Γ				t					T				T		T		T						1
Means of Educatino					┢╸	-			┢		┢					┢			+	╈		╋		╏						1
ľ		-	$\vdash$		┢		┝	_	┢	<u> </u>	ł					$\left  \right $			┢	╋		╀		┢			•			
$\mathbf{F}$		-	┝		┢				┝	-	╞				<u></u>	╞			┢	╋		╀		╀						
	<b></b>	-	$\vdash$	_	-		<b> </b>		┝╾	. <u>.</u>	╞					┢			┢	╀		╀		╀						
2	<u> </u>	4	F		╞		<b> </b>		-		Ļ					-			-	+		╀		┞					_	<b> </b>
TORTAIN	<u> </u>	4			L		<b> </b>	_	L_		┞	·			÷	L			-	╀	·	┥		_					. <u> </u>	
Systems or Programs	1	4	L							_	L								L	ļ		1		L		•	) 			
System			L			•			•	•			•				•				•					•	)			•
	5																													
	н.		Γ								Γ					Γ				T		Γ	•	Γ						
Γ	10.	1	Γ								Γ					Ī				T		T		Γ	_					
	ő	j	F		-				<b></b>		┢		•							t		t	-	┢	_		,			
Ĩ		1	$\vdash$					-			┢					-	_		┢──	$\dagger$	•	┢	•	╞	<u> </u>				- <u>-</u>	<b>  </b>
a mutan		1	╞	_			•	-				······				-		<u> </u>		╀		╀╴		╞			_			
or Cor		ł	┝					-			-					_			<u> </u>	╀		╞		┡						
vencht	<del>ن</del> ە 		┡			_		4		-	_		•		_				<b> </b>	┝		-		┡						
Degree of Achievement or Commitment	vi		┝	_	_			_							_				<b> </b>	╞		-								
Des o	4		<b> </b>	_		_				-										╞	-							<del></del>		
2	é		Ľ	•													_													
	તં		L														-				<b></b>	L								
	1.				_																									
	uffics Buildes			ä	Ð	ii.	о <u> </u>				9	198 1		3	ä	0			8			Γ		0	_				E	
	Language that Identifics Division Actions		educate 1	recognizes	prove	empowering	breper	STIVe	OVIDE	prepare.	provic	the teaching			Linizi	to provide	enable	encourage	produ	to provide	cnsure.	CIERCE	to ensure	provic	pledge to	cherce .	continue	SCT E	PROMOTE	ovide
				8	9 1	Т				K	9	3	1	B 1			8	18		Ţ	19	5			Ā	<u>a</u>	<b>9</b>	1 2		
	Coded Mission Number		ŀ.		72.	ł			ź		5					76.			μ.	Ŕ		.67		80.						81.
l			Ľ		_										_1					L					_	_				

Г		]										Т						_	T	Т		<u> </u>	Т			Τ-
	53	- 1				•						╀							+	╇		┠	╀			+
Partnerships	<sup>38</sup>	-										╇							$\perp$			<b> </b>	╞			<b>_</b>
THE	27.					•					<u> </u>									$\bot$						
	26.					•																				
3	25.								_				_				.—									
Outcontes of Ed.	24.											Ţ							Τ	Τ			T			Τ
Outor	23.	1										T							T	T			Ť			
Н	22.											t							╎	╈	_		t			┢
guit									<u></u>			┢			•	 ,		_	╈	╈	-		T	-		ϯ╴
Means of Educating	30.											╉╴			•				$\uparrow$	╉	-		╀			╀╌
CARS O	6	╞	•				_					╀			_			<u> </u>	┢	╉	-		╀			╉─╴
F												┝					<u>سي</u> ب		╉╾	┿	4		╀			╆╌
H	, <u>18</u>					_						╀						_	╀╌	╋	4		╀			╀─
	12			-	<u> </u>			<u> </u>				╞							╞	╋	4	<u>_</u>	╞			╉──
,	16.											Ļ							╞	-	4	, , , ,	Ļ			
TO STRAT	15.					<u> </u>				<b>س</b> است.		Ļ							$\bot$				L			
Systems or Programs	7			-								L							L				L			
Syster						•									•									•	_	
	넙					٠		:											•						_	
	Ξ.											Γ	_		٠					Τ	Τ		Γ			Γ
Π	<u>.</u>	ſ			<u></u>							Γ							Γ	T	1		Γ	•		
	à	Ī				•						F						_	ſ	╈	1		ſ			
ц Б	<del>z</del>	ŀ		<u> </u>		_			<u>.</u>	. <u></u>		┢							<u> </u>	+	┫	•	$\vdash$			-
annina.	 	ŀ				•		·			 -	┢─							╂╾	╈	┦		┢			-
S Lo	 vo	┢				•						┝─						,	┼─	╋	┽		┝			-
CVCINCI		┢		<u></u>		. <u> </u>			···			┝─							┢	╀	╉		┢			$\vdash$
Achi Achi		┝			·				<b></b> ,			┝							-	╀	╉		┝			┣
Degrees of Achievement or Commitment		┢	<del></del>		<u> </u>							┝			•			_		╞	+		┝╍			
Ă -	Fr.	ŀ	<u> </u>			•						┝					•		<b> </b>	₋	╇					
	· ·	Ļ									_	L							<b> </b>	_	┦		L		_	
Ц															•				<b> </b>		'					
Conu			guj	D BEIVE	inicatin Lively	izing	59	<u>86</u>	olve		OVC	'idc	5	E.		<b>1</b> 801	lizes	- •	2	ete		2	lde	the	ment	mize
aug -	that Identifies Division Actions	pledge	providing	strive to serve	communicatin g effectively	recognizing	working	colisting	to involve	treating	to impr	to provide	stimula	develops	[ oftens	encourages	emphasizes	to meet	lo cha	to achieve	to ensite		to provide	accepts the responsibility	commitment	to max
ŀ	the second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second s	F		<u> </u>	_							83. I				_				83.	1					88.
	Coded Mitsion Number	E S																			- B		87.		1	<b>Nn</b>

							_		_
				29.			ŝ	Se Se	
		rehups		26.			ŝ	ę,	
		<b>Fartnenships</b>	1	- 17			ŝ	8	
	ĺ			40. 1			2	8	
		녑		i			3	8	
			;	i				<u>8</u>	
	K	Outcomes of Ed.	÷	-2. 24. 23. 1 20. 1 2/.		- #*		se.	
	ſ		;	ł		- 11	S I		
	Menne of Education		10. 11. 12. 13. 14. 15. 16. 17. 18 19 30 31 35				-	<u>8</u>	
			Ę				<u>×</u> ×	<u>ę</u>	
	Menne					ſ	n t	<u>ş</u>	
		Ī	ä			L	0 8	Ŗ	1
		Ī	2			-	- 2	Ŗ	
		Ī	16.				4 8		
	SCIEIDS		Ŷ			F	0 B	5	i
	a or Pro		4			5	<u>7</u> 5	R	
	Systems of Programs	ſ	13.			2	d d	5	
		ſ	1			F	ר א	5	;
		ſ	11.		-	S	ද ප්	5	č
			ġ			11	<b>र</b>	5	ĩ
		Γ	ం			12	3 A	5	
	ment		<b>o</b> o			<u>-</u>	3	5	
			7.			Γα	5	2	ì
	Legitors of Aumicventers of Commission		6.			<u>c</u>	6		6
	ייייייי		s.			5	5	2	11
			4.				8		Š
			з.			5	89	!	ž
			2.			2	8		10
-	J		-			14	ઝ		12/
		Language	that Identifies Division Actions			3566	(87/88) of	Va. school	divisions 12/1 2/1 6/ 10/1 4/ 0/ 7/ 16/1
			Coded Mission Number						_

Degrees of Achievenent or Comm

			-	-	_	_	
าช	4	88	_				
າອ້	4	88					
ახ	4	80		<u> </u>			
1 25	21	88					
א ני א נ	3	88					
: 89	15/	88					
- 18	6/	88					
8	13/	88					
8	10/	88					
8	16/	88					
8	3	88					
8	SI	88					]
<del>8</del> 9	11	88					
8	51	88					
<b>r</b> 6	3	88					
8	11/	88 88					
<b>B</b> R	51/	88		_			
ĸ	4/	88	-				
<del>8</del> 8	16	88					
÷	51	88		_			
ĸ	Π	88					
ъ <u></u> е	15/	88					
જ	3	88					
8	9	20					
88	4	ŝ					
86	<u>ð</u>	ŝ					
8	6	8			_		
8 8 8	5	88					
\$	12/	8					
(87/88) of	divisions	mission	statement	identified	division	actions	

Appendix G: Analysis of Specific Programs

••••

Admin- istration and Management																		
Staff														•				
Services of Resources																		•
Facilities or School Environment			•						•							•		•
Specific Educational Policies												•						
Educational Philosophies					•		•									•		
General Educational or Instructional Programs or Opportunities			•		•	•			•			, ,		•		•		
<u>Category 4</u> Language that Identifics Specific Programs	NO PROGRAMS IDENTIFIED	educational opportunity	the development of academic programs and facilities that will contable the achools	a high quality, comprehensive and meaningful education	Each student will be treated as an individual	a quality of education	each student must assume major responsibility for his/her own development	NO PROGRAMS IDENTIFIED	a positive, nurturing, and success-oriented environment	a quality education	The principal must be the stockent learning and must assume an active, supportive role in the level of classroom instruction.	The teacher must assume a personal responsibility for the education of each student	The level of student achievement is directly related to the level of teacher expectations.	a nationally recognized educational program and staff	NO PROGRAMS IDENTIFIED	educational programs to meet the identified needs of all students in a learning environment	students are transported safely to well-craintained facilities	students are exposed to the highest quality personnel
Coded Mission Number				ri T		4	'n	ø			zi			6	10.	11.	12.	

ent		[				1		T																
Admin- istration and Management				<u> </u>					-							•								
Staff										•						•								
Services or Resources	•	•		•												•								
Facilities or School Environment				•		•	•				•	•				•							•	
Specific Educational Policies																								
Educational Philosophies	•	•		•			•				•	•												
General Educational Programs or Opportunities	•	•		•		•	•			•	•	•				•					•			
<u>Category 4</u> Language that Identifies Specific Programs	opportunities and resources to ensure that individual students are challenged	an educational process which puts the needs of each child at the forefront and provides the necessary resources and structures	The foundation of the achool system aball be a strong educational program	programs and services to meet equitably the educational needs of all students through safe tearning cavironments that stimulation	NO PROGRAMS IDENTIFIED	an appropriate education in an environment (hat ensures success in the classroom	through an individualized/ relevant curriculum and instructional program	a safe/healthy environment	NU PROUKAMS IDENTIFIED	an educational program and staff	adoquate opportunity affe and disciplined environment which promotes the development of the whole child	a secure learning environment in which all students will be encouraged to develop their unique abilities and potentials	an excellent education the highest quality, most cost- effective education possible	excellent personnel	an inviting environment	continuat data analyais	curiculum renewal	a meaningful staff development	cutrent technology	efficient operating procedures	opportunities for	ID PROGRAMS IDENTIFIED	a safe environment	
Coded Mission Number	13.	14.	is i		16.	17.	18.		.61	20.		22.	я.								24.	25.	26,	

Admin- istration and Management								•		•						
Staff								•		•				•		
Services or Resources																
Facilities or Schoof Environment				•	•					•		•		•		
Specific Educational Policies										•						
Educational Philosophies				•	•	•		•								
General Educational Programs or Opportunities					•	•				•		•				•
Category 4 Language that Identifies Specific Programs	NO PROGRAMS IDENTIFIED	NO PROGRAMS IDENTIFIED	Schools are nuturing centers	the well being, growth, and development of each child	a cuiting cuviroument and chailenging educational programs in which all students can learn. grow	all students puritopate in quality fearning experiences necessary to grow	NO PROGRAMS IDENTIFIED	a results oriented, dynamic school system which is semitive to the needs of students, the community the administration and employees	world-class standards in English, mathematics, science, history, and geography a well-rounded instructional	program water losters extension in learning and excellence in teaching	it is the responsibility of the Board of Education to provide the appropriate leaderaby to the assure that these functions essure that these functions effectively occur for all children	the cavironneni where an atmosphere of encouragement, respect, and academic challenge	NO PROGRAMS IDENTIFIED	eductation for all within a community which respects, supports, and encourages those who learn and those who teach	NO PROGRAMS IDENTIFIED	a quality educational program
Coded Míssion Number	12	<b>78</b> .	·67		30.	31.	32.	Ŕ	34.			35.	36.	37.	38.	39.

Admin- istration and Management	•
Staff	
Services or Resources	
Facilities or School Environment	•
Specific Educational Policies	•
Educational Philosophies	•
General Educational Programs or Opportunities	•
Category 4 Language that Identifies Speelfic Programs	the best possible education a program of quality instruction Stodenas will have sufficient time on task and the opportunity to learn through a variety of individual needs a fair grading system a fair system a fair grading system a fair should fair a fair system a fair system a fair should fair a fai
Coded Mission Number	ę

Admin- istration and Management					•		
Staff					•		
Services or Resources	•			•	•		•
Facilities or School Environment	•			•	•	•	
Specific Educational Policies					•		
Educational Philosophies					•		
General Educational Programs or Opportunities	•	•		•	• •	•	•
<u>Category 4</u> Language that Identifies Specific Programs	effective instructional programs, facilities, and scrvices which axist and support students	meaningful teaming experiences	NO PROGRAMS IDENTIFIED	a sale and secure learning environment	the ade, supportive, and challerging any instance the necessary trained and dedicated leadership, qualified personnel, equipment and materials to assure an appropriate education for every student, regardless of nee, color, sex, physical condition, or national origin Treat all personnel equally with the highest degree of respect Appropriate founds fairly and equally Give attention to schools that have been meglocted over a period of years to assure that the property and quality of europerity and quality and equality Give attention to schools that have been meglocted over a period of years to assure that the property and quality of the uppraded, and repaired in programs and activities so that students will be provided with programs and activities so that the principal must be the ethools in the Onviation assure and activities so that the principal will be providing discroom instruction. The tracher must be the min proving audent learning and must assume an activi- supportive role in providing discroom instruction. The tacher must assume a eff-displatin of each student students must realize that activation of each student duration of each student students must realize that activated achieverment is directly tracked achieverment is direct	a quality education in a challenging learning environment	an exemplary public school writem an instructional program that provides the opportunities and resources for
Coded Mission Number		42.	£ <del>1</del>	4		47.	84

Admin- istration and Management			•	•					
Staff				•			•		
Services or Resources									
Facilities or Schoof Environment	•		•	•		•	•		
Specific Educational Policies							•		
Educational Philosophies							•	•	
General Educational Programs or Opportunities	•		•				•	•	•
<u>Category 4</u> Language that Identifies Specific Programs	dynamic environment for learning (	a conducive learning environment	a Arong program of cvaluation including academic achiev ement and other outcome indicators associated with student success	the improvement of instruction in a positive manner	a welcome climate for students, patents, and employees	s climate in which	Schools are places where students receive a quality education in an receive a quality education in an individual growth and initiative a acheol climate a well qualified school staff whose poducive service will be education of the children, is recognized and respected, and whose poducive service will be education of the children, is recognized and respected, and whose poducive service will be continued support, far compensation, and appreciation a cunication of comprehensive atudies in the elementary schools which increates a physical and social a physical and social interests a physical and social interests a physical and social environment which is conducive to the fearming process opportunity to develop propriete topics of study and intratice allon of the school system in the community and simulate enhance and simulate each a physical and social a physical and social intraticional activities which will student's givest anong teachers, a development in the community and simulation development	commitment to excellence and calify	a dynamic school system
Coded Mission Number	49.	50.		<b>SI.</b>		52.		54.	55.

Admin- istration and Management								•			
Staff	•		•								
Services or Resources											
Facilities or School Environment	•		•			•	•				
Specific Educational Policies	•										
Educational Philosophies					•		•	•	•		•
General Educational Programs or Opportunities	•		•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•
Category 4 Language that Identifies Specific Programs	a sele, secure and nurturing environment therming opportunities for parents and students through care, and parent workshops parent workshops figh personal and professional high personal and professional repetations for ourselves.	NO PROGRAMS IDENTIFIED	a quality education An effective instructional program A safe and orderly environment An atmosphere which is conducive to tearning A motivated, committed and abilied atail	NO PROGRAMS IDENTIFIED The best poundle education opportunities	quality educational servicesthat inted or exceed the meeds of our contomers effective instruction in essential	skills in a safe and healthy environment	The learning and living environment cultivated within Schools a flexible educational system that the community, and the future work place	systemwide calacational opportunities whose measurable outbonnes reflect "equily," "quality," and "excellence" commitment to conditions echool improvement	chalterging, progressive edecational opportunities and experiences that are responsive to the needs and talents of all students	the opportunity	concoutonal programs consistent with each individual's abilities and needs
Coded Mission Number	e S S	51. 58.	Ś	60.	63 63	64.	63.			68.	.69

Admin- istration and Management														•								
Staff							•							•							•	
Services of Resources								•													•	
Facilities or School Environment					•		•	•						•			•				•	
Specific Educational Policies																						
Educational Philosophies			•														•	•				
General Educational Programs or Opportunities					•	•	•			•		•	•	•			Ð	•	•			
Category 4 Language that Identifies Specific Programs	NO PROFESSION INFAILER		recognizes the uniqueness and worth of all students	NO PROGRAMS IDENTIFIED	an academically-challenging, safe, and nurturing cavironment	a relevant, quality education	through a world class education committed to personnel, facilities, programs and activities	the environment and resources that emable and encourses	ND PROGRAMS IDENTIFIED	high quality educational experiences so that our public schools are the choice of all [cultizens in the city]	NO PROGRAMS IDENTIFIED	the best possible education for the young people of quest for excellence in education EXCELLENCE!	a quality education	customer oriented — Headership for quality schools a safe and healthy eavinonment	an education an recognizing (employees) as recognizing (employees) as with dianty and remeding (them) with dianty and remeding	programs to most the educational needs of all students high expectations for student	achievement and behavior 	the highest quality education appropriate to [the students'] individual needs and abilities	excellence in education	a stable and safe cavironment in which to learn	can'ng and well-trained teachers	appropriate and adequate resources
Coded Mission Number		-	-11				75.	76.			.64	08	81.	82.		i.				86.		

ment			88) of levei ithat
Admin- istration and Management			<u>100%</u> (9/88) of Virginia division-level mission statements contained language that identified admin- istration and manage- ment.
Staff			<u>1746</u> (15/88) of Virginia division-level mission statements contained language that identified staff.
Services or Resources	•		<u>1476</u> (11/88) of Virginia division-level mission statements contained language that identified services or resources.
Facilities or School Environment			40 <del>46</del> (35/88) of Virginia division-level mission statements contained language that identified factilities or school environ- ment.
Specific Educational Policies			<u>Tw</u> (6/88) of Virginia division-level mission statements contained language that identified specific policies.
Educational Philosophies	•		<u>31%</u> (27/88) of Virginia division-level mission statements contained language that identified educational philos- ophies.
General Educational Programs or Opportunities	•		<u>639%</u> (55/88) of Virginia division-level mission statements contained language that identified general educational programs.
Category 4 Language that Identifies Speeifie Programs	the instruction and support for students to develop kearning opportunitieswhich are compatible with the differing needs of individual teamers appropriate instruction ecommitment to educational conditence and equity for all students	NO PROGRAMS ID ENTIFIED	<u>T146</u> (68/88) of Virginia division-level mission statements contained language that identified specific programs.
Coded Mission Number		88.	67% (88/ (88/ (32) of Virginia school divi- school divi- school divi- school divi- school divi- school divi- school state- ment.

Appendix H: Analysis of Emergent Categories

Reference to 21st Century					21st-Contury			twenty-linst century	
View of Society	interdependent, global society		constantly changing world				ev er-changing society		A democratic society
Belief Statements				schools and school systems are a locality a gateway to the future	Student tearning is our first priority All students are capable of fearning.		all children can learn.		al sudents can learn
Partnerships	combined clionts of the achools and the community Parents, cuitzens, and children will share involve all the community in a manner which draws strength from its diversity These programs will involve all the community in a manner which, fosters	unternet topote and improves our accurcy the echools to acrive as a center for the life of the community	through the collaborative clores of students, staff, parents, and community a responsibility which must be abared between the home, the school and the community		Parents must actively participate in the education of their child.		through collaboration of teachers, parents, administrators, and community persons, groups, and agencies	involve the total community in a commitment to an educational process the development and implementation of the school division's programs and services shall include community extremently, state, national, and global priorities and needs	
Coded Mission Number L.	ri .	¢.	A. S.	ۍ ۲.	8. 6.	11	<b>EI</b>		19.

.....

.....

Coded Mission	Partnerships	Belief Statements	View of Society	Reference to 21st Century
18.				
·61			our democratic society	
20.	shared responsibility and cooperation by students, school personnel, parents, and community			21 st century
21.				
22.				
23.	parental and community support and involvement			
24.				
25.	a shared responsibility by students, school personsel, parents, and community		chaltenges of society	
26.	in purinerable with parents, the community, and school personnel	all students have the right to learn 	multicultural and changing world	
.12				
28.				
29.	Students, stair members, parents, and volunteers are all valued participants in itsuring success			
	All members of the community share in a cooperative partnership to meet the cooperative of the future			
30.	mutual responsibility of students, family, community and school personnel			
-16			a changing world	
32.				
33.			a changing world	
34.	Together with parents, teachers, and students	teaching and learning are the two most important functions that occur in our acbools		
35.		cach student is a unique individual		
36.				
.16				
38.	stail involvement and parental community cooperation			
-36 <sup>.</sup>			an ever-changing society	
40,				
41.	with parents and the community	ali children can learn		
42.				

Coded				
Mission	Partnerships	Belief Statements	View of Society	Reference to 21st Century

43.			<u></u>	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
44.	encourages parental involvement			
45.				
46.	Parents must actively participate in the education of their children. Community support and interest are	All students are capable of learning.		
l l	achieved as the community becomes informed and involved in the programs, activities and mission of the school division.			
47.				
48.				
49.			·····	
50.	supportive school and community relationships (e.g., parents, business, and industry) by providing an effective means of communication including access and input into the educational process through a variety of school/community inter-action programs	County Public Schools believe in the worth and dignity of all children and that they are enluted to a World Class Education all children can learn	a democratic auclety	21st Contury
- 51.	a team setting where the team shall include students, parents, employees, residents, industry, and local merchants			
52.				
53.	The staff works with the family and the community		a democratic society	
54.			a rapidly changing, global society	
55.	sensitive to the needs of students, parents, community, employees, and the administration		a changing world	
56.	parents and school officials working together to ensure the development of a strong and effective partnership	all students can learn		
57.				
- 38.	n partnership with our entire community		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1
59.				
60.			a changing technological society	1
61.		<u>                                     </u>	<u> </u>	
62.				1
63.				1
64.		······································		
65.	By working together	The success of our children depends on our success in implementing these goals.	increased global demands	

.

Coded Mission	Partnerships	Belief Statements	View of Society	Reference to 21st Century
		ALL students can learn echools improve both collectively and one at a time		
Ë	cumcular, co-cumcular, and community programs		a global society	
58	in cooperation with students, parents, guardians and the community		a chaoging society	21st century
			a diverse multicultural society	
	alt students, parents, and community members are active participants			
a 8	n partnership with the home and the community		the global society	
		all children can and will learn	a modem society	
병폭립	parents, families and the community-ai- large are involved in the activities of students			
		Our children are indeed our future-the hope for a brighter tomorrow		
888	culisting [citizens'] help to improve our educational system and enhance our community			
I¥.	working closely with them			
9	to involve [parents] in school activities			
۶.	rental involvement			
<b>H</b> 8	through partnership with home and community			
		all children have worth and can learn		
		students differ in their rate of physical, mental, emotional and social development		
Ł				

	II
Reference to 21st Century	<u>655</u> (5988) of Virginia division-level mission statements contained language that identified the 21st <del>century as</del> a component of the mission.
View of Society	242 (21188) of Virginia division-level mission statements contained language that identified a transfing (10.008) identified a changing society. 52 (4.08) identified a interdependent or global acciety. 25 (4.08) identified a democratic society. 25 (4.08) identified a technological society. 12 (1.08) identified a technological society. 12 (1.08) identified a modern society.
Belief Statements	19% (17/88) of Virginia division-level mission statements contained language that identified balls all students car learn. 2% (1088) indicated that all students car learn. 2% (2088) indicated that either achools or children arc the gateway or hope for the future. 2% (2088) indicated that all students have a right to learn. 2% (2088) indicated that all individuals have wordh. 2% (2088) indicated that all individuals future. 2% (2088) indicated that all individuals have wordh. 2% (1888) indicated that the success of children depends on the school division. 1% (1888) indicated that the success of children depends on the school division. 1% (1888) indicated that the success of children depends on the school division.
Partnerships	39% (3488) of Virginia division-level mission statements contained language that identified partuerablys with partents and/or commantly.
Coded Mission	<u>67%</u> (88/132) of Virginia school divisions had a mission statement.

## Vita

•

## Christopher Ryan Gareis

Birthdate:	October 25, 19	965
Birthplace:	Chicago, Illin	ois
Education:	1 <del>992-93</del>	The College of William and Mary Williamsburg, Virginia Educational Specialist Degree
	1989-92	The College of William and Mary Williamsburg, Virginia Master of Arts in Education
	1984-88	Washington and Lee University Lexington, Virginia Bachelor of Arts

-----

------

\_\_\_\_

.

. ....